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like  
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7%
FFO per security growth1, 
+5% ahead of initial 
guidance

98%
Strong cash collection1​

+6%
Centre traffic growth2

$110m
FFO ↑9.6%3

98.8%
Occupancy5 ↑0.8%4

30.3%
Gearing ↓5.7%4

75,000sqm
GLA leased ​across  
119 deals1​

+53.4%
Total shareholder return1​

$297m
Net valuation uplift  
↑15.4%4 

Our Values
are what are most important to us.  
That is, we are people first, we own 
it and strive to find a better way in 
everything we do. Living these values  
is also how we work towards our  
purpose of feels like home. 

We want Aventus and our supercentres  
to feel like home for our team, our 
shoppers, our retailers and our investors. 

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

1.	 For the 12 months ended 30 Jun 21 
2.	 For the 12 months ended 30 Jun 21 (Excl. VIC)  

vs the 12 months ended 30 Jun 20 (Excl. VIC)
3.	 For the 12 months ended 30 Jun 21 vs the  

12 months ended 30 Jun 20
4.	 30 Jun 21 vs 30 Jun 20
5.	 By GLA as at 30 Jun 21
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About  
the Group

The Aventus Retail Property 
Fund (the Fund) (ARSN 608 
000 764 was listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange 
(“ASX”) on 16 October 2015  
and invests in Australian  
retail property, focusing 
predominantly on Large  
Format Retail (LFR) centres. 

On 1 October 2018, the units  
in the Fund were stapled  
to shares in Aventus Holdings 
Limited to create the Aventus 
Group (AVN, Aventus or  
the Group).

We have been at the forefront 
of a relentless effort to  
create amazing places that  
feel like home.

Further, Aventus continues  
to strengthen the Large  
Format Retail (LFR) model to 
be the foundation of strong 
financial performance and  
the springboard to redefine  
the future of retail property.

The LFR property sector  
is a substantial component  
of the Australian retail 
property sector.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group 
owned 20 LFR centres in NSW, 
QLD, VIC, SA and WA valued  
at approximately $2.3 billion. 

The Group portfolio is 
diversified by tenant base, 
with national retailers 
representing 88% of the total 
Portfolio by GLA. The AVN 
portfolio has minimal exposure 
to turnover based leases 
which mitigate against the risk 
of a downturn in retail sales.

The Fund is managed by  
Aventus Capital Limited (ACL  
or the Company) (ACN 606 
555 480) (AFSL No. 478061) 
which was appointed under 
the Group’s constitution and 
operates under an Australian 
Financial Services Licence. 

Australia’s leading owner, 
developer and manager 
of Large Format Retail. 

“Aventus is an 
Australian success 
story built on 
dedication, ambition 
and innovation.

AVENTUS HOLDINGS LIMITED ACN 627 640 180
AVENTUS CAPITAL LIMITED ACN 606 555 480
As responsible entity for the AVENTUS RETAIL PROPERTY FUND ARSN 608 000 764 
Australian financial services licence No. 478061 
www.aventusgroup.com.au
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3%
Western
Australia

5%
South

Australia

17%
Victoria

56%
New South 

Wales

19%
Queensland

1. Carrying value derived from independent valuations 2. All metrics exclude externally owned centres unless 
otherwise stated 

74%
Metro by Value2

Largest LFR 
Landlord in Sydney

43%
Catchment Coverage 
of Sydney

$2.3   b
Assets Under Management1

McGraths Hill

Bankstown

Caringbah

Castle Hill
Belrose

Marsden Park

SYDNEY
CBD

26
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On behalf of the Directors of 
Aventus Holdings Limited (AHL) 
and Aventus Capital Limited 
(ACL), the responsible entity  
of Aventus Retail Property Fund 
(the Group), we are proud to 
present the Group’s Annual 
Report, including the audited 
financial statements, for the 
year ended 30 June 2021.

FY21 has been both a 
challenging and a rewarding 
year. All of our operating metrics 
for our business improved, 
particularly in the second half. 
A big part of the reason that 
our business has demonstrated 
such resilience over this period 
is the strength and experience 
of our team. Aventus has a high-
performance culture, which  
is at the heart of our DNA.  
The talented Aventus team  
have again proven to be 
adaptable and agile this year. 

Our team worked incredibly 
hard throughout 2021 in the 
office, at our centres, or 
working remotely at home.  
Our team have been laser-level 
focused on executing our core 
competencies of extracting and 
adding value to the existing 
portfolio and importantly, on

serving and supporting our 
retailers and shoppers as we’ve 
done for the last 17 years. 

 
Our response to the recent 
COVID lockdowns
As 2021 progresses, Australia is 
facing further challenges from 
the global pandemic including 
the extended lockdowns in 
NSW and Victoria, especially. 
Aventus will again comply 
with the National Leasing 
Code and relevant state laws 
to extend support to our 
impacted and eligible tenants 
(SMEs). While challenging for 
our business, our retailers and 
the community, the impact is 
uncertain, we are confident our 
sector will rebound once again 
as restrictions ease with LFR 
consumption deferred rather  
than foregone. 

Firstly, the majority of our 
retailers are now in a stronger 
financial position than pre-
COVID. National retailers 
make up 88% of our portfolio 
and they’ve enjoyed a year of 
strong, double-digit like-for-
like sales growth. Our national 

Focus on strategy 
Strategy is the blueprint for 
business. While our strategy  
has remained consistent over 
the years, our refined strategy  
in FY21 now better articulates 
our key focus areas across  
the business. 

We aim to be Australia’s 
leading owner, developer and 
manager of large format retail. 

Over the last 17 years, we’ve 
built an irreplaceable portfolio  
of 19 super centres valued at 
over $2.3 billion. Our average 
centre is now worth $116 
million, with a gross lettable 
area of 26,000 square metres. 

The first key pillar of our 
strategy is to strengthen 
the core. That is, to drive 
sustainable organic growth 
from our existing portfolio. 
Over the last five years, we’ve 
achieved over $500 million 
in valuation gains and over 
half of those are a result of 

income growth, accretive 
developments, active asset 
management and careful 
curation of the tenancy mix  
to suit the evolving needs  
of our customers. 

We have a long-term track 
record of acquiring dominant 
LFR assets and growing our 
market share. We focus on 
growing profitably versus 
growing for growth’s sake. 
We are disciplined and we 
carefully select accretive 
acquisitions that complement 
our portfolio, consistent 
with our strategy and our 
investment criteria. 

Secondly, we build our 
development pipeline to 
enhance our returns. We have 
a track record of delivering 
over $125 million of accretive 
developments with an average 
attractive unlevered cash 
yield of 9% across 25 projects. 

Thirdly, Aventus has a 
valuable land bank of 1.2 million 
square metres with a growing 
holding income and the ability 
to unlock higher and better 
uses over time. 

We will also grow our funds 
management to diversify our 
income and capital. This will 
increase our recurring income 
streams and build a portfolio  
in a capital efficient manner.  
The bedrock of these three 
pillars is our proactive and 
prudent capital management 
that will continue to be an 
enabler of our growth over time. 

Finally, our new sustainability 
initiatives and goals are now at 
the centre of everything that 
we do. Our five key focus areas 
will ensure our business is better 
for people and importantly, 
better for the planet. 

retailers are well positioned 
and they have the experience 
to manage these lockdowns 
whether that be through ‘Click 
and Collect’, accelerating  
online orders, pivoting to take 
away or using their showrooms 
as dark stores. 

Secondly, restrictions have 
resulted in a redirection of travel 
expenditure into our homes. 
It has encouraged many of us 
to upgrade our homes, create 
better home offices and make 
our home our sanctuary. This 
cocooning effect, as we call 
it, has particularly benefited 
our retailers in furniture, 
homewares, electrical, 
technology, hardware and pets. 

Finally, while a vaccine rollout  
is well under way, which will 
see the eventual return of 
immigration into Australia, the 
favourable tailwinds and macro 
conditions for the LFR sector, 
such as travel restrictions,  
a focus on the home, record 
household savings and  
a buoyant property market  
are likely to continue for  
the near term. 

From the Chairman  
and CEO, Aventus Group
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Strengthen the Core 
Combine our expertise, retailer 

relationships and curate the 
tenancy mix to drive income 

and capital growth and acquire 
dominant assets that 

 complement the portfolio

Build Development Pipeline 
Enhance the short-term and long-

term earnings potential of the 
portfolio, through brownfield and 

greenfield opportunities,  
master-planning and retail led 

mixed-use developments. 

Proactive Capital Management 
Manage capital diligently for efficient execution of our strategy.

Grow Funds Management 
Grow our funds management 

platform through complementary 
acquisitions to diversify  

our income and expand our  
capital sources.

Focus on strategy: Australia’s leading owner, developer  
and manager of Large Format Retail

At the Centre of it All

Proactive Capital Management
Manage capital diligently for efficient execution of our strategy.

Strengthen the Core Build Development Pipeline Grow Funds Management

4

Our Strategy

Combine our expertise, retailer 
relationships and curate the tenancy mix 
to drive income and capital growth and 

acquire dominant assets that 
complement the portfolio.

Enhance the short-term and long-term 
earnings potential of the portfolio, through 
brownfield and greenfield opportunities, 
master-planning and retail led mixed-use 

developments. 

Grow our funds management platform 
through complementary acquisitions 
to diversify our income and expand 

our capital sources.

Energy & Carbon Waste Diversity and Inclusion Community Safety and Wellbeing

At the Centre of it 
All

Australia’s leading owner, developer and manager of Large Format 
Retail
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$110m
FFO ↑9.6%

19.4c
FFO per security2

↑ 7.1% from 18.2 cents1

17.5c
Distributions per security2

Capital Management 
Aventus recorded a very strong 
financial performance in FY21, 
indicating that the Group 
managed the initial impact  
of COVID well. On the basis  
of all major financial  
indicators, Aventus finished 
FY21 in a stronger financial 
position than pre-COVID and 
exceeded our initial earnings 
guidance of 2% by delivering 
7.1% earnings growth. 

During FY21, maintaining high 
rent collection, aligning the 
support of our tenants to their 
performance and carefully 
managing our costs have 
delivered portfolio income 
growth which have flowed 
through to strong FFO growth. 
Portfolio income growth 
together with substantial cap 

1.	 For the 12 months ended 30 Jun 21 vs the 12 
months ended 30 Jun 20

2.	 Based on a weighted average number of securities 
of 565m over the 12 months ended 30 Jun 21

3.	 The gearing ratio is calculated as total debt less 
cash and cash equivalents divided by total assets 
less cash and cash equivalents and intangible as-
sets including proportional interests in investments 
in associates 

4.	 30 Jun 21 vs 30 Jun 20

rate compression resulted 
in the recognition of large 
valuation gains in the second 
half of FY21. In turn, this 
resulted in a substantial 
reduction in gearing and  
a significant increase in 
tangible assets. 

Capitalising on the strong 
financial momentum of the 
Group, we refinanced 80% of 
our debt book which resulted 
in increasing our weighted 
average debt expiry to 4.4 
years, with no debt expiring 
before January 2025. This 
significantly consolidates 
the strength of our capital 
structure, affording the Group 
the opportunity to focus 
on protecting operational 
performance and supporting 

Key Financial Metrics
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

30.3%
Gearing3 ↓5.7%4

6.6x
Interest Cover Ratio6  
↑1.4x4

$2.69
NTA per security ↑25.7%4

4.4 years
Weighted Average  
Debt Expiry ↑1.3 years4

$132m
Available cash and 
undrawn debt liquidity

2.8%
Weighted Average  
Cost of Debt6 ↓30 bps  
from 3.1%1

DEBT MANAGEMENT

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

smaller tenants impacted by  
therolling lockdowns. Looking 
ahead, the strengthened capital 
position allows the Group to 
deploy its balance sheet, to 
grow earnings by accelerating 
the development pipeline or 
undertaking an acquisition, 
assuming our internal hurdles 
are met. 

Aventus delivered FFO of $110 
million for FY21. This is 7.1% 
higher than the prior year. At 
30 June 2021, gearing has 
reduced to 30.3%, a reduction 
of approximately 6% in one 
year driven by higher property 
valuations. This is at the low 
end of our target gearing 
range of 30% to 40% and after 
the settlement of MacGregor 
Home, our gearing is even 
lower at approximately 29%. 

5.	 Interest Cover Ratio (ICR) is calculated as EBITDA 
divided by interest expense

6.	 Weighted average cost of debt is calculated based 
on historical finance costs, excluding amortisation 
of debt establishment costs and net fair value 
gains/losses on interest rate swaps for the 12 
months ended 30 Jun 21
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Funds Management 
We aim to be Australia’s leading 
manager of Large Format Retail 
and our model is to co-invest 
alongside external capital 
partners to ensure alignment 
and leverage of the existing 
platform, to acquire assets 
where we can add value and 
deliver strong returns for our 
investors. Growing our funds 
management platform not only 
expands our capital sources, 
it also enables us to grow our 
recurring fee streams as well 

Valuations 
Strong investor demand for 
LFR centres have driven 
sector-wide cap rate 
compression, and together 
with portfolio income growth 
generated by the team, have 
led to significant valuation 
gains recorded in the last 
half.  We commissioned 
external valuations for the 
entire portfolio and for these 
valuations, the external  

1.	 From an initial cash yield of 8.25%
2.	 Since fund launch in 01 Nov 19 based on NTA.
3.	 For the period 01 Nov 19 to 30 Jun 21.

as participate in the superior 
returns that co-investments  
will deliver. 

The strong performance of 
Aventus Property Syndicate 1  
at McGraths Hill in Sydney has 
laid a solid foundation for us  
to grow this business. For APS1 
investors, cash distributions 
have increased to 8.75%. The 
capital value has grown by 15% 
and the syndicate has delivered 

valuer derived values that saw 
cap rates compressed to 
6.01% on average, across the 
portfolio which is 72 basis 
points lower than the cap rates 
implied in previous valuations. 
This is the first meaningful cap 
rate compression in over three 
years and reflects the recent 
transactional evidence in the  
LFR sector, which has seen 
strong investor demand.  

8.75%
Fund Cash Yield ↑50 bps1​

BUILDING ON THE PERFORMANCE OF AVENTUS PROPERTY SYNDICATE1

+$8m
Capital Uplift ↑15%2

20%+
Fund Internal Rate of 
Return (IRR)3

5

Building on the performance of 
Aventus Property Syndicate 1

Grow Funds 
Management

8.75%
Fund Cash Yield ▲ 50 bps1​

+$8m
Capital Uplift ▲ 15%2

20%+
Fund Internal Rate of Return (IRR)3

1. From an initial cash yield of 8.25%
2. Since fund launch in 01 Nov 19 based on NTA.
3. For the period 01 Nov 19 to 30 Jun 21.

6.01%
Weighted Average Cap  
Rate1,2 ↓72bps​

+15.4%
Net valuation change2

$530m+
Valuation uplift over last  
4 years2

This compression has driven 
$224 million of the valuation 
gains and was evident for 19  
of our 20 centres. 

Additionally, income growth 
was responsible for another 
$55 million in valuation gains, 
driven by higher occupancy, 
annual rent escalations, higher 
levels of rent collections and 
tapering of COVID support  
to tenants. 

a 20% IRR return to investors 
in its first two years. We’ll 
continue to assess and match 
product to the capital risk in 
creating further syndicates. 
However, the excellent result  
from APS1 sets the stage 
for continued growth of this 
platform when we expect 
to continue demand from 
investors seeking stable and 
strong returns from direct  
real estate. 
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1.	 As at 30 Jun 21
2.	 Excludes McGraths Hill
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Leasing 
 Our active leasing strategy 
resulted in 119 deals across 
75,000 square meters of  
GLA and demonstrates the 
attractiveness of our portfolio, 
our strong retailer relationships 
and the resilience of LFR. Of the 
deals we completed in FY21, 
approximately 25% involved 
stores or relocations, ensuring 
we continue to refresh our 
portfolio and give our existing 
retailers the right space as  
they evolve their offer. 

Demand for space across 
our centres remained strong, 
with the portfolio occupancy 
increasing from 98% to 98.8% 
year on year well above the 

national average of 94.9%. For 
clarity, this measure is across 
our entire portfolio of centres. 
Pleasingly, our leasing spreads 
for the full year were positive 
above CPI and our incentives 
remain steady at circa 5%. 
These metrics combined with 
high occupancy means we 
have achieved solid NOI growth 
in FY21. We are pleased with 
this strong result in the leasing 
environment and the travel 
restriction challenges over  
the year. 

Our work in embedding 
consistent growth in our lease 
structures means 77% of our  
portfolio has attractive 

compounding increases with 
an average fixed annual rent 
review of 3.8%. Our expiry 
profile is manageable, being 
staggered over the next three 
years and we have minimal 
holdovers of under 2%. 
This profile and a WALE of 
approximately four years allows 
us to curate our retail mix  
to keep up with the evolving 
demands of our shoppers and 
optimise our rental growth. 

Our retailers enjoyed a year 
of strong sales as the country 
opened, restrictions eased 
and demand for their products 
increased. We believe a key 
strength of our portfolio is the 
diversification of our retailer 
base, with our single largest 
category being everyday 
needs, accounting for 37% of 
the portfolio by income and 
approximately half by number. 
Aventus continues to be the 
partner of choice for leading 
retailers. A great example of 
this is our new store with  
Dyson at Castle Hill. This is 
Dyson's first physical retail and 
service centre globally, and 
demonstrates the strength 
of our portfolio, team and the 
Australian retail landscape. 

Several other retailers have 
been expanding and upsizing 
their showroom sizes across 
our portfolio, including Adairs, 
Officeworks, King Furniture 
and Chemist Warehouse. Our 
tenant base remains consistent 
and stable with 88% national 
retailers. 10 of these are listed. 
Our top 10 account for only 
28% of our total income, limiting 
the financial exposure to any 
one group. Finally, our portfolio 
has no department or discount 
department stores and less  
than 2% exposure to fashion 
and apparel.

Top 15 Tenants by Income

1. National retailers percentages based on GLA
2. Everyday-needs tenants include food and beverage, supermarkets, liquor and convenience, 

services, health and well-being, automotive, office supplies, discount variety and pets
3. Includes garden

Diversified National
Tenant Base

0% 1% 2% 3% 4% 5% 

Domayne
BBQ's	Galore

BCF
Officeworks

Snooze
Spotlight

Forty	Winks
Fantastic	Furniture

Adairs
Beacon	Lighting

Freedom
JB	Hi	Fi

Harvey	Norman
The	Good	Guys

Bunnings

Diversified tenant base with 88%1 national retailers and 
no tenant accounting for greater than 5% of income.

No department stores or discount department stores 
and less than 2% by income exposure to fashion and 
apparel.

37%
Everyday Needs2

31%
Furniture and 
Bedding 

11% Homewares

11% Hardware and 
Coverings3
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Executing on our core 
competencies to drive 
income growth

98.8%
Occupancy1 ​↑ 0.8%2, 
3.9% higher than  
national avg.3

$336
Avg. Gross Rent per  
sqm ↑3.3%2​

3.7yrs
WALE​5 ↓0.2yrs2

3.8%
Fixed Weighted  
Average Rent Review %5

75k
Sqm of GLA  
across 119 Deals

77%
Fixed Annual  
Reviews4 ↑1%2

Affordable rent relative to other retail subsectors combined  
with convenient and flexible spaces provides support for  
continued rent growth and tenant demand.
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1.	 By GLA
2.	 30 Jun 21 vs 30 Jun 20
3.	 Deep End Services, multi-tenanted homemaker 

centres larger than 10,000 sqm GLA

4.	 By gross income
5.	 Fixed weighted average rent review by income excludes CPI 
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Development 
Development is a key pillar  
of our strategy. We have an 
extraordinary 1.2 million square 
metre land bank, the majority  
of this concentrated on the  
east coast and metro locations.  
The site coverage ratio of this 
land bank is a low 44% with over 
13,000 car spaces. We have  

a track record of consistently 
creating value through 
development, having invested 
over $125 million across 25 
projects, creating more than 
18,000 square meters of new 
GLA, achieving an average 
unlevered cash yield of 9%. 

This is a foundational year 
with a large portion of overall 
development invested into 
council approvals and master 
planning. This work will enable 
us to significantly lift our 
development pipeline investment 
over the coming years. 

$20m

1.	 Based on income producing development  
projects since Oct 2015

Build Our  
Development Pipeline

Unlocking  
Our Land Bank

FY22 DEVELOPMENT SPEND

$125m
Development spend

1.2msqm
Land Area

9%
Average cash yield1

44%
Site Coverage Ratio

18k+
Sqm of GLA added

DEVELOPMENT EXECUTION  
SINCE LISTING

Near-term 
Opportunities

Medium & Long-
term opportunities

Tuggerah Greenfield, NSW

Cranbourne Expansion, VIC

Caringbah Expansion, NSW

Epping, VIC

Kotara, NSW

Jindalee, QLD

1

1

4

4

2

2
5

5

3

3

6

6
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Asset Management        
Aventus ended FY21 with traffic 
growth, excluding Victoria, of 
6%. This reflects the continued 
strength of our LFR centres 
throughout the COVID period 
and the ability for our centres 
to meet resurgent demand as 
shoppers spent more in LFR 
categories than ever before. 
Our cash collections for the 
year to June was a strong 
98%. However, as lockdowns 
progress, we will continue to 

support our eligible SMEs 
where necessary.

The last year has shown that 
understanding and meeting 
the needs of our customers  
is as important as ever.  
We’ve seen the need for 
shoppers to search for a  
broad range of retail offerings 
through Aventus. This is  
how Aventus plays its part  
in omnichannel retailing. 

In FY21, we continue to invest 
in data-driven decision 
making, customer listening 
tool as well as improving 
our digital channels into 
centres. The digital journey 
is critical for shoppers who 
are seeking information and 
home inspiration and we are 
pleased to have served over 
760,000 digital customers 
this year. More importantly, 

we’ve been able to define 
the customers who searched 
online and then proceeded 
into our centres and I’m proud 
to share that this conversion 
to instore traffic increased by 
292% this year. In short, our 
improved digital channels are 
driving tangible traffic to our 
centres, and we will continue 
to support our retailers in  
this way.

Portfolio remains well positioned for FY22

98%
Cash collection  
through FY211​

762k
Unique website visits  
p.a ↑ 22%1​

80%
Stores trading including 
Click & Collect3

75%
External Centres4  
across the portfolio +292%

Online traffic conversion2+6%
Centre traffic growth2

32%
Stores offering  
Click & Collect3

910sqm
Average Store Size GLA 44m

Total shopper visits3 

↑3%1

FY21 operational  
response to COVID-19
Deep operational experience 
developed to respond to COVID 
restrictions, including a $2m  
true-up to align support with  
retailer performance.

Converting online traffic to centre traffic
The recent outperformance of LFR and our tenants has reiterated  
the importance in identifying our customers wants and needs.

We are investing in data led initiatives and our digital channels  
to drive additional traffic to our centres. 

Customer First Acceleration

1.	 For the 12 months ended 30 Jun 21 
2.	 For the 12 months ended 30 Jun 21 (Excl. VIC)  

vs the 12 months ended 30 Jun 20 (Excl. VIC)

1.	 F30 Jun 21 vs 30 Jun 20
2.	 Conversion of unique website visitors  

to instore visitors
3.	 Shopper visits in FY21.

3.	 By GLA as at 16 Aug 21
4.	 An external centre is a centre without  

an internal mall area

PROACTIVE DIGITAL 
CHANNELS

TANGIBLE TRAFFIC 
CONVERSION

STRONG CENTRE 
VISITATION 
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We believe that doing good 
is good for business. As the 
largest owner and manager  
of LFR in Australia, we take our 
commitment to sustainability 
seriously. For this reason, we 
have focused on two key areas: 
(1) better for people, benefiting 
our people, our community 
and our partners, and (2) 
better for planet, reducing our 
environmental impact. 

Our new targets publicly affirm 
our commitment to a sustainable 
future. As a major landowner, 
we will focus on five key  
areas as set out in our FY21 
Sustainability Report.

We want to make a tangible 
difference to reducing our 
impact, whilst working closely 
with our team, our retailers,  
our community and our partners 
to deliver on our targets and 
we look forward to sharing our 
progress on an ongoing basis  
as our strategy is delivered. 

On behalf of the Board and management, 
we would like to thank our loyal security 
holders for their investment in the Group, 
and our tenants, retailers and shoppers 
for their support throughout another 
unprecedented year.

Bruce Carter  
Chairman  
“ Darren Holland  

Managing Director & CEO 

Our Sustainability Commitment

22

Our Sustainability 
Commitment

Our Better for Planet Goals

Energy & Carbon Net Zero emissions by 2028 (Scope 1 & 2 
emissions)

Waste 80% operational waste diversion by 2028

Our Better for People Goals

Community Help 10,000 families in need by 2028

Diversity & Inclusion Achieve minimum 40%+ female gender 
representation across all management teams 
including leadership team and Board by 2025

Safety & Wellbeing Implement “Better For Me” safety and 
wellbeing programme by 2022

Sustainability

Our Better for Planet Goals
 
 
Energy & Carbon 
Net Zero emissions by 2028  
(Scope 1 & 2 emissions)

Waste 
80% operational waste  
diversion by 2028

Our Better for People Goals
 
 
Community 
Help 10,000 families in  
need by 2028

Diversity & Inclusion 
Achieve minimum 40%+  
female gender representation 
across all management teams 
including leadership team and 
Board by 2025
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Safety & Wellbeing 
Implement 'Better For Me'  
Safety and Wellbeing  
programme by 2022
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Board of Directors

Bruce Carter 
Independent non-executive chair

Experience and expertise  

Bruce has spent over 30 years 
in corporate recovery and 
insolvency.  Bruce was formerly 
managing partner at Ferrier 
Hodgson Adelaide for 19 years 
and prior to that a partner at 
Ernst & Young, Chair of the South 
Australian Economic Development 
Board and a member of the 
Executive Committee of Cabinet.

Bruce is currently Chair of the 
Australian Submarine Corporation, 
a director of Bank of Queensland 
Limited and a director of AIG 
Australia Ltd. He holds a Masters 
of Business Administration from 
Heriot-Watt University and a 
Bachelor of Economics from 
University of Adelaide.  He is 
a Fellow of both the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in 
Australia and the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Other current listed directorships  

Bank of Queensland Limited, 
Crown Resorts Limited

Special responsibilities  

Member of the Audit, Risk  
and Compliance Committee 
Member of the People, Culture 
and Remuneration Committee 
 
Interest in stapled securities 

1,189,312

Other current listed directorships  

Boom Logistics Limited

Special responsibilities  

Chair of the Audit, Risk  
and Compliance Committee 
 
Interest in stapled securities 

70,873

Other current listed directorships  

Brickworks Limited

Special responsibilities  

Chair of the People, Culture  
and Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit, Risk  
and Compliance Committee 
 
Interest in stapled securities 

41,364

Kieran Pryke 
Independent non-executive 
director

Experience and expertise  

Kieran has over 25 years 
experience in the property 
industry.  He spent 9 years in 
various finance roles across 
the construction, development 
and investment management 
divisions within Lend Lease 
Corporation before becoming 
CFO of General Property Trust 
(“GPT”) in 1996.  He remained as 
CFO of GPT during and after the 
internalisation of management 
of GPT. Kieran was CFO of 
Australand Property Group 
between 2010 and 2014 and the 
CFO of Grocon between July 
2016 and July 2018.  

Kieran holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce (Accounting) from the 
University of Wollongong and  
is a Fellow of CPA Australia. 

Robyn Stubbs 
Independent non-executive director

Experience and expertise  

Robyn is a board director working 
across several ASX 200-300 
companies including Brickworks 
Limited.  She also provides 
executive coaching services to a 
diverse range of corporate clients 
via the Stephenson Mansell Group.

Prior to joining the Aventus 
board in 2015, Robyn enjoyed a 
successful 25+ year career as a 
senior executive in large, complex 
organisations.  She spent 8 years 
with Stockland as a General 
Manager, her last role heading up 
retail leasing across a portfolio of 
40 shopping centres nationally.  

Robyn is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, she holds a Master 
of Science degree in Coaching 
Psychology from The University 
of Sydney and was awarded a 
University Medal with her business 
degree from the University of 
Technology, Sydney.
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Board of Directors continued...

Darren Holland 
Executive director

Experience and expertise  

Darren has more than 25 years 
experience in the retail property 
industry. He is experienced in 
leasing, development, asset 
management and acquisitions, 
and has grown assets under 
management from one centre in 
2004 to 21 centres at the date of 
this report, valued at $2.5 billion.

Prior to co-founding the Aventus 
Property Group, Darren played a 
leading role in the development 
and management of the only pure 
play listed Australian LFR owner 
and operator to date, Homemaker 
Retail Group (ASX: HRP).  He holds 
a Bachelor of Business (Land 
Economics) from the University of 
Western Sydney and is a Licensed 
Real Estate Agent.

Ray Itaoui 
Independent non-executive 
director

Experience and expertise  

Ray is a substantial security 
holder in the Aventus Group.

Ray has over 30 years of retail 
and property experience and was 
an original investor in Aventus.  
He is also the owner of Greenway 
Wetherill Park a large format retail 
centre in Western Sydney.

His current retail investments 
include Sanity, Mr Vitamins and 
The Universal Store. Ray also 
serves as Chair of Sanity and  
Mr Vitamins.

The Aventus Group comprises 
Aventus Holdings Limited 
(AHL) and Aventus Capital 
Limited (ACL) as the 
responsible entity for Aventus 
Retail Property Fund  
(the Fund).

AHL was created on the 
internalisation and stapling of 
the AHL and the Fund where 
each share on issue in Aventus 
Holdings Limited was stapled 
to a unit in the Fund to create 
the Aventus Group (AVN).

The Boards of AHL and ACL  
have common Directors and 
meet concurrently.

In this Statement:

AHL and ACL in its capacity  
as responsible entity of the 
Fund are collectively referred  
to as Aventus.

Aventus and its controlled 
entities are collectively referred 
to as the Aventus Group  
or AVN.

The Boards of AHL and ACL  
are collectively referred to  
as the Board.

The establishment of the 
corporate governance 
framework for the Aventus 
Group has been guided by 
the Corporate Governance 
Principlesand Recommendations 
(4th Edition) published in 
February 2019 by the ASX 
Corporate Governance 
Council, (ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles).

This statement and relevant 
corporate policies can be found 
at: www.aventusgroup.com.au 

This statement is current as  
at 23 September 2021.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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Other current listed directorships  

None

Special responsibilities  

None 
 
Interest in stapled securities 

7,809,695

Other current listed directorships  

None

Special responsibilities  

Member of the People, Culture  
& Remuneration Committee 
 
Interest in stapled securities 

31,071,484



Annual Report 2021

25 PO
RT

FO
LI

O
 

M
ET

RI
C

S
PR

O
PE

RT
Y 

 
C

O
M

PE
N

D
IU

M
SE

C
U

RI
TY

H
O

LD
ER

 
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
IN

D
EP

EN
D

EN
T 

 
A

U
D

IT
O

R’
S 

RE
PO

RT
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

A
U

D
IT

O
R’

S 
 

IN
D

EP
EN

D
EN

C
E 

 
D

EC
LA

RA
TI

O
N

D
IR

EC
TO

R’
S 

 
RE

PO
RT

C
O

RP
O

RA
TE

  
G

O
V

ER
N

A
N

C
E 

 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T

BO
A

RD
 O

F 
 

D
IR

EC
TO

RS

FR
O

M
 T

H
E 

 
C

H
A

IR
M

A
N

 A
N

D
 

C
EO

A
BO

U
T 

 
TH

E 
G

RO
U

P

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations  
for management and oversight 
A listed entity should clearly delineate the respective roles and 
responsibilities of its board and management and regularly review  
their performance.

Recommendation 1.1 
A listed entity should have  
and disclose a board charter 
setting out: 

•	 the respective roles and 
responsibilities of its board  
and management; and

•	 those matters expressly 
reserved to the board  
and those delegated  
to management.  

The Board is responsible for  
the management, administration 
and overall corporate 
governance of the Group, in 
each case including the 
protection of security holders’ 
interests, developing strategic 
direction, establishing goals  
for management and monitoring 
the achievement of these goals.

The Board has adopted a Board 
Charter to outline the manner 
in which its constitutional 
powers and responsibilities will 
be exercised and discharged, 
having regard to principles of 
good corporate governance, 
international best practice and 
applicable laws. 

The Board Charter and the 
charters adopted by the Board 
for its standing committees have 
been prepared and adopted on 
the basis that strong corporate 
governance can add to the 
performance of the Group,  
create security holder value  
and engender the confidence  
of the investment market.

The Charter is reviewed by  
the Board as required, and  
at least annually.

The key functions of the Board 
are to: 

•	 represent and serve the 
interests of security holders 
by overseeing and appraising 
the Aventus Group’s 
strategies, policies and 
performance. This includes 
overseeing the financial  
and human resources Aventus 
has in place to meet its 
objectives and reviewing 
management performance;

•	 protect and optimise the 
Aventus Group’s performance 
and build sustainable value 
for security holders in 
accordance with any duties 
and obligations imposed on 
the Board by law and the 
Constitutions of AHL and 
ACL and within a framework 
of prudent and effective 
controls that enable risk to 
be assessed and managed;

•	 set, review and monitor 
compliance with the 
Aventus Group’s values  
and governance framework 
(including establishing 
and observing high ethical 
standards); and

•	 ensure security holders  
are kept informed of the 
performance of Aventus 
and major developments 
affecting its state of affairs.

 
Further, the responsibilities  
of the Board include: 

•	 demonstrating leadership;

•	 defining the entity’s purpose 
and setting its strategic 
objectives;

•	 approving the entity’s 
statement of values and  
code of conduct to underpin 
the desired culture within  
the entity; 

•	 appointing the Chair and, 
if the entity has one, the 
deputy chair and/or the 
senior independent director;

•	 appointing and replacing  
the CEO;

•	 approving the appointment 
and replacement of other 
senior executives and the 
company secretary;

•	 overseeing management in 
its implementation of the 
entity’s strategic objectives, 
instilling of the entity’s values 
 and performance generally;

•	 approving operating 
budgets and major capital 
expenditure, acquisitions  
and divestitures, and 
overseeing capital 
management, including 
approving distribution  
and dividend payments;

•	 overseeing the integrity 
of the entity’s accounting 
and corporate reporting 
systems, including the 
external audit;

•	 overseeing the entity’s 
process for making timely 
and balanced disclosure 
of all material information 
concerning the entity that 
a reasonable person would 
expect to have a material 
effect on the price or value  
of the entity’s securities;

•	 satisfying itself that 
the entity has in place 
an appropriate risk 
management framework 
(for both financial and non- 
financial risks) and setting 
the risk appetite within 
which the board expects 
management to operate;

•	 satisfying itself that an 
appropriate framework 
exists for relevant 
information to be reported 
by management to  
the board;

•	 whenever required, 
challenging management 
and holding it to account;

•	 satisfying itself that the 
entity’s remuneration  
policies are aligned with  
the entity’s purpose, 
values, strategic objectives 
and risk appetite; and

•	 monitoring the 
effectiveness of the entity’s 
governance practices. 

Directors may delegate their 
powers as they consider 
appropriate. However, ultimate 
responsibility for strategy and 
control rests with the Board.

All matters not specifically 
reserved for the Board and 
necessary for the day-to-
day management of AVN are 
delegated to management  
and the Board has approved  
the delegated authority limits  
for management.
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Recommendation 1.2 
A listed entity should: 

•	 undertake appropriate 
checks before appointing a 
director or senior executive 
or putting someone forward 
for election as a director; and

•	 provide security holders with 
all material information in 
its possession relevant to a 
decision on whether or not  
to elect or re-elect a director. 

The following information about 
a candidate standing for election 
or re-election as a director 
should be provided to security 
holders to enable them to 
make an informed decision on 
whether or not to elect or  
re-elect the candidate: 

•	 biographical details, 
including their relevant 
qualifications and 
experience and the skills 
they bring to the board;

•	 details of any other material 
directorships currently held 
by the candidate; 

	ՙ in the case of a candidate 
standing for election as a 
director for the first time: 
confirmation that the 
entity has conducted 
appropriate checks 
into the candidate’s 
background and 
experience;

	ՙ if those checks have 
revealed any information 
of concern, that 
information;

	ՙ details of any interest, 
position or relationship 
that might influence, or 
reasonably be perceived 
to influence, in a material 

•	 the requirement to disclose 
the director’s interests and 
 any matters which could 
affect the director’s 
independence;

•	 the requirement to comply 
with key corporate policies, 
including the entity’s code 
of conduct, its anti-bribery 
and corruption policy and its 
trading policy; 

•	 the requirement to notify 
the entity of, or to seek the 
entity’s approval before 
accepting, any new role that 
could impact upon the time 
commitment expected of the 
director or give rise to  
a conflict of interest;

•	 the entity’s policy on 
when directors may seek 
independent professional 
advice at the expense of 
the entity (which generally 
should be whenever 
directors, especially non- 
executive directors, judge 
such advice necessary for 
them to discharge their 
responsibilities as directors);

•	 indemnity and insurance 
arrangements;

•	 ongoing rights of access to 
corporate information; and

•	 ongoing confidentiality 
obligations

Recommendation 1.4 
The company secretary of 
a listed entity should be 
accountable directly to the 
board, through the chair,  
on all matters to do with  
the proper functioning of  
the board.

The Board must approve the 
appointment or removal of 
a Company Secretary and 
the Company Secretary is 
accountable to the Board, 
through the Chair, on all 
matters to do with the proper 
functioning of the Board, 
including: 

•	 advising the board and  
its committees on 
governance matters;

•	 monitoring that board 
and committee policy and 
procedures are followed;

•	 coordinating the timely 
completion and despatch 
of board and committee 
papers;

•	 ensuring that the business 
at board and committee 
meetings is accurately 
captured in the minutes; and

•	 helping to organise and 
facilitate the induction and 
professional development  
of directors.

respect their capacity 
to bring an independent 
judgement to bear on 
issues before the board 
and to act in the best 
interests of the entity as 
a whole rather than in the 
interests of an individual 
security holder or other 
party; and

	ՙ if the board considers 
that the candidate will, 
if elected, qualify as an 
independent director, a 
statement to that effect; 

•	 in the case of a candidate 
standing for re-election  
as a director: 

	ՙ the term of office 
currently served by  
the director; and

	ՙ if the board considers  
the director to be an 
independent director,  
a statement to that 
effect; and 

•	 a statement by the board as 
to whether it supports the 
election or re-election of the 
candidate and a summary  
of the reasons why.

Recommendation 1.3 
A listed entity should have  
a written agreement with each 
director and senior executive 
setting out the terms of  
their appointment. 

All directors and senior 
executives have written 
agreements with the Group.  
All non-executive directors  
have written agreements  
which include the following:

Recommendation 1.5 
A listed entity should: 

•	 have and disclose  
a diversity policy;

•	 through its board or a 
committee of the board set 
measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity 
in the composition of its 
board, senior executivesand 
workforce generally; and

•	 disclose in relation to each 
reporting period:

	ՙ the measurable 
objectives set for that 
period to achieve  
gender diversity;

	ՙ the entity’s progress 
towards achieving those 
objectives; and

	ՙ either:
•	 the respective 

proportions of men 
and women on the 
board, in senior 
executive positions 
and across the 
whole workforce 
(including how the 
entity has defined 
“senior executive” for 
these purposes); or

•	 if the entity is a 
“relevant employer” 
under the Workplace 
Gender Equality Act, 
the entity’s most 
recent “Gender 
Equality Indicators”, 
as defined in and 
published under  
that Act.

 

If the entity was in the 
S&P/ASX 300 Index at 
the commencement of 
the reporting period, the 
measurable objective for 
achieving gender diversity  
in the composition of its board 
should be to have not less  
than 30% of its directors of 
each gender within a  
specified period.

AVN approved an initial 
Diversity and Inclusion Policy 
in March 2019 that enabled 
the creation of measurable 
objectives to be set for 
achieving gender diversity 
in the composition of its 
board, senior executives and 
the workforce. This Policy is 
being revised to meet the ASX 
revised governance principles 
and will be available on  
the website. 

Summary of Diversity  
and Inclusion Policy
Aventus recognises its talented 
and diverse workforce as a key 
competitive advantage. Our 
business success reflects the 
quality and skill of our people. 
Aventus is committed to 
seeking out and retaining the 
best talent that fits our  
values and culture. 

We recognise that each 
member of our team brings 
their own unique capabilities, 
experiences and characteristics 
to their work. We value such 
diversity at all levels of the 
company and recognise that 
importance of reflecting the 
diversity of our customers in 
our workforce.  

Aventus believes in treating 
all people with respect and 
dignity. We strive to create 
and foster a supportive and 
understanding environment in 
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which all individuals realise their 
maximum potential within the 
company, regardless of their 
differences. We are committed 
to employing the best people 
to do the best 
job possible. 

As part of the Aventus People, 
Culture and Remuneration 
Committee Charter, our 
Diversity and Inclusion policy 
with measurable objectives  
will be reviewed annually.  
Currently our objectives are:  

•	 Develop a diverse 
succession plan process 
to focus on future pipeline 
for key roles and develop 
internal successors within 
the Group 

•	 Our talent selection and 
hiring practices are non 
discriminatory and are  
based on individual merit 

•	 Annual review of our 
remuneration strategy to 
ensure that reward is based  
on merit and is equitable 

•	 Increase our female 
representation at mid 
management, leadership  
and Board levels with 
diversity consideration 
for all new appointments. 
Aspirational targets in  
senior leadership is 50% 
women over the next 3 years 

•	 Develop and review a people 
scorecard at each People, 
Culture, and Remuneration 
Committee quarterly meeting 

Behaviour that does not 
adhere to our values and Code 
of Conduct is not tolerated. 
Each year our team undertake 
Code of Conduct training to 

Recommendation 2.1 
The board of a listed entity 
should have a nomination 
committee which: 

•	 has at least three members, 
a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and

•	 is chaired by an 
independent director,  
and disclose:

•	 the charter of  
the committee;

•	 the members of the 
committee; and

•	 as at the end of each 
reporting period, the 
number of times the 
committee met throughout 
the period and the 
individual attendances 
of the members at those 
meetings; or 

If it does not have a 
nomination committee, 
disclose that fact and the 
processes it employs to 
address board succession 
issues and to ensure that the 
board has the appropriate 
balance of skills, knowledge, 
experience, independence 
and diversity to enable it 
to discharge its duties and 
responsibilities effectively.

As the Board has 4 members 
who are independent, it 
undertakes the nominations 
function and will consider  
and manage: 

•	 board succession  
planning generally;

•	 induction and continuing 
professional development 
programs for directors;

•	 the development and 
implementation of a 
process for evaluating  
the performance of the 
board, its committees  
and directors;

•	 the process for recruiting 
a new director, including 
evaluating the balance 
of skills, knowledge, 
experience, independence 
and diversity on the board 
and, in the light of this 
evaluation, preparing a 
description of the role and 
capabilities required for  
a particular appointment;

•	 the appointment and re-
election of directors; and

•	 ensuring there are plans 
in place to manage the 
succession of the CEO and 
other senior executives.

renew their understanding 
and acceptance of Aventus’ 
expected values and 
behaviours which forms part  
of their responsibilities. 

Our Code of Conduct, values 
and culture creates an 
environment that is has an open 
door policy for any concerns 
to be raised and addressed in 
a non biased manner (Whistle 
Blower Policy). 

The People, Culture and 
Remuneration Committee  
will review our Diversity  
and Inclusion Policy on an 
annual basis. 

Recommendation 1.6 
A listed entity should: 

•	 have and disclose a process 
for periodically evaluating 
the performance of the 
board, its committees and 
individual directors; and

•	 disclose, in relation to each 
reporting period, whether a 
performance evaluation was 
undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with  
that process. 

The Board considers that 
annual reviews of its 
performance are necessary  
for the enhancement of  
the Board’s effectiveness  
and the Board Charter sets  
out annual review process.

Performance reviews will be 
undertaken and cover the 
activities of the Board and  
each Committee.

The Board undertakes a  
review of the Board’s 
performance annually. 

Recommendation 1.7 
A listed entity should: 

•	 have and disclose a process  
for evaluating the 
performance of its senior 
executives at least once 
every reporting period; and

•	 disclose for each reporting 
period whether a 
performance evaluation  
has been undertaken  
in accordance with that 
process during or in  
respect of that period.

Aventus has a performance 
management system to provide 
senior executives with clear 
annual performance objectives 
and a process for evaluating  
their performance. 

Each executive has key 
performance indicators that 
include company financial and 
people and culture measures.  
In addition, each executive  
has role specific key  
performance measures. 

Key performance measures  
are approved by the Board.

Principle 2 – Structure  
the board to add value
The board of a listed entity should be of an appropriate size  
and collectively have the skills, commitment and knowledge of  
the entity and the industry in which it operates, to enable it  
to discharge it duties effectively to add value.
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Recommendation 2.2 
A listed entity should have and 
disclose a board skills matrix 
setting out the mix of skills and 
diversity that the board 
currently has or is looking to 
achieve in its membership.

The Board considers that it has 
the appropriate mix of skills 
and experience to enable it to 
discharge its responsibilities  
as set out to the right.

Recommendation 2.3 
ASX Recommendation 2.3 –  
A listed entity should disclose: 

•	 the names of the 
directors considered to be 
independent directors; and

•	 if a director has an interest, 
position, association  
or relationship that may 
cause doubt about  
the independence of  
a director, but the board 
is of the opinion that it 
does not compromise the 
independence of the 
director, the nature of the 
interest, position, association 
or relationship in question 
and an explanation of  
why the board is of that 
opinion; and

•	 the length of service  
of each director. 

The Board is comprised of 
five directors, four of whom 
are independent, including 
an independent Chairman. 
The Directors bring relevant 
experience and skills to the 
Board, including business and 
industry knowledge, financial 
management and corporate 
governance experience.

or relationship that might 
influence, or reasonably 
be perceived to influence, 
in a material respect their 
capacity to bring independent 
judgement to bear on issues 
before the Board and to act 
in the best interests of AVN 
as a whole rather than in 
the interests of an individual 
security holder or other party.

Without limiting the Board’s 
discretion, the Board has 
adopted the following factors 
as set out in the Corporate 
Governance Principles and 
Recommendations 4th Edition 
to assist in considering the 
independence of Directors. 
In general, Directors will be 
considered to be ‘independent’ 
if they:  

•	 is, or has been, employed 
in an executive capacity 
by the entity or any of its 
child entities and there 
has not been a period of at 
least three years between 
ceasing such employment 
and serving on the Board;

•	 receives performance-
based remuneration 
(including options or 
performance rights)  
from, or participates in  
an employee incentive  
scheme of, AVN;

•	 is, or has been within  
the last three years,  
in a material business 
relationship (eg as a 
supplier, professional 
adviser, consultant or 
customer) with AVN or any 
of its child entities, or is 
an officer of, or otherwise 
associated with, someone 
with such a relationship;

•	 is, represents, or is or 
has been within the last 
three years an officer 
or employee of, or 
professional adviser  
to, a substantial holder;

•	 has close personal ties  
with any person who  
falls within any of the 
categories described  
above; or

•	 has been a director of the 
entity for such a period 
that their independence 
from management and 
substantial holders may 
have been compromised. 

The Group Board is comprised  
of 5 directors, 4 of whom  
are considered independent. 

Mr Itaoui joined the Board on 
29 May 2020. Mr Itaoui is  
a substantial holder in AVN 
and holds approximately  
7% of the issued securities  
of the Group. The Board 
considered this criterion as 
set out in the Corporate 
Governance Principles and 
Recommendations upon 
appointment and it was 
determined that Mr Itaoui’s 
interest would not preclude  
him from acting as  
an independent director.

Recommendation 2.5 
The chair of the board of  
a listed entity should be an 
independent director and,  
in particular, should not  
be the same person as the 
CEO of the entity.

The Group satisfies this 
recommendation as the Chair  
of the Aventus Group is Mr 

Bruce Carter, and the CEO  
is Mr Darren Holland.

Recommendation 2.6 
A listed entity should have 
a program for inducting 
new directors and provide 
appropriate professional 
development opportunities  
for directors to develop  
and maintain the skills and 
knowledge needed to perform 
their role as directors effectively.

AVN has a program for 
inducting new directors  
and provide appropriate 
professional development 
opportunities for directors  
to developand maintain  
the skills and knowledge 
needed to perform their role  
as directors effectively.

The Board regularly reviews 
whether the directors as 
a group have the skills, 
knowledge and familiarity  
with the entity and its 
operating environment where 
gaps are identified, consider 
what training or development  
could be undertaken to fill  
those gaps.

Where necessary, AVN will 
provide resources to help 
develop and maintain directors’ 
skills and knowledge. This 
includes ensuring directors 
have a sufficient understanding 
of accounting matters to fulfil 
his or her responsibilities in 
relation to the entity’s financial 
statements and ongoing 
briefings on developments  
in accounting standards.

Recommendation 2.4 
A majority of the board  
of a listed entity should be 
independent directors.

A director of AVN will be 
characterised and described  
as independent if he or she  
is free of any interest, position 
or relationship that might 
influence, or reasonably be 
perceived to influence, in a 
material respect their capacity 
to bring independent judgement 
to bear on issues before the 
Board  and to act in the best 
interests of AVN as a whole 
rather than in the interests  
of an individual security holder  
or other party.

Without limiting the Board’s 
discretion, the Board has 
adopted the following factors 
as set out in the Corporate 
Governance Principles and 
Recommendations 4th Edition 
to assist in considering the 
independence of Directors. 
In general, Directors will be 
considered to be ‘independent’ 
if they: 

A director of AVN will be 
characterised and described  
as independent if he or she  
is free of any interest, position 

Specific General

 
Accounting and Tax

 
Business Management

Finance & Capital Management Strategic Planning

Property & Asset Management Risk Management

Funds Management Work Health & Safety

Acquisitions Technology and Process 
Improvement

Executive Leadership Sustainability

Retail Corporate Governance

Development

The following Directors meet  
the criteria to be classified  
as independent: 

Bruce Carter  
(Chairman and Non-Executive 
Director) – appointed 22 June 
2015 as a director of ACL and 
appointed as a director of AHL  
on 2 August 2018

Robyn Stubbs  
(Non-Executive Director) – 
appointed 30 September 2015  
as a director of ACL and 
appointed as a director of AHL  
on 2 August 2018

Kieran Pryke  
(Non-Executive Director) – 
appointed 30 September 2015  
as a and appointed as a director 
of AHL on 2 August 2018

Ray Itaoui  
(Non-Executive Director) – 
appointed as a director of ACL 
and AHL on 29 May 2020

The other director is:

Darren Holland, the CEO of  
the Group and an Executive 
Director of ACL – appointed  
22 June 2015 as a director  
of ACL and a director of AHL  
on 1 October 2018.
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Principle 3 – Instil a culture of acting 
lawfully, ethically and responsibly 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity  
in corporate reporting 
 A listed entity should have appropriate processes to verify  
the integrity of its corporate reports.

Recommendation 3.1 
A listed entity should articulate 
and disclose its values.

AVN has approved the values 
and purpose of the Group, and 
these are included in the annual 
report and Code of Conduct.

Recommendation 3.2 
A listed entity should: 

•	 have and disclose a code 
of conduct for its directors, 
senior executives and 
employees; and

•	 ensure that the board or a 
committee of the board  
is informed of any material 
breaches of that code. 

The Group is committed to a 
high level of integrity and 
ethical standards in all business 
practices. Directors, senior 
executives and employees of 
AVN must conduct themselves 
in a manner consistent with 
current community and Group 
standards and in compliance 
with all relevant legislation.

The Code of Conduct outlines 
how the Group expects its 
directors and employees to 
behave and conduct business 
in the workplace on a range 
of issues. It includes legal 
compliance and guidelines on 
appropriate ethical standards.

The objective of the Code  
of Conduct is to: 

•	 provide a benchmark  
for professional behaviour 
throughout the Group;

•	 support the Group’s  
business reputation and 
corporate image within  
the community; and

•	 make directors and 
employees aware of the 
consequences if they  
breach the policy. 

Directors, Senior Executives 
and team members are trained 
regularly on matters relating  
to ethical behaviour in  
the workplace.

Recommendation 3.3 
A listed entity should: 

•	 have and disclose a 
whistleblower policy; and

•	 ensure that the board or  
a committee of the board 
is informed of any material 
incidents reported under  
that policy. 

AVN team members are 
encouraged to speak up about 
any unlawful, unethical or 
irresponsible behaviour within 
the organisation through our 
whistleblower policy.

The board or a committee of 
the board are to be informed of 
material incidents reported under 
the AVN’s whistleblower policy.

The Board of AVN approved  
the AVN Whistleblowing Policy  
in June 2019. 

Recommendation 3.4 
A listed entity should: 

•	 have and disclose an anti-
bribery and corruption  
policy; and

•	 ensure that the board or  
a committee of the board 
is informed of any material 
breaches of that policy. 

The Board of AVN considers 
that the giving bribes or other 
improper payments or benefits 
to public officials is a serious 
criminal offence and can damage 
a listed entity’s reputation and 
standing in the community.

The board or a committee of  
the board should be informed  
of any material incidents of 
bribery or corruption, as they 
may be indicative of issues with 
the culture of the organisation.

AVN’s policy on anti-bribery  
and corruption policy forms 
part of the AVN Code  
of Conduct. 

Recommendation 4.1  
The board of a listed  
entity should have an audit  
committee which: 

•	 has at least three members, 
all of whom are non-
executive directors and 
a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and

•	 is chaired by an independent 
director, who is not chair of 
the board, and  

Disclose:
•	 the charter of the 

committee;

•	 the relevant qualifications and 
experience of the members 
of the committee; and

•	 in relation to each reporting 
period, the number of 
times the committee met 
throughout the period and 
the individual attendances 
of the members at  
those meetings. 

The Board has established an 
Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee (ARCC) to oversee 
the quality and integrity of 
accounting, audit, financial 
and risk management practices 
for AVN. The ARCC is 
comprised of only independent 
directors, and is chaired by an 
independent director who is 
not the Chairman of the Board.

The Board has developed 
a charter which sets out 
the Committee’s role, 
responsibilities, and 
composition, structure and 
membership requirements.

As stated in its Charter, 
the Committee’s key 
responsibilities and functions 
are to: 

•	 oversee the relationship  
with the external auditor  
and the external audit 
function generally;

•	 oversee the preparation of 
the financial statements 
and reports to be issued by 
the Aventus Group;

•	 oversee the financial 
controls and systems;

•	 manage the process 
of identification and 
management of risk for  
the Aventus Group; and

•	 consider any matters 
relating to the affairs of  
the Aventus Group that 
have been delegated to 
it by the Board, including 
Work, Health and Safety 
(WHS) matters. 

The external auditor is invited 
to ARCC meetings and also 
meets privately with the 
ARCC at least twice a year. 
The ARCC is comprised 
of independent directors 
only, all of whom have an 
appropriate level of financial 
and property industry 

expertise. More information 
on ARCC members, including 
qualifications and attendance  
at ARCC meetings, can be 
found on the Aventus website 
or in the Directors’ Report in 
the Annual Report.

The Board regularly assesses 
and has determined that 
members of the ARCC 
collectively have an appropriate 
level of financial and property 
industry expertise to discharge 
their responsibilities.

As at 15 October 2021  
the members of the ARCC 
were: Mr Kieran Pryke  
(Chair), Ms Robyn Stubbs  
and Mr Bruce Carter.

Recommendation 4.2 
The board of a listed entity 
should, before it approves the 
entity’s financial statements 
for a financial period, receive 
from its CEO and CFO a 
declaration that, in their 
opinion, the financial records 
of the entity have been 
properly maintained, and 
that the financial statements 
comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and  
give a true and fair view of 
the financial position and 
performance of the entity 
and that the opinion has been 
formed on the basis of a sound 
system of risk management 
and internal control which is 
operating effectively.

The Board receives a 
declaration provided in 
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accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act from  
the CEO and the CEO for AVN 
that AVN’s financial statements 
are founded on a sound  
system of risk management  
and internal control and that  
the system is operating in  
all material respects in relation  
to financial reporting risks. 

Recommendation 4.3 
A listed entity should disclose 
its process to verify the 
integrity of any periodic 
corporate report it releases  
to the market that is not 
audited or reviewed by an 
external auditor.

The Group’s auditors will  
attend this meeting and  
will be available to answer 
questions from security  
holders in relation to the  
annual financial statements  
and audit processes.

Recommendation 5.1 
A listed entity should have and 
disclose a written policy for 
complying with its continuous 
disclosure obligations under 
listing rule 3.1.

AVN has significant obligations 
under the Corporations Act  
2001 (Cth) (Corporations 
Act) and the Listing Rules of 
ASX Limited (ASX) to keep 
the market fully informed of 
information which may have  
a material effect on the price  
or value of AVN’s securities. 

The Continuous Disclosure 
Policy has been established 
to ensure compliance with 
these requirements, and 
AVN’s obligations by releasing 
information to the ASX in the 
form of an ASX release or, 
where appropriate, through 
disclosure of other relevant 
documents (the annual report, 
results announcements) 
and, where appropriate, by 
requesting a trading halt.

Mary Weaver, a Company 
Secretary of Aventus is the  
ASX liaison person for AVN. 

The Continuous Disclosure 
Policy is reviewed periodically 
and available to view under  
the ‘Corporate Governance’ 
section of AVN’s website.

Recommendation 5.2 
A listed entity should ensure  
that its board receives 
copies of all material market 
announcements promptly  
after they have been made.

The Company Secretary 
ensures that the Board  
has timely visibility to the 
information being disclosed  
to the market and the  
frequency of such disclosure.

Recommendation 5.3 
A listed entity that gives  
a new and substantive  
investor or analyst  
presentation should release  
a copy of the presentation 
materials on the ASX Market 
Announcements Platform  
ahead of the presentation.

Aventus releases all substantive 
investor and analyst 
presentations prior to any 
presentations.

Principle 5 – Make timely  
and balanced disclosure
A listed entity should make timely and balanced disclosure of  
all matters concerning it that a reasonable person would expect  
to have a material effect on the price of value of its securities.

Principle 6 – Respect the rights  
of Security holders  
 
A listed entity should provide it security holders with appropriate 
information and facilities to allow them to exercise their rights as 
security holders effectively.

Recommendation 6.1  
A listed entity should provide 
information about itself and its 
governance to investors via  
its website.

AVN provides information to 
security holders, including: 

•	 the right for security holders  
to receive an annual report;

•	 placement on AVN’s 
website of market-sensitive 
information in the form  
of ASX announcements;

•	 placement on AVN’s 
website of distribution and 
tax information, unit price 
performance, financial 
results information including 
the results webcast, 
investor presentations; and

•	 presentations that are 
required to be lodged  
with the ASX are on  
AVN’s website.

Recommendation 6.2  
A listed entity should  
design and implement an 
investor relations program to 
facilitate effective two-way 
communication with investors.

AVN has approved an 
Investor Relations Policy 

to facilitate effective two-
way communication with its 
security holders.

The Investor Relations Policy 
is available to view under 
the ‘Corporate Governance’ 
section of AVN’s website.

Recommendation 6.3 
A listed entity should disclose 
the policies and processes  
it has in place to facilitate and 
encourage participation at 
meetings of security holders

AVN will disclose the policies 
and processes it has in place 
to facilitate and encourage 
participation at meetings  
of security holders.

Recommendation 6.4  
A listed entity should ensure 
that all substantive resolutions 
at a meeting of security holders 
are decided by a poll rather 
than by a show of hands.

All resolutions at Aventus 
annual general meetings are 
decided by a poll.

Recommendation 6.5 
A listed entity should give 
security holders the option to 
receive communications from,  
and send communications  
to, the entity and its security  
registry electronically.

AVN security holders are 
able to elect to receive 
communications from, and 

send communications to,  
the entity and its security 
registry electronically.

In addition to the investor 
information on the website, 
other communications include: 

•	 the preparation and release  
of Annual and Half Year 
results presentations 
and financial reports 
which includes detailed 
information on various 
aspects of AVN’s business 
activities and performance;

•	 a live conference call of 
the presentation of annual 
and half-year results 
presentations;

•	 a semi-annual schedule of 
one-on-one meetings with 
the CEO and senior leaders 
and AVN’s current and 
prospective institutional 
security holders;

•	 participation in institutional 
investor conferences both 
within Australia and 
overseas providing an 
opportunity for both 
Australian and Institutional 
security holders to learn 
about AVN’s business 
activities and also meet 
with senior leaders.
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Principle 7 – Recognise  
and Manage Risk 
 
A listed entity should establish a sound risk management framework 
and periodically review the effectiveness of that framework.

Recommendation 7.1  
The board of a listed  
entity should: 

•	 have a risk committee  
or committees to oversee  
risk, each of which:

•	 has at least three members, 
a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and

•	 is chaired by an independent 
director, and disclose:

•	 the charter of the 
committee;

•	 the members of the 
committee; and

•	 as at the end of each 
reporting period, the number 
of times the committee met 
throughout the period and 
the individual attendances 
of the members at those 
meetings; or

•	 if it does not have a risk 
committee, disclose the fact 
and the processes it employs 
for overseeing the entity’s 
risk management framework. 

ASX Recommendation 7.2  
The board or a committee  
of the board should: 

•	 review the entity’s risk 
management framework 
at least annually to satisfy 
itself that it continues  
to be sound; and

•	 disclose, in relation to  
each reporting period, 
whether such a review  
has taken place.

 
Management has implemented 
a risk management framework 
under the oversight of the ARCC. 
The ARCC is responsible for 
reviewing, and reporting to the 
Board on, the internal control 
and risk management systems 
of AVN and assessing the 
information presented by 
management. In addition, the 
ARCC regularly assesses whether 
AVN’s compliance plan, internal 
financial control systems, risk 
management policies, the risk 
register and risk management 
systems are adequate.

A Conflicts of Interest & Related 
Party Transactions Policy has 
been established for identifying 
and managing conflicts.

The Policy provides guidance  
on the management of conflicts 
of interest requires that: 

•	 related party transactions  
be identified and conducted 
on arm’s length terms;

•	 related party transactions  
be tested by reference to 
whether they meet market 
standards; and

•	 decisions about transactions 
between related parties  
be made by independent 
members of the Board or 
Investment Committees(where 
they have been appointed).

AVN has also established 
protocols for the Board in 
identifying and managing 
conflicts, including: 

•	 Board members must declare 
their interests as required 
under the Corporations Act, 
ASX Listing Rules and other 
general law requirements;

•	 Board members with a 
material personal interest  
in a matter are not to be 
present at a Board meeting 
during the consideration of 
the matter and subsequent 
vote unless the Board 
(excluding the relevant 
Board member) resolves 
otherwise; and

•	 Board members with a 
conflict not involving a 
material personal interest 
may be required to absent 
themselves from the relevant 
deliberations of the Board.

 
The Policy is available to  
view under the ‘Corporate 
Governance’ section of  
AVN’s website.

AVN also has a policy for 
dealing with actual, apparent or 
potential conflicts of interest.

Personal conflicts that might 
arise generally for Directors and 
staff are covered by the Code  
of Conduct referred to earlier  
in this Statement.

Recommendation 7.3  
A listed entity should: 

•	 disclose that it has an 
internal audit function, how 
the function is structured 
and what role it performs; or

•	 if it does not have an 
internal audit function, that 
fact and the processes it 
employs for evaluating and 
continually improving the 
effectiveness of its risk 
management and internal 
control processes. 

Although the Group does  
not have a designated internal 
audit function, throughout 
the year internal audit tests 
are conducted to test the 
adequacy of controls for those 
risks which are inherently 
extreme or high. The Company 
Secretary will report findings  
to the ARCC.

Recommendation 7.4  
A listed entity should disclose 
whether it has any material 
exposure to environmental  
or social risks and, if it does, 
how it manages or intends  
to manage those risks.

The Group is committed to 
deliver value to all the 
stakeholders through the 
adoption and implementation 
of sustainable policies, 
strategies and practices in 
our corporate activities and 
by continuously improving 
building performance, 
providing greater transparency 
over our operations and 
committing to high standards 
of corporate governance.

To achieve this end, the  
Group will strive to: 

•	 maximise the performance 
and efficiency of portfolio 
assets to function at 
optimal levels;

•	 provide timely, clear  
and consistent disclosures,  
and engage with key 
stakeholders; and

•	 commit to high standards 
of corporate governance 
by upholding best practices 
in the areas of board 
management and risk 
governance. 

The ESG Report is available  
on our website at the Reports 
and Presentations section 
under the Investor Tab.
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Recommendation 8.1 
The board of a listed  
entity should: 

•	 have a remuneration 
committee which:

•	 has at least three members, 
a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and

•	 is chaired by an  
independent director, 

and disclose:
•	 the charter of the committee; 

•	 the members of the  
committee; and

•	 as at the end of each 
reporting period, the number 
of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the 
individual attendances of the 
members at those meetings. 

Recommendation 8.2  
A listed entity should separately 
disclose its policies and practices 
regarding the remuneration of 
non-executive directors and the 
remuneration of executive 
directors and other senior 
executives.

AVN has established the People, 
Culture and Remuneration (PRC) 
Committee on the following terms: 

•	 only non-executive directors;

•	 a minimum of 3 members;

•	 a majority of independent 
directors; and

•	 an independent director  
as chair.

 
The Board may appoint 
additional directors to the 
Committee or remove and 
replace members of the 
Committee by resolution. 
Members may withdraw 
from membership by written 
notification to the Board.

Non committee members, 
including members of 
management, may attend all 
or part of a meeting of the 
Committee at the invitation  
of the Committee chair.

A Company Secretary, or his  
or her delegate, must attend  
all Committee meetings as 
minute secretary.

The Committee must at all times 
have regard to, and notify the 
Board as appropriate of, all legal 
and regulatory requirements, 
including any shareholder or 
security holder approvals which 
are necessary to obtain.

The Board will, once in each 
year, review the membership 
and charter of the Committee 
to determine its adequacy for 
current circumstances and 
the Committee may make 
recommendations to the Board 
in relation to the Committee’s 
membership, responsibilities, 
functions or otherwise.

The PRC Charter is available 
to view under the ‘Corporate 
Governance’ section of  
AVN’s website.

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly
A listed entity should pay director remuneration sufficient to attract and retail 
high quality directors and design its executive remuneration to attract, retain  
and motivate high quality senior executives and to align their interests with the  
creation of value for security holders and with the entity’s values and risk appetite. 

As at 15 October 2021 the 
members of the ARCC were:  
Ms Robyn Stubbs (Chair),  
Mr Ray Itaoui and Mr Bruce Carter.

Recommendation 8.3   
A listed entity which has an  
equity based remuneration 
scheme should: 

•	 have a policy on whether 
participants are permitted to 
enter transactions (whether 
through the use of derivatives 
or otherwise which limit the 
economic risk of participating  
in the scheme; and

•	 disclose that policy or  
a summary of it. 

The Board has adopted a Securities 
Trading Policy which regulates the 
manner in which directors, senior 
executives and team involved in the 
management of AVN can deal in 
securities. The Policy specifies the 
periods in which personal trading 
is permitted, the restrictions that 
apply to directors and senior 
executives, and the procedures 
for obtaining prior clearance for 
trading during a trading window. 
Team compliance with the Policy 
is monitored under APG’s risk 
management framework. The 
Policy is subject to annual review 
by the Board, and has been  
lodged with the ASX.

The Securities Trading Policy 
is available to view under the 
‘Corporate Governance’ section  
of AVN’s website.

Aventus Retail 
Property Fund  
& Controlled  
Entities  
(Aventus Group)
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The directors of Aventus Capital Limited (ACL) (ACN 606 555 480), the Responsible Entity of the 
Aventus Retail Property Fund (ARPF or Fund) (ARSN 608 000 764), and the directors of Aventus 
Holdings Limited (AHL) (ACN 627 640 180) present their report together with the consolidated 
financial statements of the Aventus Group and AHL Group for the year ended 30 June 2021. 
 
The Aventus Group is a stapled entity comprising ARPF and its controlled entities (the ARPF Group) 
and AHL and its controlled entities (the AHL Group).  For financial reporting purposes ARPF has been 
deemed the parent entity of the Aventus Group.  The consolidated financial statements of the Aventus 
Group comprise ARPF and its controlled entities which includes AHL.   
 

Directors and company secretaries 

The following persons were directors of ACL and AHL during the whole of the financial year and up to 
the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
 
> Bruce Carter Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
> Darren Holland  Executive Director 
> Kieran Pryke  Independent Non-Executive Director 
> Robyn Stubbs Independent Non-Executive Director 
> Ray Itaoui Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
The company secretaries of ACL and AHL are Mary Weaver AGIA and Lawrence Wong. 
 

Principal activity 

The principal activity of the Aventus Group during the financial year was investment and management 
of large format retail property assets.  There was no significant change in the principal activity during 
the financial year. 
 

Review of operations and results 

Summary of financial performance 

A summary of the Aventus Group’s financial performance for the financial year is set out below. 
 

 
2021 

$m 
2020 

$m 
   
Funds from operations 109.8 100.2 
FFO per security (cents) 19.4 18.2 
Net profit 409.7 56.7 
Basic and diluted earnings per security (cents) 72.5 10.3 
Distributions to securityholders 98.9 65.8 
Distributions to securityholders (cents) 17.5 11.9 

Funds from Operations (FFO) 

FFO represents the Aventus Group’s underlying  and recurring earnings from operations.  FFO is 
calculated by adjusting statutory net profit after tax for certain non-cash items, unrealised revenue and 
expenses and non-recurring amounts outside core operating activities.  FFO has been determined in 
accordance with best practice guidelines published by the Property Council of Australia. 
 
The Aventus Group delivered FFO of $109.8m for the year ended 30 June 2021 representing an 
increase of $9.6 million or 9.6% on the prior financial year.  This translates to FFO of 19.4 cents per 
security representing an increase of 1.2 cents per security or 7.1%.    

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

4		
 

Review of operations and results (continued) 

Summary of financial performance (continued) 

Funds from Operations (FFO) (continued) 

This FFO result represents a record for the Aventus Group since listing in 2015 and was achieved 
despite the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
The $9.6m increase in FFO was mainly attributable to: 

a) $8.1 million increase in net property income (excluding rent straight-lining adjustments).  $5.0 
million of this represented lower bad and doubtful debts expenses following tapering of 
COVID-19 rental relief provided to tenants and a true up of rental relief from tenants who 
traded more favourably than originally expected.   

b) $3.7 million in lower interest expenses resulting from lower interest rates, lower drawn debt 
and reduced hedging. 

c) $1.9 million in higher employee benefits expense.  Prior year expenses were lower due to 
voluntary reductions in remuneration for the period April to June 2020 to address the initial 
impact of COVID-19. 

 
Due to the strong financial performance during the year ended 30 June 2021 the board announced 
earnings upgrades in both February 2021 and June 2021. 
 

Net profit 

The Aventus Group’s net profit for the year ended 30 June 2021 was $409.7 million representing an 
increase of $353.0 million or 622.6% on the prior financial year.  The increase was mainly attributable 
to:  

a) $334.6 million increase in net fair value adjustments on investment properties; 
b) $12.9 million decrease in finance costs including a $9.8 million increase in fair value gains on 

interest rate swaps and a $3.7 million decrease in interest costs; and 
c) $6.8 million increase in net property income. 

 
A reconciliation of statutory net profit for the financial year and FFO is as follows: 
 

  
2021 

$m 
2020 

$m 
    
Net profit for the year  409.7 56.7 
Straight-lining of rental income  3.5 2.2 
Amortisation of rental guarantees  1.2 0.4 
Amortisation of debt establishment costs  2.3 1.6 
Net (gain)/loss on movement in fair value of investment 
properties 

  
(297.3) 

 
37.3 

Net (gain)/loss on movement in fair value of derivative 
financial instruments 

  
(8.5) 

 
1.3 

Share of net profits from associates  (2.4) - 
Distributions from associates  0.5 0.3 
Software development costs  0.8 - 
Other  - 0.4 
    
FFO  109.8 100.2 
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COVID-19 rental relief 

At the date of this report all Aventus centres are open for trading and our portfolio remains 
underpinned by a strong tenant profile which comprises approximately 88% national retailers with the 
majority listed companies. 
 
Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic Aventus has supported its tenants by: 
 

• providing rental relief in the form of rental abatements and/or deferred rental payments; and 
• passing on cost savings in the form of lower outgoings. 

 
Aventus has finalised negotiations with the majority of tenants who sought rental relief after the initial 
outbreak of the pandemic.  Requests were assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account 
specific tenant circumstances including whether they qualified for the National Cabinet’s Code of 
Conduct.   
 
Rental abatements granted to tenants are recognised as bad and doubtful debts expense which is 
classified as property expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  Total bad 
and doubtful debts expense for the year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to $1.3 million.  This 
compares to $6.3 million for the year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
In November 2020, a reconciliation of rental relief provided to tenants against verified sales data was 
undertaken for the period April 2020 to September 2020.  This process resulted in the reversal of $0.9 
million (excluding GST) of abatements previously provided to tenants plus the accelerated repayment 
of $0.9 million (excluding GST) in deferred rental payments. 
 

Leasing and occupancy 

119 leasing deals were successfully negotiated during the twelve months to 30 June 2021 
demonstrating the resilience of our tenant base and the quality of the centres in the portfolio. 
Occupancy at 30 June 2021 was 98.8% increasing from 98.0% at June 2020.  The weighted average 
lease expiry of the portfolio at 30 June 2021 was 3.7 years (30 June 2020: 3.9 years). 

 

Distributions 

Distributions declared and/or paid to securityholders during the financial year were as follows: 
 

Quarter ended 
Distribution 
per security 

(cents) 

Total 
distribution 

$m 

Ex-
distribution 

date 
Record 

date 
Payment 

date 
      
September 2020 4.00 22.3 29/09/2020 30/09/2020 30/10/2020 
December 2020 4.20 23.8 30/12/2020 31/12/2020 24/02/2021 
March 2021 4.90 27.9 30/03/2021 31/03/2021 20/05/2021 
June 2021 4.37 24.9 29/06/2021 30/06/2021 26/08/2021 -1 
      
Total 17.47 98.9    
      
September 2019 4.22 23.1 27/09/2019 30/09/2019 31/10/2019 
December 2019 4.26 23.7 30/12/2019 31/12/2019 20/02/2020 
March 2020 1.07 5.9 30/03/2020 31/03/2020 20/05/2020 
June 2020 2.35 13.1 26/06/2020 30/06/2020 28/08/2020 
      
Total 11.90 65.8    

 
1 – Estimated payment date 
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Review of operations and results (continued) 

The Aventus Group’s distribution policy is to distribute between 90% and 100% of FFO to 
securityholders.   
 
Due to the initial uncertainty created by COVID-19 in the prior financial year the directors declared 
conservative distributions for the quarters ended 31 March 2020 and 30 June 2020 in order to 
preserve liquidity and strengthen the financial position of the group.   
 
For the quarter ended 31 March 2021 the directors declared an elevated distribution of 4.90 cents per 
security which was 0.70 cents per security or 17% higher than the distribution declared for the quarter 
ended 31 December 2020.  The increase was comprised of the contribution of the one-off benefit from 
additional amounts billed following a true-up of sales figures from retailers who were provided COVID-
19 support, and an elevated payout ratio in the quarter to account for the lower payout ratio in the first 
half of the financial year. 
 

Summary of financial position 

The Aventus Group is in a strong financial position as at 30 June 2021 with higher investment 
property values, higher net tangible assets, higher liquidity, higher debt serviceability and lower 
gearing compared to 30 June 2020. 
 

 
June 2021 

$m 
June 2020 

$m 
   
Assets   
Investment property portfolio (including rental guarantees) 2,269.7 1,933.4 
Total assets 2,437.4 2,136.4 
Net tangible assets 1,535.0 1,193.4 
Net tangible assets ($ per security) 2.69 2.14 
Net asset value 1,681.1 1,340.5 
Net asset value ($ per security) 2.95 2.41 
   
Capital management   
Drawn debt 694.9 738.4 
Debt facility limit 820.0 820.0 
Cash and undrawn debt 132.4 120.8 
Look-through gearing ratio (%) 30.3% 36.0% 
Loan to value ratio (LVR) (%) 30.8% 38.5% 
Interest cover ratio (ICR) (x) 6.6x 5.2x 
Interest rate hedging (notional amount) 360.0 460.0 
Hedged debt to drawn debt ratio (%) 51.8% 62.3% 

 

Investment property portfolio 

The Aventus Group owns 19 large format retail investment properties across Australia with a 
combined value of $2.3 billion (30 June 2020: $1.9 billion).   
 
With the exception of MacGregor Home, all properties were independently valued at 30 June 2021.  
Valuation gains for the year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to $297.3 million (30 June 2020: loss of 
$37.3 million).   
 
The weighted average capitalisation rate of the portfolio decreased 72 basis points to 6.01% at 30 
June 2021 (30 June 2020: 6.73%).  The compression of capitalisation rates was mainly due to recent 
market transactions which reflect strong investor demand for large format retail assets given their 
performance during the COVID-19 pandemic.   
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Review of operations and results (continued) 

Summary of financial position (continued) 

Investment property portfolio (continued) 

Acquisitions and disposals 
In July 2020 the Aventus Group settled the acquisition of development land adjoining Epping Hub for 
$12.2 million including stamp duty costs.  The land is zoned for mixed use, retail, residential, office, 
medical and large format retail. 
 
In May 2021 the Aventus Group entered into an agreement to sell MacGregor Home for $42.2 million 
reflecting an implied capitalisation rate of 6.00%.  The transaction settled on 16 August 2021. 
 
Development 
The key development highlight during the year was the completion of development works at 
Caringbah Super Centre.  The centre is 100% leased and anchored by national retailers Harvey 
Norman, Freedom and JB Hi-Fi.  The development was delivered on time during the midst of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and generated an internal rate of return of 13%.   
 
The property was independently valued at $152.2 million at 30 June 2021 representing a $40.1 million 
or 35.8% increase on its carrying value at 30 June 2020. 
 
Investments in associates 
The Aventus Group also holds a 25.3% interest in Aventus Property Syndicate 1 Fund (APS 1) which 
owns McGraths Hill Home.  The carrying amount of the investment at 30 June 2021 was $7.6 million 
(30 June 2020: $5.8 million).  The increase in the carrying value of the investment during the financial 
year was mainly due to an increase in the fair value of the McGraths Hill Home property from $42.5m 
to $50.0m. 
 

Debt portfolio 

Gearing 
Gearing decreased 5.7% to 30.3% at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: 36.0%) mainly due to $297.3 
million of net valuation gains on investment properties and debt repayments following a $22.3 million 
DRP equity raise for the quarter ended 30 September 2020. 
 
Refinancing 
On 29 April 2021 the Aventus Group refinanced $660.0 million of bank debt comprising 80% of the 
$820.0 million debt portfolio.  As a result of the refinancing the weighted average debt expiry 
increased to 4.4 years at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: 3.1 years) which has significantly reduced 
refinancing risk with no debt expiring before January 2025.   
 
The debt maturity profile as at 30 June 2021 was as follows: 
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Review of operations and results (continued) 

Debt portfolio (continued) 

 

 
 

Covenants 
The Aventus Group complied with, and increased headroom for, all key debt covenants during the 
financial year. 
 

Hedging 

At 30 June 2021 the Aventus Group had $360.0 million in interest rate swaps (30 June 2020: $460.0 
million).  Hedging coverage as a percentage of drawn debt decreased from 62.3% at 30 June 2020 to 
51.8% at 30 June 2021. 
 
 

Significant changes in state of affairs 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Aventus Group or the AHL Group 
during the financial year. 
 

Business strategies and prospects for future financial years 

The Aventus Group will continue to engage in its principal activity in accordance with the investment 
objectives and guidelines as set out in the governing documents of ARPF and in accordance with the 
provisions of the ARPF’s constitution.  
 
The key business strategies of the Aventus Group include: 
 
> optimising the tenancy mix across the portfolio through proactive management and leasing 

leverage; 
> executing on future development projects; 
> participating in sector consolidation through acquisition of additional centres; and 
> monitor potential regulatory changes in the LFR sector which could enable a broader range of 

tenants to occupy centres within the portfolio. 
 
  

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27
$m -  -  -  310.0	 355.0	 155.0	

-  
50.0	

100.0	
150.0	
200.0	
250.0	
300.0	
350.0	
400.0	

$m

Debt	maturity	profile
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Information on directors 

The following information is current as at the date of this report. 
 

Bruce Carter Independent non-executive chair 
  
Experience and expertise Bruce has spent over 30 years in corporate recovery and insolvency.  Bruce was 

formerly managing partner at Ferrier Hodgson Adelaide for 19 years and prior to 
that a partner at Ernst & Young, Chair of the South Australian Economic 
Development Board and a member of the Executive Committee of Cabinet. 
 
Bruce is currently Chair of the Australian Submarine Corporation, a director of 
Bank of Queensland Limited and a director of AIG Australia Ltd.  He holds a 
Masters of Business Administration from Heriot-Watt University and a Bachelor of 
Economics from University of Adelaide.  He is a Fellow of both the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia and the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 

  
Other current listed 
directorships 

Bank of Queensland Limited 
Crown Resorts Limited 
 

  

Special responsibilities Member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
Member of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee 

  
Interest in stapled 
securities 

1,189,312 

 
 

Kieran Pryke Independent non-executive director 
  
Experience and expertise Kieran has over 25 years experience in the property industry.  He spent 9 years in 

various finance roles across the construction, development and investment 
management divisions within Lend Lease Corporation before becoming CFO of 
General Property Trust (“GPT”) in 1996.  He remained as CFO of GPT during and 
after the internalisation of management of GPT.  Kieran was CFO of Australand 
Property Group between 2010 and 2014 and the CFO of Grocon between July 
2016 and July 2018.   
 
Kieran holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) from the University of 
Wollongong and is a Fellow of CPA Australia.  
 

  
Other current listed 
directorships 

Boom Logistics Limited 

  
Special responsibilities Chair of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
  
Interest in stapled 
securities 

70,873 
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Information on directors (continued) 

Robyn Stubbs Independent non-executive director 
  
Experience and expertise Robyn is a board director working across several ASX 200-300 companies 

including Brickworks Limited.  She also provides executive coaching services to a 
diverse range of corporate clients via the Stephenson Mansell Group. 
 
Prior to joining the Aventus board in 2015, Robyn enjoyed a successful 25+ year 
career as a senior executive in large, complex organisations.  She spent 8 years 
with Stockland as a General Manager, her last role heading up retail leasing 
across a portfolio of 40 shopping centres nationally.   
 
Robyn is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, she holds a 
Master of Science degree in Coaching Psychology from The University of Sydney 
and was awarded a University Medal with her business degree from the 
University of Technology, Sydney. 

  
Other current listed 
directorships 

Brickworks Limited 

  

Special responsibilities Chair of the People, Culture and Remuneration Committee  
Member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 

  
Interest in stapled 
securities 

41,364 

 
 

Darren Holland Executive director 
  
Experience and expertise Darren has more than 25 years experience in the retail property industry.  He is 

experienced in leasing, development, asset management and acquisitions, and 
has grown assets under management from one centre in 2004 to 21 centres at 
the date of this report, valued at $2.5 billion. 
 
Prior to co-founding the Aventus Property Group, Darren played a leading role in 
the development and management of the only pure play listed Australian LFR 
owner and operator to date, Homemaker Retail Group (ASX: HRP).  He holds a 
Bachelor of Business (Land Economics) from the University of Western Sydney 
and is a Licensed Real Estate Agent. 
 

  
Other current listed 
directorships 

None 

  
Special responsibilities None 
  
Interest in stapled 
securities 

7,809,695 
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Information on directors (continued) 

Ray Itaoui Independent non-executive director 
  
Experience and expertise Ray is a substantial securityholder in the Aventus Group. 

 
Ray has over 30 years of retail and property experience and was an original 
investor in Aventus.  He is also the owner of Greenway Wetherill Park a large 
format retail centre in Western Sydney. 
 
His current retail investments include Sanity, Honey Birdette, Mr Vitamins and 
The Universal Store.  Ray also serves as Chair of Sanity, Honey Birdette and Mr 
Vitamins. 
 

  
Other current listed 
directorships 

None 

  
Special responsibilities Member of the People, Culture & Remuneration Committee 
  
Interest in stapled 
securities 

31,071,484 
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Remuneration report 

The People, Culture and Remuneration Committee (the Committee) presents the remuneration report 
of the Aventus Group for the year ended 30 June 2021.  The report has been audited in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

Contents 

The remuneration report is structured as follows: 
 

Section What it covers 

A Introduction from the Committee chair 

B Governance and remuneration strategy 

C Key management personnel (KMP) 

D Overview of executive remuneration 

E Remuneration outcomes 

F Performance based remuneration granted and forfeited during the year 

G Contractual arrangements with executive KMP 

H Remuneration expenses for executive KMP 

I Actual remuneration received by executive KMP 

J Restricted stapled securities 

K Overview of non-executive director remuneration 

L Additional information 
 
 

A. Introduction from the Committee chair 

To our valued securityholders, 
 
As chair of the People, Culture & Remuneration Committee (the Committee) I am pleased to present 
the remuneration report of the Aventus Group for the year ended 30 June 2021.    
 
Our remuneration philosophy aims to fairly reward and retain our team while promoting sustainable, 
long-term performance with remuneration outcomes linked to the performance of the Aventus Group.  
 
Aventus has recorded the best financial performance since listing in 2015 and this significantly is 
attributable to our people and culture. 
 
The Committee was focused on supporting our people during the year to ensure they were well 
prepared to adapt and respond to the challenges of COVID-19.  Our team of circa 70 people 
remained highly productive managing a $2.3 billion portfolio and adapted to working flexibly as 
required.  The Employee Assistance Program was made available to our team, their immediate 
families, and our retailers to support their mental health and wellbeing.  
 
KMP had 100% of variable remuneration from the Executive Incentive Scheme (EIS) at risk during 
FY21 based on financial and non-financial key performance indicators (KPIs).  In FY21 board 
discretion was removed from the EIS KPIs and replaced with a customer feedback measure. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

A. Introduction from the Committee chair (continued) 

FY21 performance and outcomes 
KMP financial KPIs were met, with Funds From Operations (FFO) achieving stretch performance. 
However, non-financial KPIs (team engagement and customer feedback), were not achieved which 
resulted in a 15% forfeiture of EIS for KMP. 
 
The EIS aims to align short and long-term performance by setting annual KPIs and delivering a 
proportion of variable remuneration in equity.  Executive KMP performance against FY21 KPIs is 
outlined in section E below.  
 
The strong recovery in FY21 resulted in an earnings upgrade in February 2021 and June 2021.  As 
outlined above the Aventus Group achieved a FFO for the year ended 30 June 2021 of 19.4 cents per 
security representing an increase of 7.1% on the prior year.  This outstanding performance on FFO 
growth resulted in a stretch payment for the first time in 5 years. 
 
In terms of Total Shareholder Return (TSR) the Aventus security price increased 53.4% during FY21 
compared to the increase in the ASX 200 A-REIT Index of 33.2%. For the quarter ended 31 March 
2021 the directors declared an elevated distribution of 4.90 cents per security which was 0.70 cents 
per security or 17% higher than the distribution declared for the quarter ended 31 December 2020.  
This elevated payout in the quarter accounted for the lower payout ratio in the first half of the financial 
year. 
 
Consequently, the FY21 KPIs achieved resulted in 85% being granted, with an additional 46% being 
achieved for the FFO growth outperformance.  With the stretch achievement, the final EIS outcome 
was 131% of the FY21 award. 
 
Given the extraordinary performance of the company the CEO elected to forgo $100,000 of his FY21 
EIS to allocate to an employee bonus pool. 
 
COVID-19 and remuneration 
With the strong recovery across the business in FY21 the voluntary COVID-19 related reductions to 
remuneration (including Directors) implemented for the period 1 April 2020 to 30 June 2020 were no 
longer applied in FY21.  
 
Going forward 
For FY22, KMP had the first remuneration review in 2 years and will be entitled to a 5% increase on 
contracted remuneration amounts, plus 0.5% for superannuation contribution guarantee, taking into 
consideration the growth of the business and individual performance.  Further details of these 
increases will be provided in the FY22 Remuneration Report. 
 
The Committee will continue to regularly review our remuneration policies with input from 
securityholders and proxy advisors.  This allows for full consultation in line with our desire to align 
shareholder interests and incentivising our KMPs and the broader Aventus team to maintain our 
strong culture. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Robyn Stubbs 
Chair, People, Culture & Remuneration Committee 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

B. Governance and remuneration strategy 

Committee members 

The Committee consists of the following non-executive directors:  
 

• Robyn Stubbs (Chair) 
• Bruce Carter 
• Ray Itaoui 

 
 
In accordance with the Committee’s charter the Committee may only consist of non-executive 
directors, a majority of independent directors, an independent chair (who is not chair of the board) and 
a minimum of 3 members of the board. 
 

Remuneration governance framework 

Key responsibilities of the board of directors and the Committee are outlined as follows: 
 

  

  

Board of directors • Ensuring the remuneration framework is aligned with the Aventus Group’s 
purpose, core values and securityholders. 

• Setting and overseeing the implementation of remuneration policy. 

  

Committee • Review and recommend to the board of directors: 
a) remuneration packages for the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and senior 

management including participation in the EIS; 
b) fees for non-executive directors including committee fees; and 
c) policies and procedures relating to people and remuneration to create a 

high-performance culture. 
• Determine performance targets, executive achievement and outcomes. 
• Oversee succession planning and nomination processes for the CEO and 

senior management. 
• Engage with external remuneration consultants where necessary. 

 
A copy of the Committee’s charter is available on the Aventus Group website.  
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Remuneration report (continued) 

B. Governance and remuneration strategy (continued) 

Remuneration strategy 

   

  

Remuneration 
strategy 

To attract and retain executives with the capability and experience to deliver on our 
business strategies and achieve sustainable returns for securityholders. 

  

Remuneration 
principles 

The remuneration strategy is underpinned by the following remuneration principles: 

  

 
Alignment to 
performance 

To reward executives for performance which is aligned 
with our business strategies. 
 

 
Culture To align remuneration with a high-performance culture. 

 

 

Market competitive To ensure remuneration is market competitive in terms of 
quantum, mix and design to support the attraction and 
retention of executives.   
 
Remuneration comprises fixed and variable components. 
 

 
Sustainable To balance financial and non-financial priorities of the 

Aventus Group. 
 

 

Simple and 
transparent 

The remuneration framework and strategy should be 
simple, transparent and easy to understand for executives 
and securityholders. 
 

 
The remuneration strategy focuses on short-term and long-term performance by setting mutually agreed annual 
KPI targets and delivering a material proportion of variable remuneration in equity which will be subject to vesting 
conditions over 2, 3, and 4 years. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

B. Governance and remuneration strategy (continued) 

Remuneration strategy (continued) 

Executive remuneration 
components 

Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration 

   

Purpose and alignment To attract and retain executives with the 
capability and experience to deliver on 
business strategies. 

To reward annual performance against 
mutually agreed annual KPI targets and 
encourage sustainable long-term value 
creation for securityholders. 
 

Performance measures and 
link to performance 

Role specific accountability that drives 
a high-performance culture and 
execution of business strategy. 
 

Annual financial and non-financial KPIs 
for executives. 

Delivery Competitive market based fixed 
remuneration. 

Executive incentive scheme (EIS) 
comprising:  
• 50% cash award; and 
• 50% deferred stapled securities 

subject to vesting conditions over 
2, 3 and 4 years. 

 

C. Key management personnel (KMP) 

KMP for the year ended 30 June 2021 were as follows: 
 

Name Position 

  

Independent non-executive directors  

Bruce Carter Chair 

Kieran Pryke Director 

Robyn Stubbs Director 

Ray Itaoui Director 

  

Executive director  

Darren Holland Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

  

Senior Executive  

Lawrence Wong Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
 
KMP are those persons who, directly or indirectly, have authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the major activities of the Aventus Group.  There have been no changes to 
KMP subsequent to balance date.   
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Remuneration report (continued) 

D. Overview of executive remuneration  

  

  

How are executives 
remunerated? 

Executives are remunerated via fixed and variable remuneration components. 

Variable remuneration for executives will be delivered via the EIS, where 
participants are eligible to achieve annual cash awards and grants of stapled 
securities vesting over 2, 3 and 4 years.   

The Committee will review the EIS on an annual basis to ensure the remuneration 
arrangements are driving business performance and are aligned with the long-term 
strategy of the Aventus Group. 

The Committee will, as required, obtain advice from external remuneration advisers 
on aspects of the Aventus Group’s remuneration policies and structures. 

  

What is total annual 
fixed remuneration 
comprised of? 

Total annual fixed remuneration (TFR) consists of base salary, employer 
superannuation contributions and salary sacrifice benefits.  TFR is set based on the 
role, responsibilities, experience and qualifications of the individual, and with 
reference to market data of comparable companies. An employee’s TFR will 
generally be reviewed on an annual basis. 

  

What is variable 
remuneration 
comprised of? 

Variable remuneration consists of an annual opportunity to receive a short-term 
variable cash award and a grant of restricted stapled securities under the EIS, 
awarded to the extent that certain mutually agreed KPI targets are achieved for the 
financial year. 

The diagram below provides an illustration of how the EIS operates for a single 
performance period of one year, assuming all KPIs are achieved.  The Aventus 
Group intends to offer EIS awards annually. As the EIS progresses, the vesting of 
restricted equity awards will become cumulative:   
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Remuneration report (continued) 

D. Overview of executive remuneration (continued) 

  

  

Who is eligible to 
participate in the EIS? 

Offers are made at the board’s discretion to executives and other employees of the 
Aventus Group.  Details of CEO and CFO entitlements and KPIs are set out below. 
Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in the EIS.	

  

How are awards 
under the EIS 
delivered to 
participants? 

Mutually agreed KPI targets must be satisfied over a respective performance 
period.  To the extent the KPIs are satisfied, EIS awards will be delivered 50% in 
cash and 50% in restricted stapled securities. 
 
The cash award will be paid following the end of the performance period.   
 
The restricted stapled securities will be granted following the end of the 
performance period, and will vest in three tranches following release of full-year 
results for the first, second and third financial years immediately following the 
performance period: 
 

• 33.33% of the restricted stapled securities will vest approximately two 
years after the start of the performance period; 

• 33.33% of the restricted stapled securities will vest approximately three 
years after the start of the performance period; and 

• 33.34% of the restricted stapled securities will vest approximately four 
years after the start of the performance period; 

 
providing the participant remains an employee until the relevant vesting date and 
the board has not determined that a “clawback” of any restricted stapled securities 
is required.  
 
The board may claw back restricted stapled securities granted under the EIS in 
certain circumstances (e.g. gross misconduct, material misstatement, fraud or 
where in the board’s opinion performance that led to cash payments / equity being 
awarded is later determined to have been incorrectly measured or not sustained). 
 
The number of restricted stapled securities to be allocated to each participant will 
be determined by dividing the dollar value of the equity component of the EIS by 
the volume weighted average price of stapled securities, measured over the ten 
trading days following release of full-year results for the performance period’s 
financial year.  
 
Restricted stapled securities relating to Darren Holland must also be approved by 
securities holders at the annual general meeting. 
 
Restricted stapled securities will be held in an employee share trust on behalf of 
participants until the relevant vesting date.   

  

What is the 
acquisition price paid 
by executives for 
restricted stapled 
securities? 

Restricted stapled securities under the EIS are issued for nil consideration. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

D. Overview of executive remuneration (continued) 

  

  

What are the key 
performance 
indicators of the EIS 
and why were they 
chosen? 

KPIs were designed to create alignment to the Aventus Group’s financial 
performance, both short term and long term, and drive a strong culture.  KPIs have 
both financial and non-financial measures, take into account the relative size and 
nature of the business and are designed to be simple and transparent. 
 
KPIs are documented for each EIS participant in relation to each performance 
period, including: 
 
• the percentage weighting for each KPI;	
• threshold and stretch performance hurdles; and	
• the maximum opportunity that may be delivered in cash and equity, expressed 

as a percentage of TFR.	
 
EIS awards for the year ended 30 June 2021 were subject to the following financial 
and non-financial KPIs tested over the performance period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 
2021.   
	

 
 

KPI  

  

Funds From 
Operations (FFO) 

FFO is a calculation of the Aventus Group’s underlying and recurring earnings from 
its operations.  FFO is calculated by adjusting statutory net profit after tax for 
certain non-cash items, unrealised revenue and expenses and non-recurring 
amounts outside core operating activities.  FFO has been determined in 
accordance with best practice guidelines published by the Property Council of 
Australia. 
 
FFO KPI hurdles for the year ended 30 June 2021 are as follows: 
 

a) FFO growth of 2.7% (18.65 cents per security) - EIS participants are 
entitled to receive 100% of their allocated FFO KPI.  The FFO growth 
target of 2.7% was lower than the 3% to 4% target for the year ended 30 
June 2020 due to the uncertainty created by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

b) FFO growth of 2.7% to 3.3% (18.65 to 18.75 cents per security) - EIS 
participants are entitled to receive an additional 20% of their allocated 
FFO KPI. 

c) FFO growth above 3.3% (18.75 cents per security) - EIS participants are 
entitled to receive an additional 15% of their allocated FFO KPI for every 
0.5% FFO growth achieved above 3.3%. 

 
Items b) and c) above are FFO stretch targets. 
 
FFO aligns executives with investor expectations for earnings growth. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

D. Overview of executive remuneration (continued) 

KPI  

  

Relative Total 
Shareholder Return  

(RTSR) 

The RTSR KPI requires the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of Aventus over the 
performance period to outperform the ASX 200 A-REIT accumulation index (Index) 
over the same period.   
 
TSR measures the change in the price of Aventus securities with distributions and 
dividends reinvested on the ex-dividend date with any franking credits ignored. 
 
Following the end of the financial year the Aventus TSR over the performance 
period will be calculated and compared against the change in the Index.  The 
Aventus security price and the value of the Index at the start and end of the 
relevant financial year will be determined using a 10-day volume weighted average 
price. 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 EIS participants will be awarded 100% of their 
KPI if the Aventus TSR exceeds the change in the Index.  If the Aventus TSR does 
not exceed the change in the Index no KPI will be awarded. 
 
RTSR measures performance against industry peers and aligns executives with 
returns delivered to investors for the respective performance period.  

  

Cost management The cost management KPI is an estimate of the cost of doing business.  It is 
calculated as a ratio of property and corporate overhead and team costs over rental 
cashflows received from investment properties plus fees received from externally 
managed properties. 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 EIS participants are entitled to 100% their cost 
management KPI where the cost management ratio was equal to or below 26.5%. 
 
No cost management KPI will be awarded where the cost management ratio is 
above 26.5%.  
 
The cost management KPI aligns executives with running a cost-efficient platform.  

  

People and culture The people and culture KPI measures employee attrition and engagement. 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 EIS participants are entitled to  

• 100% of their attrition KPI where attrition for the year was less than 30%. 
• 100% of their engagement KPI where the engagement index was above 

75%. 
 
No attrition or engagement KPIs are awarded if the above targets were not met. 
 
People and culture KPIs aim to create a high-performance culture, retain 
executives and staff who can deliver on strategy and promote team engagement 
and satisfaction.  
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Remuneration report (continued) 

D. Overview of executive remuneration (continued) 

KPI  

  

Customer feedback The customer feedback KPI is based on retailer and shopper metrics.  
 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 the KPI is only awarded where there was an 
improvement in retailer and shopper Net Promoter Scores (NPS) for the period 1 
January 2021 to 30 June 2021. 
 
The customer feedback KPI aims to align executives with retailers and shoppers. 
 

 
The following KPIs and weightings applied to the CEO and CFO for the year ended 30 June 2021: 
 
Role Financial KPIs Non-financial KPIs Total 

 FFO -1 RTSR Cost control People &  
culture 

Customer 
feedback 

 

CEO 35% 30% 10% 20% 5% 100% 

CFO 35% 30% 10% 20% 5% 100% 

 
1- FFO weightings exclude FFO stretch targets. 

 
No EIS award is granted unless either FFO of the Aventus Group or the RTSR KPIs are met. 
 
Performance of executive KMP against mutually agreed KPI targets for the year ended 30 June 2021 
are disclosed in section E below. 
 
 

  

  

Are distributions and 
dividends paid during 
the vesting period? 

Participants who have been granted restricted stapled securities will be entitled to 
dividends and distributions during the vesting period on the same basis as other 
securityholders.   

  

What happens on 
cessation of 
employment? 

Unless the board determines otherwise:  
• if a participant’s employment is terminated for cause, misconduct, or gives 

notice of their resignation, they will not be entitled to receive any EIS award for 
the performance period in which they cease employment and any unvested 
restricted stapled securities will be forfeited; and  

• if a participant ceases employment for any other reason, the participant will be 
entitled to a pro-rated EIS award for the performance period in which they 
cease employment (based on performance achieved against the performance 
conditions and the time served during the performance period).  In this case 
the EIS award may be paid fully in cash (at the normal payment date).  Any 
restricted stapled securities granted will continue to be restricted until the 
original vesting dates.	
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Remuneration report (continued) 

D. Overview of executive remuneration (continued) 

  

  

What happens on 
change of control? 

Unless the board determines otherwise, restricted stapled securities will vest in full 
upon a change of control. 

  

Were there any 
changes to the EIS for 
the year ended 30 
June 2021? 

1. The board discretion KPI for KMP was replaced with a customer feedback KPI.  
The change was designed to place greater focus on enhancing relationships 
with retailers and shoppers. 

 
2. The following KPI weightings for KMP were amended: 

• FFO - KPI weighting was increased from 30% to 35%. 
• Cost control - KPI weighting was decreased from 15% to 10%. 

 
The changes were designed to place greater emphasis on earnings growth. 

 
3. The cost control KPI for the year ended 30 June 2021 was amended to include 

property expenses.  The change was to ensure the KPI covered both corporate 
and property costs.  As a result of the change the KPI hurdle increased to 
26.5% for the year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: 10.0%). 
 

4. The regretted attrition KPI, which measured voluntary attrition during the year 
ended 30 June 2020, was replaced with a KPI which measured all attrition for 
the year ending 30 June 2021.  The change was designed to place greater 
emphasis on building and retaining a high-performance team. 

 
5. Changes implemented in the prior year in response to the COVID-19 pandemic 

were discontinued.  These included executive KMP undertaking the following 
voluntary reductions in remuneration for the period 1 April 2020 to 30 June 
2020: 

• Darren Holland agreed to a 50% reduction of fixed remuneration; 
• Lawrence Wong agreed to a 30% reduction of fixed remuneration; 
• Other executives agreed to similar arrangements. 

 
The 50% cash component of the EIS was also reinstated. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

E. Remuneration outcomes 

Performance of executive KMP against mutually agreed KPI targets for the year ended 30 June 2021 
are summarised as follows: 
 

   Darren Holland Lawrence Wong 

 

Metric 

 

Target 

 

Actual 

KPI 
met 

KPI 
weighting 

 

KPI met 

KPI 
weighting 

Financial KPIs       

FFO FFO growth of 2.7% 7.1% growth -2 ü 35% ü 35% 

RTSR 33.2% 53.4% ü 30% ü 30% 

Cost control At or below 26.5% 26.1% ü 10% ü 10% 

Non-financial 
KPIs 

      

People and 
culture 

Total attrition < 30% 29.8% ü 10% ü 10% 

 Engagement index > 
75% 

72.5% X - X - 

Customer 
feedback 

Improvement of 
retailer and shopper 
metrics for 2H21 

Not achieved X - X - 

Sub-total 
achieved 

   85%  85% 

Financial 
stretch KPIs 

      

FFO stretch 
achieved 

FFO growth > 2.7% -1 7.1% growth -2 ü 46% ü 46% 

Total outcome    131%  131% 
 
1 – Executive KMP are entitled to receive an additional 20% of their allocated FFO KPI for FFO growth of between 2.7% to 

3.3%.  Additionally, executive KMP are entitled to receive an additional 15% of their allocated FFO KPI for every 0.5% FFO 
growth achieved above 3.3%. 

2 – Calculated on a base of 18.15 cents per security. 
 
Refer to section F below for a summary of variable remuneration (comprising cash bonus and 
restricted stapled securities) awarded and forfeited for each KMP. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

F. Performance based remuneration granted and forfeited during the year 

The table below shows for each KMP how much of their variable remuneration was awarded and how 
much were forfeited. 
 

KMP Year 
Variable 

remuneration 
$ -1 

Awarded 
$ 

Awarded 
% 

Forfeited 
$ 

Forfeited 
% 

FFO 
stretch 

awarded 
$ 

FFO 
stretch 

awarded 
% 

         

Darren 
Holland 

2021 746,750 634,738 85% 112,013 15% 346,489 -2 46% 

 2020 746,750 485,388 65% 261,363 35% - - 

         

Lawrence 
Wong 

2021 450,883 383,251 85% 67,632 15% 209,208 46% 

 2020 450,883 293,074 65% 157,809 35% - - 

 
1 – Balances exclude additional variable remuneration which may be derived from FFO stretch targets. 
2 – Darren Holland has chosen to forgo $100,000 of the total $346,489 awarded from achieving the FFO stretch component of 

his variable remuneration and allocate this money to a bonus pool for employees.  Accordingly, he will receive a reduced 
amount $246,489 for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

 

G. Contractual arrangements with executive KMP 

The table below outlines the annual contracted remuneration of executive KMP (including statutory 
superannuation).  Amounts disclosed for the year ended 30 June 2020 exclude voluntary reductions 
in fixed remuneration for the period 1 April 2020 to 30 June 2020 which are disclosed in section H. 

Role Year 

Total annual 

fixed 

remuneration 

Total variable 

Remuneration -1 

Remuneration 

amount 

paid in cash (fixed 

+ variable) -1 

Remuneration amount 

in restricted stapled 

securities (fixed + 

variable) -1 

Total remuneration 

(fixed + variable) -1 

CEO 2021 746,750 746,750 1,120,125 373,375 1,493,500 

 2020 746,750 746,750 746,750 746,750 1,493,500 

CFO 2021 450,883 450,883 676,324 225,441 901,765 

 2020 450,883 450,883 450,883 450,883 901,765 

 
1- Balances exclude additional variable remuneration which may be derived from FFO stretch targets. 

 
For the year ending 30 June 2022 executive KMP will be entitled to a 5.0% increase on contracted 
remuneration amounts for the year ended 30 June 2021 plus a 0.5% increase in superannuation.  
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Remuneration report (continued) 

G. Contractual arrangements with executive KMP (continued) 

Key terms and conditions of KMP employment agreements are summarised as follows: 
 

Darren Holland Executive director and CEO 

  

Remuneration Mr Holland is entitled to receive annual fixed remuneration (including 
superannuation) of $746,750, and an EIS opportunity of $746,750. 

  

Term of 
employment 

Mr Holland’s current employment contract with Aventus Services Pty Ltd is for an 
initial 3-year period commencing 1 October 2018.  The contract will automatically 
extend for 6 months if Aventus Services Pty Ltd does not provide Mr Holland with 
notice that it intends to terminate the contract at least one month before end of the 3-
year period (and any subsequent 6-month period). 

  

Termination Aventus Services Pty Ltd or Mr Holland may terminate employment on 6 months 
notice (or payment in lieu of notice).  

Any payment in lieu of notice is calculated on total fixed remuneration (inclusive of 
superannuation). If Mr Holland’s employment is terminated by Aventus Services Pty 
Ltd otherwise than for cause:  

• within two years of the initial 3-year term - Aventus Services Pty Ltd will 
provide a termination payment equal to 12 months salary (including 
superannuation) (less any actual notice or payment in lieu of notice); 

• after two years of the initial 3-year term but before 1 April 2021 - Aventus 
Services Pty Ltd will provide a termination payment equal to the amount 
payable to the end of the initial term (less any actual notice or payment in 
lieu of notice); 

• after 1 April 2021 - Aventus Services Pty Ltd will provide a termination 
payment equal to 6 months salary (including superannuation) (less any 
actual notice or payment in lieu of notice). 

Any incentive payments will be governed by the applicable EIS plan rules, as 
summarised above. 

The contract contains a provision stating that any termination benefits will not exceed 
the termination benefits cap calculated in accordance with Part 2D.2 of the 
Corporations Act. 

  

Post-employment 
restraints 

Mr Holland is restrained from soliciting suppliers, customers and staff for a maximum 
of 12 months after employment ends. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

G. Contractual arrangements with executive KMP (continued) 

Lawrence Wong CFO 

  

Remuneration Mr Wong is entitled to receive annual fixed remuneration (including superannuation) 
of $450,883 and have an EIS opportunity of $450,883.   

  

Term of 
employment 

Mr Wong is a permanent employee of Aventus Services Pty Ltd and his employment 
has no fixed term.  

  

Termination Aventus Services Pty Ltd or Mr Wong may terminate employment on three months 
notice (or payment in lieu of notice). Any payment in lieu of notice is calculated on 
total fixed remuneration (inclusive of superannuation). Any incentive payments will be 
governed by the applicable EIS plan rules, as summarised above. 

If Mr Wong ceases employment for redundancy, he is entitled to the higher of a 
redundancy payment calculated in accordance with the National Employment 
Standards, or two weeks salary per completed year of service plus a pro-rata amount 
for any partially completed year. 

  

Post-employment 
restraints 

Mr Wong is restrained from soliciting suppliers, customers and staff for a maximum of 
12 months after employment ends. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

I. Actual remuneration received by executive KMP 

The following table outlines the actual benefits received by each KMP during the year ended 30 June 
2021 and 2020.   
 

Executive KMP Year 

Fixed 

remuneration 
$ 

EIS cash 

component 
$ 

Vested 

stapled 

securities 
$ 

Total 
$ 

      

Darren Holland 2021 719,284 - 306,124 1,025,408 

 2020 693,018 190,312 - 883,330 

      

Lawrence Wong 2021 451,483 - 451,864 903,347 

 2020 451,283 114,910 267,219 833,412 
 
 
The amounts disclosed above are not the same as the remuneration expensed to the income 
statement in accordance with the accounting standards.  The directors believe remuneration received 
is more relevant to the users of the financial statements for the following reasons: 
 
> The statutory remuneration expense is based on historic cost and does not reflect the value of the 

stapled securities when they are actually received by the KMPs. 
> The statutory remuneration expense shows benefits before they are actually received by the 

KMPs.   
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Remuneration report (continued) 

J. Restricted stapled securities 

A reconciliation of the movement in restricted stapled securities granted during the financial year is 
outlined as follows: 
 

KMP Year 

Balance at 

the beginning 

of the 

financial year Issued Vested 

Balance at 

the end of the 

financial year 

Value yet to 

vest 
$ 

       
Darren Holland 2021 72,088 207,430 -1 (127,742) 151,776 369,574 
 2020 - 72,088 -2 - 72,088 190,312 
       
Lawrence Wong 2021 155,803 125,080 -1 (189,325) 91,558 222,951 
 2020 224,554 43,526 -2 (112,277) 155,803 382,128 

 
1 – Securities were issued at a price of $2.34 per security.  
2 – Securities were issued at a price of $2.64 per security. 
 
 

K. Overview of non-executive director remuneration 

Non-executive directors are entitled to the following annual fees for chairing or participating on the board or 
committees of AHL and ACL.  Fees are inclusive of statutory superannuation. 
 

 Year 
Board 

$ 

Audit, risk and 

compliance 

committee 
$ 

People, culture 

& remuneration 

committee 
$ 

Chair 2021 $185,400 $10,300 $10,300 

 2020 $185,400 $10,300 $10,300 

     

Member 2021 $92,700 $5,150 $5,150 

 2020 $92,700 $5,150 $5,150 

 
The chair of the board is not entitled to receive an additional fee for participation on committees.   
 
Fees are reviewed annually by the board taking into account comparable roles and market data 
provided by independent remuneration advisors.   
 
Non-executive directors are not entitled to participate in any variable remuneration schemes or 
receive any performance-based remuneration entitlements. 
 
The AHL constitution provides a limit of $1 million (or such greater amount as may be fixed by AHL in 
a general meeting) on the total aggregate remuneration which may be provided to all non-executive 
directors of AHL in any financial year for their services as directors.  
 
For the year ending 30 June 2022 board and committee fees for non-executive directors will increase 
by 4% plus 0.5% for the statutory increase in superannuation. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

K. Overview of non-executive director remuneration (continued) 

Actual remuneration derived by non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2021 is 
summarised below. 
 

Name 

Board
 -1 

$ 

Audit, risk 

and 

compliance 

committee
 -1 

$ 

People, 

culture & 

remuneration 

committee
 -1 

$ 

Super 
$ 

Total 
$ 

      

Bruce Carter 185,400 - - - 185,400 

Kieran Pryke 84,658 9,406 - 8,936 103,000 

Robyn 
Stubbs 

84,658 4,703 9,406 9,383 108,150 

Ray Itaoui -2 92,700 - 5,150 - 97,850 

      

Total 447,416 14,109 14,556 18,319 494,400 
 
1 - Short-term benefits as per Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Item 6 

2 – Board and committee fees are paid to a controlled entity of Ray Itaoui. 
 
Actual remuneration derived by non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2020 is 
summarised below.  In response to the COVID-19 pandemic non-executive directors undertook the 
following voluntary reductions in remuneration for the period 1 April 2020 to 30 June 2020: 
 

• Bruce Carter, Robyn Stubbs, Kieran Pryke – 60% of director fees;  
• Brett Blundy– 100% of director fees (from 1 April 2020 to his resignation on 12 May 2020); 

and 
• Ray Itaoui – 100% of director fees (from his appointment on 29 May 2020 to 30 June 2020). 

 

Name 

Board
 -1 

$ 

Audit, risk 

and 

compliance 

committee
 -1 

$ 

People, 

culture & 

remuneration 

committee
 -1 

$ 

Super 
$ 

Voluntary 

reduction 
$ 

Total 
$ 

       

Bruce Carter 177,358 - - 8,042 (27,810) 157,590 

Kieran Pryke 84,658 9,406 - 8,936 (15,450) 87,550 

Robyn Stubbs 84,658 4,703 9,406 9,383 (16,222) 91,928 

Brett Blundy 80,240 - 4,458 - (11,311) 73,387 

Ray Itaoui 8,472 - 471 - (8,943) - 

       

Total 435,386 14,109 14,335 26,361 (79,736) 410,455 
 
1 - Short-term benefits as per Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Item 6 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

L. Additional information 

Stapled security holdings of KMP 

 
Balance at 
1 July 2020 

Received on 

vesting of 

restricted 

securities 

Other 

changes 

Balance at 
30 June 2021 

     

Bruce Carter 1,189,312 - - 1,189,312 

Kieran Pryke 70,873 - - 70,873 

Robyn Stubbs 41,364 - - 41,364 

Ray Itaoui 31,071,484 - - 31,071,484 

Darren Holland (CEO) 7,530,177 127,742 151,776 7,809,695 

Lawrence Wong (CFO) 482,045 189,325 - 671,370 
 
 

 
Balance at 
1 July 2019 

Received on 

vesting of 

restricted 

securities 

Other 

changes 

Balance at 
30 June 2020 

     

Bruce Carter 1,189,312 - - 1,189,312 

Kieran Pryke 70,873 - - 70,873 

Robyn Stubbs 41,364 - - 41,364 

Ray Itaoui 30,636,484 - 435,000 31,071,484 

Darren Holland (CEO) 12,330,177 - (4,800,000) 7,530,177 

Lawrence Wong (CFO) 369,768 112,277 - 482,045 
 
 

Option holdings of KMP 

There were no options over stapled securities held by KMP during the financial year or at 30 June 
2021 or 2020. 
 
 

Loans to KMP and their related parties 

There were no loans to KMP or their related parties during the financial year or at 30 June 2021 or 
2020. 
 
 

Reliance on external remuneration consultants 

No remuneration was paid to any external remuneration consultants during the current financial or 
prior financial year. 
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Meetings of directors 

The number of meetings of the board of directors and each board committee held during the year 
ended 30 June 2021 and the numbers of meetings attended by each director are as follows:  
 

 Board meeting 

Audit, risk & 

compliance 

committee 

People, culture & 

remuneration 

committee 

 Attended Eligible to 
attend 

Attended Eligible to 
attend 

Attended Eligible to 
attend 

Bruce Carter 10 10 3 3 3 3 

Kieran Pryke 10 10 3 3 N/A N/A 

Robyn Stubbs 10 10 3 3 3 3 

Darren Holland 10 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Ray Itaoui 10 10 N/A N/A 3 3 

 
 

ACL’s interests in ARPF 

ACL did not hold any securities in the ARPF at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 

Fees paid to ACL and associates 

Fees paid to ACL and associates during the financial year are disclosed in note 35(d) to the financial 
statements. 
 
 

Interests in ARPF 

The number of securities in ARPF issued during the financial year and the total number of securities 
on issue at 30 June 2021 and 2020 are disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements. 
 
 

Securities under option 

No options over unissued securities were granted during the financial year.  There were no securities 
under option at the date of this report, 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 
 

Environmental regulations 

The Aventus Group’s development activities are subject to development approvals and environmental 
regulations under Commonwealth, state and local government legislation.  To the best of the 
directors’ knowledge, development activities during the financial year have been undertaken in 
compliance with development approvals and applicable environmental regulations. 
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Events occurring after the reporting period 

Disposal of MacGregor Home 

On 16 August 2021 the Aventus Group settled the sale of its MacGregor Home property.  Refer to 
note 18 to the financial statements for further information. 
 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

Despite the Aventus Group performing strongly during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 
uncertainty exists subsequent to balance date due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.  Directors 
and management are monitoring key developments including government restrictions and relief 
packages and will continue to mitigate the impacts of the pandemic on the business and our people 
where possible.  At the date of the financial report the future impact of the pandemic on the Aventus 
Group is unknown.  In the event the impacts of the pandemic are more severe or prolonged than 
anticipated this may have an adverse impact on the financial position and performance of the Aventus 
Group and AHL Group in future financial periods. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial 
year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Aventus Group or 
AHL Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Aventus Group or AHL Group 
in future financial years.  
 

Insurance of officers and indemnities 

During the financial year, the Aventus Group and AHL paid a premium to insure the directors, 
company secretaries and officers against a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive 
officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.  So long as officers act in 
accordance with ARPF’s and AHL’s constitution and the law, the officers remain indemnified out of 
the assets of the Aventus Group and AHL Group against losses incurred while acting on behalf of the 
Aventus Group and AHL Group. 
 
To the extent permitted by law, ACL and AHL have agreed to indemnify the auditors of the Aventus 
Group, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms of its audit engagement agreement, against claims by 
third parties arising from the audit except for any loss in respect of any matters which are finally 
determined to have resulted from Ernst & Young’s negligent, wrongful or wilful acts or omissions.  No 
payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year. 
 
The Aventus Group and AHL Group have not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial 
period, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor. 
 

Audit and non-audit services 

Details of amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young for audit and non-audit services during the 
financial year are disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements. 
 
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services did not compromise the auditor’s 
independence requirements under the Corporations Act 2001 as: 
 
> all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit, risk and compliance committee to ensure 

they do not impact on the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and 
> none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out 

in Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants. 

 
The audit was put out to tender in 2019 with Ernst & Young being reappointed as auditor. 
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Events occurring after the reporting period 

Disposal of MacGregor Home 

On 16 August 2021 the Aventus Group settled the sale of its MacGregor Home property.  Refer to 
note 18 to the financial statements for further information. 
 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

Despite the Aventus Group performing strongly during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 
uncertainty exists subsequent to balance date due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.  Directors 
and management are monitoring key developments including government restrictions and relief 
packages and will continue to mitigate the impacts of the pandemic on the business and our people 
where possible.  At the date of the financial report the future impact of the pandemic on the Aventus 
Group is unknown.  In the event the impacts of the pandemic are more severe or prolonged than 
anticipated this may have an adverse impact on the financial position and performance of the Aventus 
Group and AHL Group in future financial periods. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial 
year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Aventus Group or 
AHL Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Aventus Group or AHL Group 
in future financial years.  
 

Insurance of officers and indemnities 

During the financial year, the Aventus Group and AHL paid a premium to insure the directors, 
company secretaries and officers against a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive 
officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.  So long as officers act in 
accordance with ARPF’s and AHL’s constitution and the law, the officers remain indemnified out of 
the assets of the Aventus Group and AHL Group against losses incurred while acting on behalf of the 
Aventus Group and AHL Group. 
 
To the extent permitted by law, ACL and AHL have agreed to indemnify the auditors of the Aventus 
Group, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms of its audit engagement agreement, against claims by 
third parties arising from the audit except for any loss in respect of any matters which are finally 
determined to have resulted from Ernst & Young’s negligent, wrongful or wilful acts or omissions.  No 
payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year. 
 
The Aventus Group and AHL Group have not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial 
period, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor. 
 

Audit and non-audit services 

Details of amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young for audit and non-audit services during the 
financial year are disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements. 
 
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services did not compromise the auditor’s 
independence requirements under the Corporations Act 2001 as: 
 
> all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit, risk and compliance committee to ensure 

they do not impact on the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and 
> none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out 

in Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants. 

 
The audit was put out to tender in 2019 with Ernst & Young being reappointed as auditor. 
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Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 is set out on page 35.

Rounding of amounts

In accordance with ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191 amounts disclosed in the directors’ report 
and the financial report for the Aventus Group have been rounded off to the nearest hundred 
thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest thousand dollars or nearest dollar.  AHL Group 
balances have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases to the nearest dollar.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors of ACL and AHL made pursuant to 
s298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Darren Holland Bruce Carter
Executive Director Chair

Sydney Sydney
18 August 2021 18 August 2021
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

  

35 
 

Ernst & Young  
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000  Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Aventus Capital Limited as 
the Responsible Entity of Aventus Retail Property Fund and the Directors of Aventus 
Holdings Limited 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Aventus Group and Aventus Holdings Limited for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been: 
 

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and   

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
This declaration is in respect of Aventus Retail Property Fund and Aventus Holdings Limited and the 
entities they controlled during the financial year. 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
  
St Elmo Wilken 
Partner 
18 August 2021 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
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 Notes 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 

$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 

$m 

AHL 
Group 

2021 

$’000 

AHL 
Group 

2020 

$’000 

      
Revenue      
Property revenue  171.5 167.5 - - 
Revenue from services 5 1.7 1.8 18,765 18,059 
Other revenue  0.8 0.6 653 689 
  174.0 169.9 19,418 18,748 
Other income      

Net gain/(loss) on movement in fair value 
of investment properties 

  
297.3 

 
(37.3) 

 
- 

 
- 

Share of net profits from associates  2.4 - - - 
      
Total revenue and other income  473.7 132.6 19,418 18,748 
      
      
Expenses      
Property expenses  (32.2) (35.0) - - 
Finance costs 6 (13.4) (26.3) (2,642) (3,426) 
Employee benefits expense 7 (10.8) (8.9) (11,703) (10,159) 
Depreciation  (1.1) (1.1) (921) (920) 
Other expenses  (6.8) (4.4) (5,982) (3,286) 
      
Total expenses  (64.3) (75.7) (21,248) (17,791) 
      
Profit/(loss) before income tax  409.4 56.9 (1,830) 957 
      
Income tax (expense)/benefit 8(a) 0.3 (0.2) 289 (190) 
      
Profit/(loss) for the year  409.7 56.7 (1,541) 767 
      
Other comprehensive income for the 

year net of tax 

  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

      
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for 

the year 

  
409.7 

 
56.7 

 
(1,541) 

 
767 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

37		
 

 Notes 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 

$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 

$m 

AHL 
Group 

2021 

$’000 

AHL 
Group 

2020 

$’000 

      
Profit/(loss) for the year and total 

comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 

attributable to: 

     

ARPF  424.4 67.4 - - 
AHL  (14.7) (10.7) (1,541) 767 
      
Total  409.7 56.7 (1,541) 767 
      
Earnings per security      
Basic and diluted earnings per security 
attributable to the securityholders (cents per 
security) 

 
 

9 

 
 

72.5 

 
 

10.3 

 
 

(0.3) 

 
 

0.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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 Notes 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 

$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 

$m 

AHL 
Group 

2021 

$’000 

AHL 
Group 

2020 

$’000 

      
Profit/(loss) for the year and total 

comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 

attributable to: 

     

ARPF  424.4 67.4 - - 
AHL  (14.7) (10.7) (1,541) 767 
      
Total  409.7 56.7 (1,541) 767 
      
Earnings per security      
Basic and diluted earnings per security 
attributable to the securityholders (cents per 
security) 

 
 

9 

 
 

72.5 

 
 

10.3 

 
 

(0.3) 

 
 

0.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
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 Notes 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL 
Group 

June 2021 

$’000 

AHL 
Group 

June 2020 

$’000 

      
Assets      

Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 10 7.3 39.2 6,410 3,929 
Trade and other receivables 11 2.8 6.2 1,663 2,113 
Rental guarantees 12 1.9 2.1 - - 
Current tax assets 13 - 0.2 - 202 
Other assets 14 3.4 4.4 274 143 
Investment properties classified as 
held for sale 

 
18 

 
42.2 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

      
Total current assets  57.6 52.1 8,347 6,387 
      
Non-current assets      
Plant and equipment 15 0.3 0.1 208 145 
Right-of-use asset 16 1.9 2.9 1,146 2,005 
Investments in associates 17 7.6 5.8 - - 
Rental guarantees 12 - 1.0 - - 
Investment properties 18 2,225.6 1,930.3 - - 
Intangible assets 19 144.2 144.2 186,002 186,002 
Deferred tax assets 28 0.2 - - - 
      
Total non-current assets  2,379.8 2,084.3 187,356 188,152 
      
Total assets  2,437.4 2,136.4 195,703 194,539 
      
Liabilities      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 20 (25.3) (23.1) (5,658) (3,249) 
Distributions payable 21 (24.9) (13.1) - - 
Lease liabilities 22 (1.1) (1.0) (888) (834) 
Derivative financial instruments 23 (1.1) (1.8) - - 
Current tax liabilities 24 (0.2) - (191) - 
Provision for employee benefits 25 (0.5) (0.4) (532) (379) 
Deferred revenue 26 (3.1) (4.0) - - 
      
Total current liabilities  (56.2) (43.4) (7,269) (4,462) 
      
Non-current liabilities      
Borrowings 27 (691.8) (735.0) (84,941) (84,941) 
Lease liabilities 22 (0.9) (2.0) (300) (1,209) 
Derivative financial instruments 23 (7.2) (15.0) - - 
Deferred tax liabilities 28 - (0.3) (41,560) (42,075) 
Provision for employee benefits 25 (0.2) (0.2) (180) (222) 
      
Total non-current liabilities  (700.1) (752.5) (126,981) (128,447) 
      
Total liabilities  (756.3) (795.9) (134,250) (132,909) 
      
Net assets  1,681.1 1,340.5 61,453 61,630 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2021 
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 Notes 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL 
Group 

June 2021 

$’000 

AHL 
Group 

June 2020 

$’000 

      
Equity      
Contributed equity 29 1,147.7 1,118.2 - - 
Reserves 30 (0.1) 0.9 - - 
Retained earnings 31 559.9 234.4 - - 
      
Total equity attributable to ARPF  1,707.5 1,353.5 - - 
      
Contributed equity 29 8.3 6.9 62,693 61,283 
Reserves 30 - 0.1 (4) 42 
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings 31 (34.7) (20.0) (1,236) 305 
      
Total equity attributable to AHL  (26.4) (13.0) 61,453 61,630 
      
Total equity  1,681.1 1,340.5 61,453 61,630 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 Notes 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL 
Group 

June 2021 

$’000 

AHL 
Group 

June 2020 

$’000 

      
Equity      
Contributed equity 29 1,147.7 1,118.2 - - 
Reserves 30 (0.1) 0.9 - - 
Retained earnings 31 559.9 234.4 - - 
      
Total equity attributable to ARPF  1,707.5 1,353.5 - - 
      
Contributed equity 29 8.3 6.9 62,693 61,283 
Reserves 30 - 0.1 (4) 42 
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings 31 (34.7) (20.0) (1,236) 305 
      
Total equity attributable to AHL  (26.4) (13.0) 61,453 61,630 
      
Total equity  1,681.1 1,340.5 61,453 61,630 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
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AHL Group 

Notes 

Contributed 
equity 
$’000  

Reserves 
$’000  

Retained 
earnings/ 

(accumulated 
losses) 
$’000  

Total 
equity 
$’000  

      
Balance at 1 July 2019  59,062 8 (462) 58,608 
      
Profit for the year  - - 767 767 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - 
      
Total comprehensive profit for the 
year 

  
- 

 
- 

 
767 

 
767 

      
Issue of securities net of transaction 
costs 29 

 
2,221 

 
(20) 

 
- 

 
2,201 

Security based payments 30 - 54 - 54 
Dividends paid or provided for  - - - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2020  61,283 42 305 61,630 
      
Balance at 1 July 2020  61,283 42 305 61,630 
      
Loss for the year  - - (1,541) (1,541) 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - 
      
Total comprehensive loss for the 
year 

  
- 

 
- 

 
(1,541) 

 
(1,541) 

      
Issue of securities net of transaction 
costs 29 

 
1,410 

 
(70) 

 
- 

 
1,340 

Security based payments 30 - 24 - 24 
Dividends paid or provided for  - - - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2021  62,693 (4) (1,236) 61,453 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 Notes 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL 
Group 

2021 
$’000 

AHL 
Group 

2020 
$’000 

      
Cash flows from operating activities      

Property revenue received  194.7 178.1 - - 
Receipts from services  1.6 1.8 21,092 18,639 
Other revenue received  0.8 0.6 53 758 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (63.7) (56.0) (15,528) (15,136) 
Finance costs paid  (19.7) (24.2) (1,969) (2,710) 
Income tax received/(paid)  0.2 (0.8) 167 (778) 
      
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from 
operating activities 

 
33(a) 

 
113.9 

 
99.5 

 
3,815 

 
773 

      
Cash flows from investing activities      
Payments for capital expenditure  (30.3) (40.1) - - 
Payment for plant and equipment  (0.4) (0.1) (125) (104) 
      
Payments for acquisition of development 
land 

  
(11.6) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary  - 36.4 - - 
Distributions from associates  0.6 0.2 - - 
Advances to related parties  - - - (7,050) 
Repayment of advances to related parties  - - - 5,647 
      
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from 
investing activities 

  
(41.7) 

 
(3.6) 

 
(125) 

 
(1,507) 

      
Cash flows from financing activities      
Proceeds from issue of securities  20.6 39.2 - - 
Security issue transaction costs  (0.1) (0.3) - - 
Proceeds from borrowings  321.9 84.5 7,490 - 
Repayment of borrowings  (365.4) (121.5) (7,844) - 
Payment of debt establishment costs  (2.0) (0.4) - - 
Distributions paid  (78.3) (65.3) - - 
Principal elements of lease payments  (0.8) (1.0) (855) (821) 
      
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from 
financing activities 

  
(104.1) 

 
(64.8) 

 
(1,209) 

 
(821) 

      
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 

  
(31.9) 

 
31.1 

 
2,481 

 
(1,555) 

      
Cash at the beginning of the financial 
year 

  
39.2 

 
8.1 

 
3,929 

 
5,484 

      
Cash at the end of the financial year 10 7.3 39.2 6,410 3,929 

 
 
 
 
The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. Basis of preparation 

a) The Aventus Group 

The Aventus Group is a stapled entity comprising the Aventus Retail Property Fund (ARPF) (ARSN 
608 000 764) and its controlled entities (the ARPF Group) and Aventus Holdings Limited (AHL) (ACN 
627 640 180) and its controlled entities (the AHL Group).  For financial reporting purposes ARPF has 
been deemed the parent entity of the Aventus Group.  The consolidated financial statements of the 
Aventus Group comprise ARPF and its controlled entities which includes AHL.   
 
The stapled securities of the Aventus Group comprise one unit in ARPF and one share in AHL.  
Securities of ARPF and AHL were stapled on 1 October 2018.  Stapled securities cannot be traded or 
dealt with separately.  ARPF and AHL remain separate legal entities in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001.   
 
ARPF and AHL are incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  The register office of both entities is 
Level 33, Governor Macquarie Tower, 1 Farrer Place, Sydney, NSW, 2000. 
 
 
b) Statement of compliance 
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with ARPF’s and 
AHL’s constitution, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.  The Aventus Group and AHL Group are 
for-profit entities for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Aventus Group and AHL Group also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 18 August 2021. 
 
 
c) Comparative information 

Where necessary, comparative information has been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation in the current year. 
 
 
d) Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following: 
 

• financial assets and derivative financial instruments measured at fair value; and 
• investment properties measured at fair value.  

 
 
e) Rounding of amounts 

In accordance with ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191 amounts disclosed in the directors’ report 
and the financial report for the Aventus Group have been rounded off to the nearest hundred 
thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest thousand dollars or nearest dollar.   
 
AHL Group balances have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases to the 
nearest dollar. 
 
 
f) Functional and presentation currency 
All amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements are expressed in Australian dollars 
which is the functional and presentation currency of the Aventus Group and AHL Group. 
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b) Statement of compliance 
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• financial assets and derivative financial instruments measured at fair value; and 
• investment properties measured at fair value.  

 
 
e) Rounding of amounts 

In accordance with ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191 amounts disclosed in the directors’ report 
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1. Basis of preparation (continued) 

g) New and amended accounting standards and interpretations adopted by the Aventus 
Group 

The Aventus Group and AHL Group have adopted all of the new and revised accounting standards 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operation and effective 
for the financial reporting period beginning 1 July 2020.  These new and amended accounting 
standards did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected 
to significantly affect the current or future periods. 
 
 
h) New and amended accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 
the year ended 30 June 2021 and have not been early adopted by the Aventus Group or AHL Group.  
These standards are not expected to have a material impact in the current or future reporting periods 
and on foreseeable future transactions. 
 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

This note provides a list of all significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements.  References to “Group” apply to the Aventus Group and the AHL 
Group unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy.  The accounting policies adopted are 
consistent with those of the previous financial year. 
 
a) Principles of consolidation 

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.  The Group controls an entity when the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.  Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases.  
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.  
 
Inter-entity transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group entities are 
eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.  
 
When the Group ceases to consolidate for an investment because of a loss of control any retained 
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in 
profit or loss.  
 
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.  This 
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

b) Business combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of 
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.  The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the: 
 

• fair values of the assets transferred  
• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business 
• equity interests issued by the Group 
• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and 
• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.  
 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired 
entity, and acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.  If those amounts are less than 
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. 
 
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are 
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange.  The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.  
 
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability.  Amounts classified as a 
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date.  Any 
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.  
 
 
c) Segment reporting 

The Aventus Group has only one reportable segment being investment and management of 
Australian large format retail assets. 
 
The directors of ACL are the chief operating decision makers of the Aventus Group.  Information 
provided to the directors for strategic decision making is consistent with that presented in the financial 
report. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

d) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts 
disclosed as revenue are net of allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the 
Group’s activities as described below. 
 
Revenue for the Group’s business activities is recognised on the following basis:  
 
Rental income 
Rental income derived from investment properties is recognised on a straight- line basis over the term 
of the lease.  Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining the lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
investment property and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease 
income. 
 
The portion of rental income relating to fixed increases in rent in future years is recognised as a 
separate component of investment properties and amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. 
 
Revenue from services 
The AHL Group derives revenue from the provision of property investment, management, 
development and leasing services.  Revenue is recognised in accordance with underlying 
management agreements in the period in which performance obligations are satisfied and actual 
services are rendered.  Fees are recognised net of rebates. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised on an accruals basis using the effective interest method.  Interest 
income is disclosed as ‘other income’ in the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
 
e) Expenses 

Property expenses 
Property expenses include rates, taxes, other property outgoings incurred in relation to investment 
properties and expenses for bad and doubtful debts.  Property expenses are recorded on an accruals 
basis. 
 
Finance costs 
Finance costs include interest, fair value movements in derivative financial instruments, payments in 
respect of derivative financial instruments and the amortisation of other costs incurred in respect of 
obtaining finance.  Finance costs associated with the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset during the period that is required to complete and 
prepare the asset for its intended use.  Borrowing costs not associated with qualifying assets are 
recognised as an expense when incurred.  Other costs incurred in respect of obtaining finance, 
including loan establishment fees, are deferred and expensed over the term of the respective loan 
facility. 
 
Management fees 
Management fees are recognised on an accruals basis.   
 
Computer software 
Costs incurred to configure or customise computer software, not controlled by the Group and do not 
result in the recognition of an intangible software asset, are recognised as expenses when the 
supplier provides the services. 
 
Other expenses 
All other expenses are recognised on an accruals basis.    
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

f) Government grants 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.  Grants relating 
to costs are recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with costs they are 
intended to compensate. 
 
g) Income tax 

ARPF Group 
Under current income tax legislation, ARPF is not liable to pay income tax as the net income of ARPF 
is assessable in the hands of the beneficiaries (the securityholders) who are ‘presently entitled’ to the 
income of ARPF.  There is no income of ARPF to which the securityholders are not presently entitled.  

As a result, deferred taxes have not been recognised in the financial statements in relation to 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, 
including taxes on capital gains which could arise in the event of a sale of investments for the amount 
at which they are stated in the financial statements.  In the event that taxable gains are realised by 
ARPF, these gains would be included in the taxable income that is assessable in the hands of the 
securityholders as noted above.  

Realised capital losses are not distributed to securityholders but are retained within ARPF to be offset 
against any realised capital gains.  The benefit of any carried forward capital losses are generally not 
recognised in the financial statements, on the basis that ARPF is a flow through trust for Australian 
tax purposes.  If in any period realised capital gains exceed realised capital losses, including those 
carried forward from earlier periods and eligible for offset, the excess is included in taxable income 
that is assessable in the hands of securityholders in that period and is distributed to securityholders in 
accordance with the requirements of ARPF’s constitution.   
 

AHL Group 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition 
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available 
to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
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including taxes on capital gains which could arise in the event of a sale of investments for the amount 
at which they are stated in the financial statements.  In the event that taxable gains are realised by 
ARPF, these gains would be included in the taxable income that is assessable in the hands of the 
securityholders as noted above.  

Realised capital losses are not distributed to securityholders but are retained within ARPF to be offset 
against any realised capital gains.  The benefit of any carried forward capital losses are generally not 
recognised in the financial statements, on the basis that ARPF is a flow through trust for Australian 
tax purposes.  If in any period realised capital gains exceed realised capital losses, including those 
carried forward from earlier periods and eligible for offset, the excess is included in taxable income 
that is assessable in the hands of securityholders in that period and is distributed to securityholders in 
accordance with the requirements of ARPF’s constitution.   
 

AHL Group 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition 
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available 
to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

g) Income tax (continued) 

Tax consolidation legislation 

AHL and its wholly-owned controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. 

The head entity, AHL, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own 
current and deferred tax amounts.  These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax 
consolidated group continues to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, AHL also recognises the current tax liabilities 
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits 
assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 

The entities have entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully 
compensate AHL for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by AHL for any current 
tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are 
transferred to AHL under the tax consolidation legislation.  The funding amounts are determined by 
reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements. 

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding 
advice from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial 
year.  The head entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its 
obligations to pay tax instalments. 

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are 
recognised as current amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the group. 

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax 
funding agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax 
consolidated entities. 

 
 
h) Goods and service tax (“GST”) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”).  In this case it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included within receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing 
or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating 
cash flows. 
 
 
i) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

j) Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at the amounts due to the Group, and 
subsequently at amortised cost, less any provision for doubtful debts.  Receivables are usually settled 
within 30 days of recognition.  Receivables are presented as current assets unless collection is not 
expected for greater than 12 months after reporting date. 
 
Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  The Group applies the AASB 9 
simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables.  Expected loss rates are based on historical payment profiles 
adjusted for current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of debtors to 
settle the receivables. 
 
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.  Impairment 
losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit.  
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item. 
 
 
k) Rental guarantees 

Rental guarantees are measured as the expected future cash flows to be received under the 
guarantee arrangements and are disclosed as a separate asset in the balance sheet.  Guarantees are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on an amortised cost basis over the period of 
the guarantee. 
 
 
l) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced.  All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the asset, net of any 
residual amount, over its estimated useful life.  The useful life of plant and equipment ranges from 2.5 
years to 20 years. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These 
are included in profit or loss. 
  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

50		
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

m) Investment in associates 

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint 
control.  Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting after 
initially being recognised at cost. 
 
Under the equity method of accounting, investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in 
profit or loss, and the group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in 
other comprehensive income.  Distributions received or receivable from associates are recognised as 
a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest 
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of equity-accounted 
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group. 
 
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the 
policy described in note 2(q). 
 
n) Investment properties 

Investment properties comprise large format retail centres which are held for long-term rental yields 
and/or capital appreciation and are not occupied by the Group. 
 
With the exception of investment properties acquired as part of a business combination (refer to note 
2b), investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. 
 
Fair value is the amount at which the investment property could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  A willing seller is neither a forced seller 
nor one prepared to sell at a price not considered reasonable in the market.   
 
The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties.  Where 
such information is not available the directors consider information from a variety of sources including: 

• current prices in an active market for properties of different nature or recent prices of similar 
properties in less active markets, adjusted to reflect those differences; 

• discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows; 
• capitalised income projections based upon a property’s estimated net market income, and a 

capitalisation rate derived from an analysis of market evidence. 
 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of investment properties are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they arise. 
 
The Group obtains independent valuations for its investment properties at least every two years. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the directors update their assessment of the fair value of each 
property, taking into account the most recent independent valuations.  The directors determine a 
property’s value within a range of reasonable fair value estimates.  Fair value is determined using a 
long-term investment period.  Specific circumstances of the owner are not taken into account. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

n) Investment properties (continued) 

The carrying amount of investment properties recorded in the balance sheet may include the cost of 
acquisition, additions, refurbishments, improvements, lease incentives, leasing costs and assets 
relating to fixed increases in operating lease rentals in future years.  
 
Existing investment properties being developed for continued future use are also carried at fair value. 
 
Where the Group disposes of an investment property at fair value in an arm’s length transaction, the 
carrying value immediately prior to the sale is adjusted to the transaction price, with a corresponding 
adjustment recorded in profit or loss. 
 
Investment properties are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recoverable 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continued use and a sale is considered 
highly probable.   
 
 
o) Lease incentives and leasing fees 

Prospective lessees may be offered incentives as an inducement to enter into non-cancellable 
operating leases.  These incentives may take various forms including rent-free periods, upfront cash 
payments, or a contribution to certain lessee costs such as a fit-out contribution.  Leasing fees may 
also be incurred for the negotiation of leases.  Incentives and leasing fees are capitalised in the 
consolidated balance sheet as a component of investment properties and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease as an adjustment to rental income. 
 
 
p) Intangible assets 

i. Goodwill 

Goodwill is measured as described in note 2(b).  Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included 
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.  
 
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing except for 
goodwill that arises from the recognition of deferred tax on management rights with an indefinite 
useful life.  The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units 
that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.  The units or 
groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes, being the operating segments. 

ii. Management rights 

Management rights reflect the right to provide investment and property management services in 
accordance with management agreements.  Management rights acquired as part of a business 
combination are recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition.   
 
Management rights have an indefinite useful life.  Management rights are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

q) Impairment of assets 

Assets, other than intangible assets, are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.   
 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Impairment 
of management rights acquired via business combinations will result in a decrease to deferred tax 
liabilities associated with management rights and a corresponding decrease in goodwill. 
 
 
r) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to 
the end of the financial year which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 30 days of recognition.  Payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due 
within 12 months after the reporting period.  They are recognised initially at their fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
 
s) Leases 

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the 
leased asset is available for use by the group.  Each lease payment is allocated between the liability 
and finance costs.  The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.  The right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis.  
 
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.  Lease 
liabilities include the net present value of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable.  
 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would 
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms and conditions.  
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:  

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability  
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 

received  
• any initial direct costs, and  
• restoration costs.  

 
Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.  Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 
12 months or less.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

t) Employee benefits 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and long service leave in the period the related service is rendered.   
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of 
the estimate future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. 
 
The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet if the Group 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting 
period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 
 

Superannuation contributions 

Superannuation contributions are recognised as employee benefits expenses when employees have 
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 
 

Executive incentive scheme (EIS) 

Senior management and executives participate in an EIS whereby, subject to achieving certain KPIs, 
they will be eligible for annual cash awards and restricted stapled securities vesting over 2, 3 and 4 
years. 
 
Annual cash awards are recognised on an accruals basis as part of employee benefits expenses.   
 
The fair value of the restricted stapled securities are estimated at the beginning of the annual EIS 
performance period and recognised as employee benefits expenses on a straight-line basis over the 
relevant vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity via an EIS reserve.   
 
When restricted stapled securities are issued they are held in trust, on behalf of EIS participants, for 
the duration of the vesting period by the Aventus Group Employee Security Trust.  The cost of issued 
restricted stapled securities is initially recognised in a reserve and subsequently transferred to the 
EIS reserve on vesting date. 

 
 
u) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method.  
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.   
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

v) Derivative financial instruments 

The Group has entered into derivative financial instruments, in the form of interest rate swap 
agreements, to partially hedging against interest rate fluctuations on its debt facilities.   
 
The Group has not adopted hedge accounting.  Derivative financial instruments are classified as 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.  Derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  Subsequent changes in fair value 
are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Fair value is determined using valuation techniques with reference to observable market inputs for 
similar instruments. 
 
Derivative financial instruments are presented as current assets or liabilities as appropriate if they are 
expected to be settled within 12 months, or presented as non-current assets or liabilities if they are 
expected to be settled more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
 
 
w) Distributions/dividends payable 

A payable is recognised for the amount of any distribution or dividend declared, appropriately 
authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period 
but not distributed at the end of the reporting period. 
 
 
x) Contributed equity 

Stapled securities are classified as equity and recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary securities are recognised 
directly in equity as a deduction from the proceeds received. 
 
 
y) Earnings per security 

Basic earnings per security 
Basic earnings per security is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to securityholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary securities outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary securities issued during the financial year. 
 
Diluted earnings per security 
Diluted earnings per security is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to securityholders, 
adjusted for the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary securities, by the weighted average number of ordinary securities and dilutive 
potential ordinary securities outstanding during the financial year. 
 
The weighted average number of securities used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per security 
is retrospectively adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary securities issued during the financial year. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of critical accounting 
estimates and judgement.  Financial statement balances or transactions involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements, are outlined below.   
 

Account balance or transaction Notes 

Investment properties 18 and 36 

Derivative financial instruments 23 and 36 

Goodwill and management rights with an indefinite useful life 19 
 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events, that may have a financial impact on the Aventus 
Group and are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.   
 
The resulting accounting estimates may differ from actual results.   
 
 

4. Segment information 

The Aventus Group 

The Aventus Group has only one reportable segment being the investment and management of 
Australian large format retail assets.   
 
The directors of ACL are the chief operating decision makers of the Aventus Group.  Information 
provided to the directors for strategic decision making is consistent with that presented in the financial 
report. 
 

The AHL Group 

The AHL Group has only one reportable segment being the management of Australian large format 
retail assets.   
 
The directors of AHL are the chief operating decision makers of the AHL Group. 
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5. Revenue from services 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
Fees derived from management agreements 1.7 1.8 18,765 18,059 

 
 

6. Finance costs 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
Interest expenses 20.0 24.0 2,642 3,426 
Amortisation of debt establishment costs 2.3 1.6 - - 
Less: amounts capitalised relating to 
redevelopment of investment properties 

 
(0.4) 

 
(0.6) 

 
- 

 
- 

 21.9 25.0 2,642 3,426 
     
Fair value (gains)/losses on interest rate 
swaps 

 
(8.5) 

 
1.3 

 
- 

 
- 

     
Finance costs expensed 13.4 26.3 2,642 3,426 

 
The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the 
financial year was the weighted average interest rate applicable to the Aventus Group’s general 
borrowings. 
 
 

7. Employee benefits expense 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
Superannuation expenses 0.8 0.8 829 774 
Security based payments expenses 0.5 1.2 517 1,215 
Other employee benefits 10.1 7.4 10,942 8,707 
JobKeeper payments scheme (0.6) (0.5) (585) (537) 
     
Total 10.8 8.9 11,703 10,159 
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8. Income tax expense/(benefit) 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
a) Income tax expense/(benefit)     
Current tax     
Current tax on profits for the year 0.1 - 84 22 
Adjustment for current tax of prior periods 0.1 (0.1) 142 (100) 
     
Total current tax expense/(benefit) 0.2 (0.1) 226 (78) 
     
Deferred income tax     
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (0.4) (0.3) (462) (333) 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (0.1) 0.6 (53) 601 
     
Total deferred tax expense/(benefit) (0.5) 0.3 (515) 268 
     
Income tax expense/(benefit) (0.3) 0.2 (289) 190 
     
     
b) Numerical reconciliation of prima facie 

tax payable to income tax 
expense/(benefit) 

    

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 409.7 56.9 (1,830) 957 
Less: ARPF profit not subject to tax (424.4) (67.4) - - 
Profit/(loss) subject to taxation (14.7) (10.5) (1,830) 957 
Prima facie tax at 30% (4.4) (3.2) (549) 287 
Tax effect of amounts which are not 
deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable 
income 

    

Intra-staple transactions 3.8 3.5 - - 
Other 0.3 (0.1) 260 (97) 
     
Income tax expense/(benefit) (0.3) 0.2 (289) 190 

 
 

9. Earnings per security 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
Net profit/(loss) for the year 409.7 56.7 (1,541) 767 
     
Weighted average number of securities used 
in calculating basic and diluted earnings per 
security (m) 

 
 

565.0 

 
 

551.9 

 
 

565.0 

 
 

551.9 
     
Basic and diluted earnings per security (cents) 72.5 10.3 (0.3) 0.1 
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10. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Cash at bank and in hand 7.3 9.2 6,410 3,929 
Term deposits - 30.0 - - 
     
Total 7.3 39.2 6,410 3,929 

 
 

11. Trade and other receivables 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Trade receivables 2.8 12.2 1,038 1,669 
Loss allowance (1.6) (6.7) - - 
 1.2 5.5 1,038 1,669 
     
Other receivables 1.6 0.7 625 444 
     
Total 2.8 6.2 1,663 2,113 

 
Trade receivables consist primarily of rental debtors and fees derived from management agreements. 
 
Additional information about the loss allowance and exposure to credit risk is disclosed in note 38(c). 
 
 

12. Rental guarantees 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Rental guarantees 1.9 2.1 - - 
     
Non-current     
Rental guarantees - 1.0 - - 
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13. Current tax assets 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Income tax refund - 0.2 - 202 

 
 

14. Other assets 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Prepayments 3.4 4.4 274 143 

 
 

15. Plant and equipment 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Non-current     
Plant and equipment – at cost 0.5 0.3 428 303 
Accumulated depreciation (0.2) (0.2) (220) (158) 
     
Total 0.3 0.1 208 145 

 
 

16. Right-of-use assets 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Non-current     
Land 0.8 0.9 - - 
Office building 1.1 2.0 1,146 2,005 
     
 1.9 2.9 1,146 2,005 

 
Depreciation recognised by the Aventus Group and AHL Group for right-of-use assets for the year 
ended 30 June 2021 amounted to $1.0 million and $859,000 respectively (30 June 2020: $1.0 million 
and $0.8 million respectively). 
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17. Investment in associates 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Non-current     
Investment in Aventus Property Syndicate 1 
Fund (APS 1) 

 
7.6 

 
5.8 

 
- 

 
- 

APS 1 

The principal activity of APS 1 is the ownership of McGraths Hill Home.   
 
ARPF’s ownership interest in APS 1 at 30 June 2021 was 25.3% (30 June 2020: 25.3%).  A 
reconciliation of the movement in the carrying amount of the investment in APS 1 during the financial 
year is as follows: 
 

Aventus Group 

1 July 2020 
to 

30 June 2021 
$m 

15 Nov 2019 
to 

30 June 2020 
$m 

   

Balance at the beginning of the period 5.8 6.1 

Equity accounted profit for the period 2.4 - 
Distributions (0.6) (0.3) 
   
Balance at the end of the period 7.6 5.8 

Refer to note 35(d) for a summary of transactions with APS 1 during the financial year. 
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17. Investment in associates (continued) 

Summarised financial information for APS 1 

The tables below provide summarised financial information for APS 1.  The information disclosed 
reflects the amounts presented in the unaudited financial statements of APS 1 and not the Aventus 
Group’s share of those amounts. 

 

 

1 July 2020 
to 

30 June 2021 
$m 

15 Nov 2019 
to 

30 June 2020 
$m 

   
Statement of comprehensive income   
Revenue 3.7 2.3 
   
Profit for the year 9.5 1.2 
Other comprehensive income - - 
   
Total comprehensive income for the year 9.5 1.2 

 

 June 2021 
$m 

June 2020 
$m 

   
Balance sheet   
Current assets 0.9 0.9 
Non-current assets 50.0 42.5 
   
Total assets 50.9 43.4 
   
Current liabilities (0.9) (0.9) 
Non-current liabilities (19.9) (19.8) 
   
Total liabilities (20.8) (20.7) 
   
Net assets 30.1 22.7 
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18. Investment properties 

 
Property 

Last 
independent 

valuation 
date 

Independent 
valuation 

$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

     
Ballarat Home 30 June 2021 46.5 46.5 42.9 
Bankstown Home 30 June 2021 78.0 78.0 66.0 
Belrose Super Centre 30 June 2021 202.0 202.0 183.0 
Caringbah Home 30 June 2021 152.2 152.2 112.1 
Hills Super Centre 30 June 2021 354.0 354.0 340.0 
Cranbourne Home 30 June 2021 175.5 175.5 141.6 
Epping Hub 30 June 2021 64.0 64.0 44.7 
Highlands Hub 30 June 2021 44.0 44.0 33.6 
Jindalee Home 30 June 2021 163.3 163.3 134.5 
Kotara Home (South) 30 June 2021 137.0 137.0 122.8 
Logan Super Centre 30 June 2021 107.0 107.0 92.0 
MacGregor Home 31 Dec 2020 26.6 42.2 26.3 
Marsden Park Home 30 June 2021 108.2 108.2 100.0 
Midland Home 30 June 2021 67.0 67.0 63.8 
Mile End Home 30 June 2021 127.5 127.5 103.4 
Peninsula Home 30 June 2021 115.0 115.0 89.8 
Sunshine Coast Home 30 June 2021 121.0 121.0 101.0 
Tuggerah Super Centre 30 June 2021 110.8 110.8 94.2 
Warners Bay Home 30 June 2021 54.5 54.5 41.7 
  2,254.1 2,269.7 1,933.4 
Less MacGregor Home classified as 
investment properties held for sale 

   
(42.2) 

 
- 

Less amounts classified as rental 
guarantees 

   
(1.9) 

 
(3.1) 

     
Total   2,225.6 1,930.3 

 
 
A reconciliation of the movement in the carrying value of investment properties during the financial year 
is outlined below: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

   
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,930.3 1,973.8 
Acquisitions – Epping Hub development land 12.2 - 
Disposals – McGraths Hill Home - (42.5) 
MacGregor Home reclassified as investment properties held for sale (42.2) - 
Capitalised expenditure 31.5 38.5 
Straight-lining of rental income (3.5) (2.2) 
Net gain/(loss) on movement in fair value of investment properties 297.3 (37.3) 
   
Balance at the end of the financial year 2,225.6 1,930.3 

 
 
Information on how fair value of investment properties is determined is outlined in note 36. 
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18. Investment properties (continued) 

Acquisitions and disposals 

In July 2020 the Aventus Group settled the acquisition of development land adjoining Epping Hub for 
$12.2 million including stamp duty costs.  The land is zoned for mixed use, retail, residential, office, 
medical and large format retail. 
 
In May 2021 the Aventus Group entered into an agreement to sell MacGregor Home for $42.2 million 
reflecting an implied capitalisation rate of 6.00%.  The transaction settled on 16 August 2021. 
 

Leasing arrangements 

Investment properties are leased to tenants under non-cancellable operating leases with rentals 
payable on a monthly basis.  Future minimum rentals receivable under the leases as at 30 June 2021 
and 30 June 2020 are as follows: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

   
Within 1 year 122.4 111.0 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 322.5 282.9 
Later than 5 years 53.7 65.8 
   
Total 498.6 459.7 

 
 

19. Intangible assets 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Goodwill  140.4 140.4 42,923 42,923 
Management rights 3.8 3.8 143,079 143,079 
     
Total 144.2 144.2 186,002 186,002 

 

Aventus Group 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the incremental value created from the internalisation of management and by 
replacing external management fees with an internalised cost structure. 
 

Management rights 

Management rights relate to the Kotara Home (North) property which is owned by a related party.  
The underlying property and development management agreement is between the director related 
entity and Aventus Property Management Pty Ltd and has an indefinite useful live. 
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19. Intangible assets (continued) 

Impairment testing 

Goodwill and management rights with an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment or 
when there are indicators of impairment.  Goodwill and management rights are considered to be 
impaired if their recoverable amount is less than their carrying amount.  Goodwill generated as a 
result of the recognition of deferred tax on management rights with an indefinite useful life is excluded 
from annual impairment testing. 
 
No impairment expense was recognised for the year ended 30 June 2021.   
 
The recoverable amount of goodwill and management rights was determined using the value in use 
approach and valued using discounted cash flow projections.  Key assumptions adopted in the 
discounted cash flow valuation are as follows: 
 

Assumption 2021 2020 

Cash flows 5 years 5 years 

Terminal growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 

Discount rate applied to cash flow projections 6.9% 7.5% 
 
Cash flow projections were based on financial budgets for the year ending 30 June 2021.  Cash flows 
beyond the projected period are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. 
 
Terminal growth rates are estimated based on the expected long-term earnings growth of the Aventus 
Group and macro-economic factors.  Discount rates applied to cash flow projections are calculated by 
reference to the Aventus Group’s weighted average cost of capital.  Discount rates are adjusted for 
risks specific to the cash generating unit. 
 
The recoverable amount of goodwill would equal its carrying amount if the terminal growth rate 
decreased from 2.0% to 1.5% or the discount rate increased from 6.9% to 7.3%. 
 

AHL Group 

Management rights 

Management rights relate to the following investment and property management agreements: 
 

• Management Services Agreement between ARPF and Aventus Funds Management Pty Ltd; 
• Property Management and Development Agreements between ARPF and Aventus Property 

Management Pty Ltd; and 
• Property and Development Management Agreement between a director related entity and 

Aventus Property Management Pty Ltd. 
 
The above agreements have indefinite useful lives. 
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19. Intangible assets (continued) 

Goodwill 

Goodwill relates solely to a corresponding deferred tax liability on management rights with an 
indefinite useful life which was recognised on the acquisition of the APG Group.  Goodwill is excluded 
from annual impairment testing. 
 

Impairment testing of management rights 

Management rights with an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment or when there are 
indicators of impairment.  Management rights are considered to be impaired if their recoverable 
amount is less than their carrying amount. 
 
No impairment expense was recognised for the year ended 30 June 2021.   
 
The recoverable amount of management rights was determined based on the fair value less cost to 
sell approach and valued using discounted cash flow projections.  Key assumptions adopted in the 
discounted cash flow valuation are as follows: 
 

Assumption 2021 2020 

Cash flows 5 years 5 years 

Terminal growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 

Discount rate applied to cash flow projections 8.1% 8.7% 
 
Cash flow projections were based on management contracts.  Cash flows beyond the projected 
period are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. 
 
Terminal growth rates are estimated based on the expected long-term earnings growth of the AHL 
Group and macro-economic factors.  Discount rates applied to cash flow projections are calculated by 
reference to the Group’s weighted average cost of capital.  Discount rates are adjusted for risks 
specific to the cash generating unit. 
 
The recoverable amount of management rights would equal its carrying amount if the terminal growth 
rate decreased from 2.0% to (0.5%) or the discount rate increased from 8.1% to 10.1%. 
 
As growth and discount rates are unobservable inputs in the valuation process they are considered 
‘Level 3’ in the fair value hierarchy. 
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20. Trade and other payables 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Trade creditors and accruals 20.9 17.3 4,242 831 
Other payables 4.4 5.8 1,416 2,418 
     
Total 25.3 23.1 5,658 3,249 

 
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.  
 
 

21. Distributions payable 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Distributions payable 24.9 13.1 - - 

 
 

22. Lease liabilities 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Lease liabilities 1.1 1.0 888 834 
     
     
Non-current     
Lease liabilities 0.9 2.0 300 1,209 
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23. Derivative financial instruments 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current liabilities     

Interest rate swaps - at fair value 1.1 1.8 - - 
     
     
Non-current liabilities     

Interest rate swaps - at fair value 7.2 15.0 - - 
 
The Aventus Group utilises interest rate swaps to partially hedge against interest rate risk fluctuations.  
Interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating interest rates to 
fixed interest rates. 
 
At 30 June 2021 the Aventus Group had entered into interest rate swap agreements totalling $360.0 
million (30 June 2020: $460.0 million) representing 51.8% (30 June 2020: 62.3%) of drawn debt.  Key 
features of the interest rate swaps are summarised as follows: 
 

Maturity date 

Notional 
amount 

June 2021 
$m 

Notional 
amount 

June 2020 
$m 

Fair value 
June 2021 

$m 

Fair value 
June 2020 

$m 
     
FY21 - 125.0 - (1.8) 
FY22 120.0 120.0 (1.1) (3.3) 
FY23 125.0 125.0 (3.0) (5.5) 
FY24 115.0 90.0 (4.2) (6.2) 
     
Total 360.0 460.0 (8.3) (16.8) 

 
As at 30 June 2021 the fixed rate on the interest rate swaps ranged from 0.57% to 2.43% per annum 
(30 June 2020: 1.89% to 2.43%).   
 
Interest rate swap contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable on a monthly or 
quarterly basis.   
 
 

24. Current tax liabilities 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Provision for income tax 0.2 - 191 - 
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25. Provision for employee benefits 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Provision for employee benefits 0.5 0.4 532 379 
     
Non-current     
Provision for employee benefits 0.2 0.2 180 222 

 
Employee benefits represent liabilities for annual leave and long service leave. 
 
The current portion of this liability includes all of the accrued annual leave and the unconditional 
entitlements to long service leave where employees have completed the required period of service.  
The entire amount of the annual leave provision is presented as current, since the AHL Group does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, based on 
past experience it is not expected all employees will take the full amount of accrued leave or require 
payment within the next 12 months. 
 
 

26. Deferred revenue 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Current     
Deferred revenue 3.1 4.0 - - 

 
Deferred revenue represents rental income received in advance.  Deferred revenue is recognised as 
revenue in accordance with note 2(d). 

 
 
27. Borrowings 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Non-current     
Secured     
Syndicated bank debt facility - 318.4 - - 
Syndicated loan note facility 160.0 160.0 - - 
Bi-lateral bank debt facilities 534.9 260.0 - - 
Less: unamortised transaction costs (3.1) (3.4) - - 
 691.8 735.0 - - 
     
Unsecured     
Interest bearing loan – ARPF - - 84,941 84,941 
     
Total 691.8 735.0 84,941 84,941 
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27. Borrowings (continued) 

a) Financing arrangements 

The Aventus Group had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at balance date: 
 

 
Aventus Group 

June 2021 
 

Aventus Group 
June 2020 

 

 
Limit 
$m 

 

Drawn 
$m 

 

Undrawn 
$m 

 

Limit 
$m 

 

Drawn 
$m 

 

Undrawn 
$m 

 

       

Bi-lateral bank debt facilities 660.0 534.9 125.1 260.0 260.0 - 
       
Syndicated loan note facility 160.0 160.0 - 160.0 160.0 - 
       
Syndicated bank debt facility - - - 400.0 318.4 81.6 
       
Total 820.0 694.9 125.1 820.0 738.4 81.6 

 
 
Undrawn debt under the bi-lateral bank debt facilities may be drawn at any time. 

 

b) Debt maturity profile 

On 29 April 2021 the Aventus Group refinanced $660.0 million of bank debt comprising 80% of the 
total $820.0 million debt portfolio.  As a result of the refinancing the weighted average debt expiry 
increased to 4.4 years at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: 3.1 years). 
 
The Aventus Group has no debt expiring until January 2025.  The debt maturity profile as at 30 June 
2021 is as follows: 
 

 
 
 
  

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27
$m -  -  -  310.0	 355.0	 155.0	

-  
50.0	

100.0	
150.0	
200.0	
250.0	
300.0	
350.0	
400.0	

$m

Debt	maturity	profile

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

70		
 

27. Borrowings (continued) 

c) Bi-lateral bank debt facilities 

The Aventus Group had an aggregate of $660.0 million in bi-lateral bank debt facilities at 30 June 
2021 (30 June 2020: $260.0m).  The facilities are revolving cash advance facilities with maturity dates 
of ranging from April 2025 to July 2026.   
 
Loan repayments are interest only with a lump sum payment of all amounts outstanding at the end of 
the term.  Interest is based on 90-day BBSY plus a margin. 
 
 

d) Syndicated loan note facility 

Key terms of the syndicated loan note facility at 30 June 2021 are summarised as follows: 
 

  

Facility limit A$160 million 

Term 

 

7 years (5-year initial term plus 2 x 1-year 
extensions at the option of the Aventus Group) 

Maturity January 2025 

Interest 90-day BBSY + margin 

Repayments Before 3rd anniversary – non-call period 
Before 4th anniversary – 105% prepayment 
Before 5th anniversary – 101% prepayment 

 
 

e) Syndicated bank debt facility 

The syndicated bank debt facility was terminated on 30 April 2021.  All debt tranches were repaid in 
full. 
 
 

f) Compliance with debt covenants 

The Aventus Group complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing facilities during the financial 
year.  Key financial covenants are summarised as follows: 
 

• Interest cover ratio is at least 2 times; 
• Loan to value ratio is less than or equal to 55%; and 
• Total liabilities to total tangible assets ratio is less than or equal to 55%. 

 
Covenants are assessed semi-annually. 
 
 

g) Security 

The Aventus Group’s debt facilities are secured by: 
 

• a first ranking real property mortgage in respect of each property in the portfolio; 
• a first ranking general security deed over all the assets of the guarantors; 
• a first ranking specific security deed over all the shares and units held by the guarantors; and 
• a limited recourse share mortgage provided by ACL. 
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27. Borrowings (continued) 

h) Intra-staple loan 

Intra-staple loan 

Key terms are summarised as follows: 
 

  
  
Facility limit $89,511,000 
Term 9 years 11 months 
Maturity September 2028 
Interest 90-day BBSW + margin 
Repayment At the maturity date or such earlier date determined by the 

lender and borrower. 
 
 

28. Deferred taxes 

Deferred taxes comprise temporary differences attributable to: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Non-current     
Deferred tax assets     
Accrued expenses 0.4 0.6 393 552 
Employee benefits 0.2 0.2 213 180 
Lease liabilities 0.4 0.6 357 613 
Other 0.8 - 948 104 
Total 1.8 1.4 1,911 1,449 
     
Deferred tax liabilities     
Right-of-use assets (0.3) (0.6) (344) (601) 
Management rights (1.1) (1.1) (42,923) (42,923) 
Other (0.2) - (204) - 
Total (1.6) (1.7) (43,471) (43,524) 
     
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 0.2 (0.3) (41,560) (42,075) 
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29. Contributed equity 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
569,986,504 fully paid stapled securities (30 
June 2020: 557,117,635) 

    

ARPF 1,147.7 1,118.2 - - 
AHL 8.3 6.9 62,693 61,283 
     
Total 1,156.0 1,125.1 62,693 61,283 

 
The stapled securities of the Aventus Group comprise one unit in ARPF and one share in AHL.  
Stapled securities cannot be traded or dealt with separately. 
 

ARPF units 

As stipulated in ARPF’s constitution, each unit represents a right to an individual share in ARPF and 
does not extend to a right to the underlying assets of ARPF. 
 
Each unit ranks equally and has the same rights attached to it as with all other units on issue.  Each 
unit confers the right to vote at meetings of unitholders, subject to any voting restrictions imposed on 
a unitholder under the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. 
 

AHL shares 

Shares in AHL entitle the holder to participate in dividends and to share in the proceeds of winding up 
AHL in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.  On a show of hands every 
shareholder present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each 
share is entitled to one vote.  Shares have no par value and AHL does not have a limited amount of 
authorised capital.    
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29. Contributed equity (continued) 

A reconciliation of the movement in contributed equity of the Aventus Group during the financial year 
is as follows: 
 

 
Number of 

stapled 
securities 

ARPF 
$m 

AHL 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

$m 
     
Balance at 1 July 2019 537,474,903 1,071.2 4.7 1,075.9 
Securities issued in accordance with 
underwriting of distribution reinvestment plan 

 
15,711,530 

 
37.4 

 
1.8 

 
39.2 

Securities issued in accordance with the 
distribution reinvestment plan 

 
3,759,538 

 
9.4 

 
0.4 

 
9.8 

Securities issued in accordance with the 
executive incentive plan 

 
171,664 

 
0.4 

 
- 

 
0.4 

Security issue costs - (0.2) - (0.2) 
     
Balance at 30 June 2020 557,117,635 1,118.2 6.9 1,125.1 
     
     
Balance at 1 July 2020 557,117,635 1,118.2 6.9 1,125.1 
Securities issued in accordance with 
underwriting of distribution reinvestment plan 

 
8,804,226 

 
19.7 

 
0.9 

 
20.6 

Securities issued in accordance with the 
distribution reinvestment plan 

 
3,419,509 

 
8.5 

 
0.4 

 
8.9 

Securities issued in accordance with the 
executive incentive plan 

 
645,134 

 
1.4 

 
0.1 

 
1.5 

Security issue costs - (0.1) - (0.1) 
     
Balance at 30 June 2021 569,986,504 1,147.7 8.3 1,156.0 

 
 
A reconciliation of the movement in contributed equity of the AHL Group during the financial year is as 
follows: 
 

 
AHL Group 

2021 
Securities 

AHL Group 
2020 

Securities 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
Balance at the beginning of the year 557,117,635 537,474,903 61,283 59,062 
Securities issued in accordance with 
underwriting of distribution reinvestment plan 

 
8,804,226 

 
15,711,530 

 
948 

 
1,769 

Securities issued in accordance with the 
distribution reinvestment plan 

 
3,419,509 

 
3,759,538 

 
397 

 
442	

Securities issued in accordance with the 
executive incentive plan 

 
645,134 

 
171,664 

 
70 

 
20 

Security issue costs - - (5) (10) 
     
Balance at the end of the year 569,986,504 557,117,635 62,693 61,283 
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30. Reserves 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
ARPF     
Security based payments reserve 0.8 1.3 - - 
Restricted stapled securities reserve (0.9) (0.4) - - 
     
Total (0.1) 0.9 - - 
     
AHL     
Security based payments reserve - 0.1 35 62 
Restricted stapled securities reserve - - (39) (20) 
     
Total - 0.1 (4) 42 
     
Total (0.1) 1.0 (4) 42 

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Security based payments reserve 

The security-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of equity settled security-
based payments provided to executives, including key management personnel, and employees as 
part of their remuneration. 
 

Restricted stapled securities reserve 

The restricted stapled securities reserve is used to recognise the cost of restricted stapled securities 
issued and held in trust on behalf of participants of the Executive Incentive Scheme and Employee 
Security Scheme for the duration of the vesting period by the Aventus Group Employee Security 
Trust.  At the vesting date amounts recorded in the restricted stapled securities reserve are 
transferred to the security-based payments reserve.   
 
A reconciliation of the movement in the security-based payments reserves during the financial year is 
as follows: 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
ARPF     
Balance at the beginning of the year 1.3 0.1 - - 
Security based payments 0.5 1.2 - - 
Transfers from restricted stapled securities 
reserve 

 
(1.0) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

     
Balance at the end of the year 0.8 1.3 - - 
     
AHL     
Balance at the beginning of the year 0.1 - 62 8 
Security based payments - 0.1 24 54 
Transfers from restricted stapled securities 
reserve 

 
(0.1) 

 
- 

 
(51) 

 
- 

     
Balance at the end of the year - 0.1 35 62 
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30. Reserves (continued) 

A reconciliation of the movement in the restricted stapled securities reserve during the financial year 
is as follows: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
ARPF     
Balance at the beginning of the year (0.4) - - - 
Issue of restricted stapled securities (1.5) (0.4) - - 
Transfers to restricted stapled securities 
reserve 

 
1.0 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

     
Balance at the end of the year (0.9) (0.4) - - 
     
AHL     
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (20) - 
Issue of restricted stapled securities (0.1) - (70) (20) 
Transfers to restricted stapled securities 
reserve 

 
0.1 

-  
51 

- 

     
Balance at the end of the year - - (39) (20) 

 

31. Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
ARPF 559.9 234.4 - - 
AHL (34.7) (20.0) (1,236) 305 
     
Total 525.2 214.4 (1,236) 305 

 

A reconciliation of the movement in retained earnings of the Aventus Group during the financial year 
is as follows: 
 

 ARPF 
$m 

AHL 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

$m 
    
Balance at 1 July 2019 232.8 (9.3) 223.5 
Net profit for the year 67.4 (10.7) 56.7 
Distributions/dividends paid or payable (65.8) - (65.8) 
    
Balance at 30 June 2020 234.4 (20.0) 214.4 
    
    
Balance at 1 July 2020 234.4 (20.0) 214.4 
Net profit for the year 424.4 (14.7) 409.7 
Distributions/dividends paid or payable (98.9) - (98.9) 
    
Balance at 30 June 2021 559.9 (34.7) 525.2 
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30. Reserves (continued) 

A reconciliation of the movement in the restricted stapled securities reserve during the financial year 
is as follows: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
ARPF     
Balance at the beginning of the year (0.4) - - - 
Issue of restricted stapled securities (1.5) (0.4) - - 
Transfers to restricted stapled securities 
reserve 

 
1.0 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

     
Balance at the end of the year (0.9) (0.4) - - 
     
AHL     
Balance at the beginning of the year - - (20) - 
Issue of restricted stapled securities (0.1) - (70) (20) 
Transfers to restricted stapled securities 
reserve 

 
0.1 

-  
51 

- 

     
Balance at the end of the year - - (39) (20) 

 

31. Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
ARPF 559.9 234.4 - - 
AHL (34.7) (20.0) (1,236) 305 
     
Total 525.2 214.4 (1,236) 305 

 

A reconciliation of the movement in retained earnings of the Aventus Group during the financial year 
is as follows: 
 

 ARPF 
$m 

AHL 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

$m 
    
Balance at 1 July 2019 232.8 (9.3) 223.5 
Net profit for the year 67.4 (10.7) 56.7 
Distributions/dividends paid or payable (65.8) - (65.8) 
    
Balance at 30 June 2020 234.4 (20.0) 214.4 
    
    
Balance at 1 July 2020 234.4 (20.0) 214.4 
Net profit for the year 424.4 (14.7) 409.7 
Distributions/dividends paid or payable (98.9) - (98.9) 
    
Balance at 30 June 2021 559.9 (34.7) 525.2 
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31. Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) (continued) 

A reconciliation of the movement in retained earnings of the AHL Group during the financial year is as 
follows: 

 
AHL Group 

2021 
$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
   
Balance at the beginning of the year 305 (462) 
Net profit/(loss) for the year (1,541) 767 
Dividends paid or payable - - 
   
Balance at the end of the year (1,236) 305 

 
 
32. Distributions 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
Distribution 

cents 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
Distribution 

$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
Distribution 

cents 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
Distribution 

$m 
     
Fully paid ordinary securities     
September quarter 4.00 22.3 4.22 23.1 
December quarter 4.20 23.8 4.26 23.7 
March quarter 4.90 27.9 1.07 5.9 
June quarter 4.37 24.9 2.35 13.1 
     
Total 17.47 98.9 11.90 65.8 

 

Distribution reinvestment plan (“DRP”) 

During the financial year the Aventus Group operated a DRP under which securityholders may elect 
to reinvest all or part of their distributions or dividends in new stapled securities rather than being paid 
in cash.  The last date for the receipt of an election notice for participation in the DRP is the next 
business day after the record date for the respective distribution or dividend.  The DRP price is 
determined as the average of the daily volume weighted average price of the stapled securities sold 
on the Australian Securities Exchange during a nominated ten-day trading period prior to the payment 
date for the distribution or dividend, less a discount (if any).  The DRP price for the quarters ended 30 
September 2020, 31 December 2020 and 31 March 2021 included a discount of 2%. 
 
 

DRP underwriting agreement 

For the quarter ended 30 September 2020, the Aventus Group entered into an agreement with 
Macquarie Capital (Australia) Limited to act as sole underwriter of an offer of stapled securities under 
its DRP.  A total of $22.3 million was raised via the DRP for the quarter ended 30 September 2020. 
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33. Statement of cash flow information 

a) Reconciliation of profit to net cash flows from operating activities 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
Profit/(loss) for the year 409.7 56.7 (1,541) 767 
     
Adjustments for     
Finance costs capitalised (0.3) (0.6) - - 
Share of net profits of associates  (2.4) - - - 
Straight-lining of rental income 3.5 2.2 - - 
Amortisation of rental guarantees 1.2 0.4 - - 
Amortisation of debt establishment costs 2.3 1.6 - - 
Net (gain)/loss on movement in fair value of 
investment properties 

 
(297.3) 

 
37.3 

 
- 

 
- 

Net (gain)/loss on movement in fair value of 
interest rate swaps 

 
(8.5) 

 
1.3 

 
- 

 
- 

Depreciation 1.1 1.1 921 920 
Expenses not paid in cash 0.5 1.2 1,136 1,215 
Other - 0.4 - 8 
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net 
of effects from purchase of controlled entities:  

    

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other 
receivables 

 
3.3 

 
(4.2) 

 
450 

 
(1,226) 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets 0.4 (1.7) (129) 23 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other 
payables 

 
1.3 

 
2.9 

 
2,990 

 
(224) 

Increase/(decrease) in current tax 0.4 (0.9) 393 (855) 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax (0.5) 0.3 (515) 268 
Increase/(decrease) in provision for employee 
benefits  

 
0.1 

 
(0.1) 

 
110 

 
(123) 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue (0.9) 1.6 - - 
     
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 

 
113.9 

 
99.5 

 
3,815 

 
773 

 

b) Non-cash investing and financing activities 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
2020 

$’000 
     
Securities issued in accordance with the 
distribution reinvestment plan 

 
29.5 

 
9.8 

 
1,345 

 
2,211 

Securities issued in accordance with executive 
incentive scheme 

 
1.5 

 
0.4 

 
70 

 
20 

Repayment of borrowings - - - (4,570) 
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34. Security based payments 

Executive incentive scheme (EIS) 

EIS participants, subject to achieving certain Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), are entitled to 
receive variable remuneration consisting of annual cash awards and grants of restricted stapled 
securities vesting over 2, 3 and 4 years.   
 
KPIs must be satisfied over the relevant performance period.  To the extent the KPIs are satisfied, 
EIS awards will be delivered 50% in cash and 50% in restricted stapled securities.   
 
The cash award will be paid following the end of the performance period.   
 
The restricted stapled securities will be granted following the end of the performance period, and will 
vest in three tranches following release of full-year results for the first, second and third financial years 
immediately following the performance period: 
 

• 33.33% of the restricted stapled securities will vest approximately two years after the start of 
the performance period; 

• 33.33% of the restricted stapled securities will vest approximately three years after the start of 
the performance period; and 

• 33.34% of the restricted stapled securities will vest approximately four years after the start of 
the performance period; 

 
providing the participant remains an employee until the relevant vesting date and the board has not 
determined that a “clawback” of any restricted stapled securities is required.  
 
The diagram below provides an illustration of how the EIS operates for a single performance period of 
one year, assuming all KPIs are achieved.  The Aventus Group intends to offer EIS awards annually. 
As the EIS progresses, the vesting of restricted equity awards will become cumulative.   
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34. Security based payments (continued) 

The number of restricted stapled securities to be allocated to each participant is determined by 
dividing the dollar value of the equity component of the EIS by the volume weighted average price of 
stapled securities, measured over the ten trading days following release of full-year results for the 
performance period’s financial year.  
 

Employee security scheme (ESS) 

ESS participants are entitled to receive grants of restricted stapled securities subject to achieving 
certain KPIs.  The stapled securities vest over approximately a 2-year period from the start of the 
performance period subject to forfeiture of unvested amounts on resignation or termination prior to 
vesting. 
 
Grants of restricted stapled securities are accounted for in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based 
Payments.  The fair value of the restricted stapled securities are recognised as employee benefits 
expenses over the relevant vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity via a security-
based payments reserve.  When restricted stapled securities are issued they are held in trust, on 
behalf of EIS or ESS participants, for the duration of the vesting period by the Aventus Group 
Employee Security Trust.  The cost of issued restricted stapled securities is initially recognised in a 
reserve and subsequently transferred to the security-based payments reserve on vesting date.   
 
A reconciliation of the number of restricted stapled securities granted and vested during the financial 
year is as follows: 
 

Number of restricted stapled securities 2021 2020 

Opening balance 315,453 287,581 

Issued 645,134 171,664 

Vested  (608,677) (143,792) 

   

Closing balance 351,910 315,453 
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35. Related party transactions 

a) Subsidiaries 

As disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements the Aventus Group is a stapled entity comprising 
ARPF and its controlled entities and AHL and its controlled entities.  In accordance with AASB 3 
Business Combinations ARPF has been deemed the parent entity of the Aventus Group.  ARPF has 
no legal ownership of AHL and its controlled entities.   
 
Subsidiaries of ARPF are set out below.  All subsidiaries are incorporated in Australia. 
 

Name of entity 
ARPF ownership 

interest 
Principal activities 

Parent entity 
2021 

% 
2020 

% 
 

Aventus Retail Property Fund    
    
Subsidiaries    
Aventus Bankstown Holding Trust 100% 100% Investment holding trust 

Aventus Bankstown Unit Trust – 1 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Belrose Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Caringbah Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Castle Hill Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Cranbourne Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Cranbourne Thompsons Road Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Diversified Unit Trust 100% 100% Investment holding trust 

Aventus Ballarat Unit Trust - 2  100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Highlands Unit Trust – 2 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Tweed Unit Trust – 2 100% 100% Dormant 
Aventus Warners Bay Unit Trust – 2 100% 100% Property investment 

Aventus Epping Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Jindalee Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Kotara South Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Logan Holding Trust 100% 100% Investment holding trust 

Aventus Logan Unit Trust – 3 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus MacGregor Holding Trust 100% 100% Investment holding trust 

Aventus MacGregor Unit Trust – 4 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Marsden Park Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Midland Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Mile End Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Mile End Stage 3 Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Peninsula Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Property Administration Pty Ltd 100% 100% Administration 
Aventus Shepparton Unit Trust 100% 100% Dormant 
Aventus Sunshine Coast Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 
Aventus Tuggerah Unit Trust 100% 100% Property investment 

 
1 - Entity is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus Bankstown Holding Trust. 
2 - Entity is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus Diversified Unit Trust. 
3 - Entity is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus Logan Holding Trust. 
4 - Entity is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus MacGregor Holding Trust. 
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

a) Subsidiaries (continued) 

Name of entity 
AHL ownership  

interest 
Principal activities 

Parent entity 
2021 

% 
2020 

% 
 

Aventus Holdings Limited    
    
Subsidiaries    
Aventus Property Group Pty Ltd -1 100% 100% Investment holding company 
Aventus Capital Limited -2 100% 100% Responsible entity for ARPF 

Aventus Custodian Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Kotara South Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Cranbourne Thompsons Road Pty 
Ltd -3 

100% 100% Trustee company 

Aventus Cranbourne Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Epping Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Peninsula Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Caringbah Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Jindalee Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Mild End Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Mild End Stage 3 Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Midland Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Belrose Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Tuggerah Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Diversified Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Properties Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus Landowner Pty Ltd -3 100% 100% Trustee company 

Aventus Funds Management Pty Ltd -2 100% 100% Funds management 
Aventus Property Management Pty Ltd -2 100% 100% Property management 
Aventus Services Pty Ltd -2 100% 100% Administration 
Aventus Investment Management Holdings Pty 
Ltd -1 

100% 100% Investment holding company 

Aventus Investment Management Pty Ltd -4 100% 100% Trustee company 
Aventus National Operations Pty Ltd-2 100% N/A Administration 

 
1 – Company is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus Holdings Limited. 
2 – Company is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus Property Group Pty Ltd. 
3 – Company is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus Capital Limited. 
4 – Company is a 100% owned subsidiary of Aventus Investment Management Holdings Pty Ltd. 
 
 
b) Responsible entity 

The responsible entity of ARPF is Aventus Capital Limited (ACL).   
 
ACL is not entitled to a fee for services provided in its capacity as responsible entity. 
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

c) Key management personnel 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$’000 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$’000 

AHL Group 
2021 

$ 

AHL Group 
2020 

$ 
     
Short term employee benefits 2,384 1,481 2,383,691 1,481,142 
Security based payments expense 410 441 409,656 441,065 
Post-employment benefits 68 74 68,319 73,613 
     
Total 2,862 1,996 2,861,666 1,995,820 

 
Detailed remuneration disclosures for key management personnel are outlined in the remuneration 
report. 
 
 
d) Transactions with other related parties 

The following transactions occurred with related parties during the financial year: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$’000 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$’000 

AHL 
Group 

2021 
$ 

AHL 
Group 

2020 
$ 

     
Transactions with:     
APS 1     
Establishment fee revenue - 638 - 637,500 
Management fee revenue 332 205 331,560 204,652 
Property management and leasing fee revenue 352 142 351,871 142,150 
     
Other related parties     
Property management and leasing fee revenue 997 849 997,276 849,302 
Rental revenue 106 106 106,162 105,951 
Consulting fees 75 - 75,000 - 
     
ARPF     
Management fee revenue N/A N/A 715,336 936,268 
Property management, leasing and 
development fee revenue 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
16,369,441 

 
15,289,009 

Other revenue N/A N/A - 149,499 
Finance costs N/A N/A (2,641,726) (3,426,375) 

 
 
Transactions with related parties are in accordance with relevant management or other agreements. 
 
On 25 March 2021 Aventus Funds Management Pty Ltd (AFMPL) and ARPF amended their 
Management Services Agreement.  Aventus Property Management Pty Ltd (APMPL) and ARPF also 
amended their Property and Development Management Agreement.  Changes to management fees 
are summarised below:  
 

• Investment management fees and performance fees will no longer be charged to ARPF; 
• Leasing fees will no longer be charged to ARPF but will be replaced by a 1% increase in 

asset management and property management fees; and  
• Development fees will no longer be charged to ARPF however actual costs directly 

associated with managing developments for ARPF will be recovered.  
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

e) Outstanding balances with related parties 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$’000 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$’000 

AHL 
Group 

June 2021 
$ 

AHL 
Group 

June 2020 
$ 

Receivables due from:     
APS 1 50 42 49,679 41,628 
Other related parties 94 57 93,770 56,918 
ARPF N/A N/A 894,570 1,675,456 
     
Payables to:     
ARPF N/A N/A 1,376,066 1,958,143 
     
Borrowings     
ARPF N/A N/A 84,940,615 84,940,615 

 
Related party receivables are unsecured and are usually collected within 30 days of recognition.  
There is no allowance account for impaired receivables in relation to any outstanding balances, and 
no expense has been recognised in respect of impaired receivables due from related parties. 
 
f) Key related party contracts 

Kotara Home call option and pre-emptive deed 

The Aventus Group’s Kotara Home (South) property (“Kotara South”) is adjacent to another property 
(“Kotara North”) which is owned by an entity associated with Brett Blundy.  The respective owners 
have entered into the Kotara Call Option and Pre-emptive Deed under which: 
 

• The owner of Kotara South grants to the owner of Kotara North a call option to acquire 
Kotara South (“Call Option”); and 
 

• The owner of Kotara North and the owner of Kotara South have each granted the other 
reciprocal pre-emptive rights in the event that either of them wishes to sell their respective 
Kotara properties (“Pre-emptive Right”). 

 
Further information relating to the Call Option and the Pre-emptive Right is outlined below. 

Call option 

Whereas a result of a vote of the unitholders in ARPF, there is a change of the responsible entity of 
ARPF to an entity who is not a member of the APG Group (“Call Option Event”) the following process 
will apply: 
 

• The owner of Kotara North may require a valuation to be conducted on Kotara South, with 
two independent valuers to be appointed – one by the owner of Kotara North Owner and one 
by the new responsible entity; 

• the purchase price for Kotara South will be the average of the two valuations; and 
• upon receipt of those valuations, the owner of Kotara North may exercise the call option and 

purchase Kotara South for the relevant purchase price so determined. 

Pre-emptive right 

Under the pre-emptive right, where an owner wishes to deal with their Kotara property, it must give 
notice to the other owner of the proposed sale terms which will constitute an offer to the relevant 
recipient to acquire the selling owner’s Kotara property.  The owner will have 40 days to accept those 
sale terms.  If the offer is not accepted, then the owner selling its Kotara asset may sell to another 
third party within six months on terms and at a price that are no more favourable to the proposed 
purchaser than the terms offered under the pre-emptive right.    
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

e) Outstanding balances with related parties 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$’000 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$’000 

AHL 
Group 

June 2021 
$ 

AHL 
Group 

June 2020 
$ 

Receivables due from:     
APS 1 50 42 49,679 41,628 
Other related parties 94 57 93,770 56,918 
ARPF N/A N/A 894,570 1,675,456 
     
Payables to:     
ARPF N/A N/A 1,376,066 1,958,143 
     
Borrowings     
ARPF N/A N/A 84,940,615 84,940,615 

 
Related party receivables are unsecured and are usually collected within 30 days of recognition.  
There is no allowance account for impaired receivables in relation to any outstanding balances, and 
no expense has been recognised in respect of impaired receivables due from related parties. 
 
f) Key related party contracts 

Kotara Home call option and pre-emptive deed 

The Aventus Group’s Kotara Home (South) property (“Kotara South”) is adjacent to another property 
(“Kotara North”) which is owned by an entity associated with Brett Blundy.  The respective owners 
have entered into the Kotara Call Option and Pre-emptive Deed under which: 
 

• The owner of Kotara South grants to the owner of Kotara North a call option to acquire 
Kotara South (“Call Option”); and 
 

• The owner of Kotara North and the owner of Kotara South have each granted the other 
reciprocal pre-emptive rights in the event that either of them wishes to sell their respective 
Kotara properties (“Pre-emptive Right”). 

 
Further information relating to the Call Option and the Pre-emptive Right is outlined below. 

Call option 

Whereas a result of a vote of the unitholders in ARPF, there is a change of the responsible entity of 
ARPF to an entity who is not a member of the APG Group (“Call Option Event”) the following process 
will apply: 
 

• The owner of Kotara North may require a valuation to be conducted on Kotara South, with 
two independent valuers to be appointed – one by the owner of Kotara North Owner and one 
by the new responsible entity; 

• the purchase price for Kotara South will be the average of the two valuations; and 
• upon receipt of those valuations, the owner of Kotara North may exercise the call option and 

purchase Kotara South for the relevant purchase price so determined. 

Pre-emptive right 

Under the pre-emptive right, where an owner wishes to deal with their Kotara property, it must give 
notice to the other owner of the proposed sale terms which will constitute an offer to the relevant 
recipient to acquire the selling owner’s Kotara property.  The owner will have 40 days to accept those 
sale terms.  If the offer is not accepted, then the owner selling its Kotara asset may sell to another 
third party within six months on terms and at a price that are no more favourable to the proposed 
purchaser than the terms offered under the pre-emptive right.    
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36. Fair value measurement 

Aventus Group 

This note provides information about how the Aventus Group determines fair value of assets and 
liabilities. 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

Investment properties and derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis. 
 
To provide an indication about the reliability of inputs used in determining fair value, assets and 
liabilities are classified into three levels prescribed under accounting standards.  An explanation of 
each level is outlined below: 
 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 
 
The following table summarises assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value on a 
recurring basis: 
 

  Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 
Note June 2021 

$m 
June 2020 

$m 
June 2021 

$m 
June 2020 

$m 
June 2021 

$m 
June 2020 

$m 
        
Non-financial 
assets 

       

Investment 
properties 

 
18 

 
 

 
- 

 
2,267.8 

 
1,930.3 

 
2,267.8 

 
1,930.3 

        
Financial 
liabilities 

       

Derivative 
financial 
instruments 

 
 

23 

 
 

8.3 

 
 

16.8 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

8.3 

 
 

16.8 
 
There were no transfers between levels of fair value measurement during the financial year.  
 
No financial assets or liabilities were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as at 30 June 
2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 fair values 

The only level 2 assets or liabilities measured at fair value are interest rate swaps.  The fair value of 
interest rate swaps is estimated using the discounted cash flow technique.  Future cash flows are 
estimated based on forward interest rates (from observable yield curves at the end of the reporting 
period) and contract forward rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various 
counterparties.   
 

Critical estimates and judgement 

The fair value of derivative assets and liabilities are based on assumptions of future events and 
involves significant estimates.  The fair value of the derivatives at the reporting date may differ if there 
is volatility in market rates.    
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36. Fair value measurement (continued) 

Valuation techniques used to derive level 3 fair values 

The only level 3 assets or liabilities measured at fair value are investment properties.  Independent 
valuations are obtained for investment properties at least every two years.  At the end of each 
reporting period, the directors update their assessment of the fair value of each property, taking into 
account the most recent independent valuations.  The directors determine a property’s value within a 
range of reasonable fair value estimates. 
 
The fair value of investment properties is determined using recognised valuation techniques including 
the capitalisation of net income method and discounted cash flow method.  Key inputs used in 
determining property values as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 are outlined below.  Terminal 
yields and discount rates relate solely to independent valuations at balance date. 
 

 

 
 

Range 
30 June 2021 

 
Weighted 
average 

30 June 2021 

 
 

Range 
30 June 2020 

 
Weighted 
average 

30 June 2020 
     
Net passing rent ($ per square metre) $146 to $427 $297 $153 to $396 $283 
Net market rent ($ per square metre) $157 to $427 $296 $155 to $398 $287 
Adopted capitalisation rate (%) 5.75% to 6.75% 6.01% 5.75% to 7.50% 6.73% 
Adopted terminal yield (%) 6.00% to 7.00% 6.15% 6.00% to 7.25% 6.53% 
Adopted discount rate (%) 6.75% to 7.75% 7.00% 6.75% to 8.00% 7.25% 

 
In determining the valuation of all investment properties measured at recurring fair value, 
consideration has been given to the highest and best use of those properties. 
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36. Fair value measurement (continued) 

Sensitivity analysis 

Valuation input Relationship of valuation input to fair value 
Net passing rent The higher net passing rent, the higher the fair value. 
Net market rent The higher net market rent, the higher the fair value. 
Adopted capitalisation rate The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value. 
Adopted terminal yield The higher the termination yield, the lower the fair value. 
Adopted discount rate The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value. 

 
The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact a 0.25% and 0.50% increase in the weighted average 
capitalisation rate of the portfolio would have on the fair value of the portfolio.  The analysis assesses 
the movement in capitalisation rates in isolation and assumes all other inputs are held constant. 
 

 
Capitalisation 

rate 
+0.25% 

Capitalisation 
rate 

+0.50% 
   
30 June 2021   
Decrease in fair value ($m) (90.6) (174.3) 
Decrease in fair value (%) (4.0%) (7.7%) 
30 June 2020   
Decrease in fair value ($m) (69.2) (133.7) 
Decrease in fair value (%) (3.6%) (6.9%) 

 

AHL Group 

The AHL Group does not have any assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value.   
 
Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
The Aventus Group and AHL Group have a number of financial assets and liabilities which are not 
measured at fair value.  The fair values of these assets and liabilities are not materially different to 
their carrying amounts disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet.   
 

37. Capital management 

The Aventus Group and AHL Group have a capital management framework which is approved and 
monitored by the board of directors.  The framework aims to safeguard the Aventus Group’s and AHL 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so it can continue to provide returns for securityholders 
and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
 
The Aventus Group’s and AHL Group’s capital structure consists of cash, borrowings and equity.  In 
determining the optimal capital structure, the directors take into account a number of factors including 
the capital needs of its business, the relative cost of debt versus equity, the execution and market risk 
of raising equity or debt, the financial risks of debt including increased volatility of earnings due to 
exposure to interest rate movements, the liquidity risk of maturing debt facilities and the market in 
general. 
 
The capital mix maybe adjusted by issuing new stapled securities, adjusting the amount of 
distributions and dividends paid to securityholders, increase borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt.  
 
The Aventus Group’s capital position is monitored via its gearing ratio.  Gearing at 30 June 2021 was 
30.3% (30 June 2020: 36.0%).  The Aventus Group’s strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio of 
between 30% and 40%. 
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38. Financial risk management 

Aventus Group 

The Aventus Group’s activities expose it to financial risks including interest rate risk, liquidity risk and 
credit risk. 

a) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates.  The main interest rate risk arises from borrowings with variable 
interest rates.  The Aventus Group manages interest rate risk by using floating to fixed interest rate 
swaps which have the effect of converting a portion of borrowings from variable to fixed interest rates.  
The policy for maintaining minimum levels of borrowings at fixed rates using interest rate swaps 
varies depending upon the maturity profile of the debt.   
 
Exposure to interest rate risk from borrowings is summarised in the table below: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

   
Floating rate borrowings   
Syndicated bank debt facility - 318.4 
Syndicated loan note facility 160.0 160.0 
Bilateral bank debt facilities 534.9 260.0 
   
Derivative financial instruments   
Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount) (360.0) (460.0) 
   
Net interest rate exposure 334.9 278.4 

 
Further details of borrowings and interest rate swaps held at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 are 
disclosed in notes 27 and 23 respectively. 
 

Interest rate risk sensitivity 

The impact of a 0.5% increase/decrease in market interest rates at balance date would result in a 
$1.7 million (2020: $1.4 million) decrease/increase in profit or loss and equity per annum.   

b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Aventus Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due.  Management manages liquidity by ensuring there is sufficient cash and/or committed 
undrawn borrowings available.  Management prepares and monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity 
reserves, comprising cash and undrawn borrowing facilities, on the basis of expected future cash 
flows.  Financing arrangements, debt maturity profiles and access to undrawn borrowing facilities at 
30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 are disclosed in note 27. 
 

Maturities of financial liabilities 

The tables below analyse financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their 
contractual maturities for:  

a) all non-derivative financial liabilities, and 
b) derivative financial instruments for which the contractual maturities are essential for an 

understanding of the timing of the cash flows.  
 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  For interest rate 
swaps the cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the 
reporting period.    
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38. Financial risk management (continued) 

Aventus Group (continued) 

b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

30 June 2021 

Contractual 
maturities of 
financial 
liabilities 

Less than 
6 months 

$m 

6-12 
months 

$m 

1 to 3 
years 

$m 
3-5 years 

$m 

Greater 
than 5 
years 

$m 

Total 
contracted 
cash flows 

$m 

Carrying 
amount of 

liabilities 
$m 

Non-
derivative 

       

Payables 25.3 - - - - 25.3 25.3 
Distributions 
payable 

 
24.9 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
24.9 

 
24.9 

Lease 
liabilities 

 
0.6 

 
0.6 

 
0.8 

 
0.2 

 
- 

 
2.2 

 
2.0 

Borrowings 5.2 5.2 20.8 659.8 47.8 738.8 691.8 
        
Total 56.0 5.8 21.6 660.0 47.8 791.2 744.0 
        
Derivative        
Interest rate 
swaps 

 
3.3 

 
2.5 

 
2.7 

 
- 

 
- 

 
8.5 

 
8.3 

 

30 June 2020 

Contractual 
maturities of 
financial 
liabilities 

Less than 
6 months 

$m 

6-12 
months 

$m 

1 to 3 
years 

$m 
3-5 years 

$m 

Greater 
than 5 
years 

$m 

Total 
contracted 
cash flows 

$m 

Carrying 
amount of 

liabilities 
$m 

Non-
derivative 

       

Payables 23.1 - - - - 23.1 23.1 
Distributions 
payable 

 
13.1 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
13.1 

 
13.1 

Lease 
liabilities 

 
0.6 

 
0.6 

 
1.7 

 
0.4 

 
- 

 
3.3 

 
3.0 

Borrowings 5.8 5.7 220.2 544.1 - 775.8 735.0 
        
Total 42.6 6.3 221.9 544.5 - 815.3 774.2 
        
Derivative        
Interest rate 
swaps 

 
4.6 

 
4.2 

 
7.3 

 
0.4 

 
- 

 
16.5 

 
16.8 
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38. Financial risk management (continued) 

Aventus Group (continued) 

c) Credit risk 

Risk management and security 

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument will default on their 
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Aventus Group.  The Aventus Group’s credit 
risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and receivables.  The carrying amount of these financial 
assets disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet represents the maximum credit exposure at 30 
June 2021 and 30 June 2020. 
 
To manage credit risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents, deposits are held with financial 
institutions with AA- Standards and Poor’s credit ratings.  To manage credit risk in relation to 
receivables, tenants are billed monthly in advance.  For some tenants collateral may also be obtained 
in the form of security deposits, bank guarantees or rental guarantees.  Management also monitors 
tenancy exposure across its portfolio on a monthly basis. 
 

Trade receivables and loss allowance 

Trade receivables are comprised mainly of rental payments due from tenants.  The Aventus Group 
applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.  Expected loss rates are based on historical 
payment profiles adjusted for current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the ability 
of debtors to settle the receivables.   
 
A reconciliation of the movement in the loss allowance during the financial year is as follows: 
 

 2021 
$m 

2020 
$m 

   
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 6.7 0.6 
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 1.3 6.3 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (6.4) (0.2) 
   
Balance at the end of the financial year 1.6 6.7 

 

Impaired receivables 

Impaired receivables are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.  Indicators 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst other: 
 

• agreed abatement terms with debtors; 
• significant financial difficulties of the debtor; 
• failure to comply with repayment plans; 
• probability the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and  
• default or failure to make contractual payments for a period of 120 days past due.  

 
Impairment losses on rental receivables are presented as property expenses in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.  Subsequent recovery of amounts previously written-off are 
credited against the same line item.    
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38. Financial risk management (continued) 

AHL Group 

The AHL Group’s activities expose it to financial risks including interest rate risk, liquidity risk and 
credit risk. 

a) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates.  The main interest rate risk arises from borrowings from ARPF 
which are disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.  
 

Interest rate risk sensitivity 

The impact of a 0.5% increase/decrease in market interest rates at balance date would result in a 
$425,000 (2020: $425,000) decrease/increase in profit or loss and equity per annum. 
 

b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the AHL Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due.  Management manages liquidity by ensuring there is sufficient cash and/or committed undrawn 
borrowings available.   
 
Management prepares and monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity reserves, comprising cash and 
undrawn borrowing facilities, on the basis of expected future cash flows. 
 
Financing arrangements, debt maturity profiles and access to undrawn borrowing facilities at 30 June 
2021 and 30 June 2020 are disclosed in note 27. 
 

Maturities of financial liabilities 

The tables below analyse financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their 
contractual maturities for all financial liabilities.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.   

30 June 2021 

Contractual 
maturities of 
financial 
liabilities 

Less than 
6 months 

$’000 

6-12 
months 

$’000 

1 to 3 
years 
$’000 

3-5 years 
$’000 

Greater 
than 5 
years 
$’000 

Total 
contracted 
cash flows 

$’000 

Carrying 
amount of 

liabilities 
$’000 

        
Payables 5,658 - - - - 5,658 5,658 
Lease liabilities 482 495 330 - - 1,307 1,188 
Borrowings 1,321 1,300 5,250 5,243 90,636 103,750 84,941 
        
Total 7,461 1,795 5,580 5,243 90,636 110,715 91,787 

 

30 June 2020 

Contractual 
maturities of 
financial 
liabilities 

Less than 
6 months 

$’000 

6-12 
months 

$’000 

1 to 3 
years 
$’000 

3-5 years 
$’000 

Greater 
than 5 
years 
$’000 

Total 
contracted 
cash flows 

$’000 

Carrying 
amount of 

liabilities 
$’000 

        
Payables 3,249 - - - - 3,249 3,249 
Lease liabilities 464 476 1,307 - - 2,247 2,042 
Borrowings 1,448 1,424 5,744 5,752 94,053 108,421 84,941 
        
Total 5,161 1,900 7,051 5,752 94,053 113,917 90,232 
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38. Financial risk management (continued) 

AHL Group (continued) 

c) Credit risk 

Risk management and security 

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument will default on their 
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the AHL Group.   
 
The AHL Group’s credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and receivables.  The carrying 
amount of these financial assets disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet represents the 
maximum credit exposure at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020. 
 
To manage credit risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents, deposits are held with financial 
institutions with AA- Standards and Poor’s credit ratings. 
 
In relation to receivables, the AHL Group has a significant concentration of receivables due from the 
ARPF.  Management has no concerns regarding the recoverability of these receivables taking into 
account the underlying financial position of ARPF and past payment history. 
 

Impaired receivables 

There were no impaired receivables at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 
Impaired receivables are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.  Indicators 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include: 
 

• significant financial difficulties of the debtor; 
• probability the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and  
• default or delinquency in payments (more than 120 days overdue).  

 
Impairment losses on receivables are presented as net impairment losses in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.  Subsequent recovery of amounts previously written-off are 
credited against the same line item. 
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39. Commitments 

Capital commitments 

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not recognised as liabilities is as 
follows: 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Property development 2.9 8.0 - - 
Acquisition of development land - 13.0 - - 
     
 2.9 21.0 - - 

 

Acquisition of development land 

On 17 June 2020 the Aventus Group exchanged contracts to acquire development land adjoining 
Epping Hub.  The land is zoned for mixed use, retail, residential, office, medical and large format 
retail.   
 
Total outstanding commitments under the contract at 30 June 2020, including GST, stamp duty and 
settlement adjustments, amounted to $13.0 million.  The acquisition was settled on 20 July 2020.   

 
 

40. Contingencies 

 

 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2021 
$m 

Aventus 
Group 

June 2020 
$m 

AHL Group 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL Group 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Bank guarantees 4.1 4.1 - - 

 

Bank guarantees 

ARPF has a $5.0 million bank guarantee facility which expires in July 2023.  At 30 June 2021 and 
2020 $4.1m of bank guarantees had been issued including a: 

• $1.1 million guarantee relating to the redevelopment of investment properties. 
• $2.5 million guarantee provided to ACL in relation to its Australian Financial Services Licence.  

The guarantee has been eliminated on consolidation of the Aventus Group and represents a 
contingent asset of ACL. 

• $0.5 million relating to the lease of office premises. 
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41. Remuneration of auditors 

The auditor of the Aventus Group is Ernst & Young.  The following fees were paid or payable to Ernst 
& Young for services provided during the financial year. 
 

 

Aventus 
Group 

2021 
$’000 

Aventus 
Group 

2020 
$’000 

AHL 
Group 

2021 
$ 

AHL 
Group 

2020 
$ 

     
Fees for auditing the statutory financial 
report 

    

Audit and review of financial reports of the 
group and controlled entities 

 
298 

 
298 

 
41,000 

 
41,000 

     
Fees for assurance services required by 
legislation to be provided by the auditor 

    

Australian Financial Services Licence audit 5 5 6,000 6,000 
     
Fees for other assurance services     
Compliance plan audit 20 20 - - 
Other assurance services 72 92 - - 
     
Total fees to Ernst & Young 395 415 47,000 47,000 

 

42. Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 

At 30 June 2021 and 2020 there were no financial assets and liabilities that were offset in the Aventus 
Group or AHL Group consolidated balance sheets.   

ISDA Master Agreements 

Agreements with derivative counterparties are based on an ISDA Master Agreement.  Under the 
terms of these arrangements, only where certain credit events occur (such as default), the net 
position payable/ receivable to a single counterparty in the same currency will be taken as owing and 
all the relevant arrangements terminated.  As the Aventus Group does not presently have a legally 
enforceable right of set-off, these amounts have not been offset in the balance sheet. 
 

43. Events occurring after the reporting period 

Disposal of MacGregor Home 

On 16 August 2021 the Aventus Group settled the sale of its MacGregor Home property.  Refer to 
note 18 for further information. 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

Despite the Aventus Group performing strongly during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 
uncertainty exists subsequent to balance date due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.  Directors 
and management are monitoring key developments including government restrictions and relief 
packages and will continue to mitigate the impacts of the pandemic on the business and our people 
where possible.  At the date of the financial report the future impact of the pandemic on the Aventus 
Group is unknown.  In the event the impacts of the pandemic are more severe or prolonged than 
anticipated this may have an adverse impact on the financial position and performance of the Aventus 
Group and AHL Group in future financial periods. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial 
year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Aventus Group or 
AHL Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Aventus Group or AHL Group 
in future financial years.    
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note 18 for further information. 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

Despite the Aventus Group performing strongly during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 
uncertainty exists subsequent to balance date due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.  Directors 
and management are monitoring key developments including government restrictions and relief 
packages and will continue to mitigate the impacts of the pandemic on the business and our people 
where possible.  At the date of the financial report the future impact of the pandemic on the Aventus 
Group is unknown.  In the event the impacts of the pandemic are more severe or prolonged than 
anticipated this may have an adverse impact on the financial position and performance of the Aventus 
Group and AHL Group in future financial periods. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial 
year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Aventus Group or 
AHL Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Aventus Group or AHL Group 
in future financial years.    

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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44. Parent entity information 

a) Summary financial information 

The individual financial statements for ARPF and AHL show the following aggregate amounts:  
 

 
ARPF 
2021 

$m 

ARPF 
2020 

$m 

AHL 
2021 

$’000 

AHL 
2020 

$’000 
     
Statement of comprehensive income     
Profit/(loss) for the year 76.9 32.4 (1,849) (2,398) 
     
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 76.9 32.4 (1,849) (2,398)  

 

 
ARPF 

June 2021 
$m 

ARPF 
June 2020 

$m 

AHL 
June 2021 

$’000 

AHL 
June 2020 

$’000 
     
Balance sheet     
Current assets 2.4 36.7 4,742 1,131 
Non-current assets 1,631.7 1,605.9 148,078 148,181 
     
Total assets 1,634.1 1,642.6 152,820 149,312 
     
Current liabilities (32.3) (22.2) (2,024) (641) 
Non-current liabilities (699.1) (750.0) (95,169) (92,558) 
     
Total liabilities (731.4) (772.2) (97,193) (93,199) 
     
Net assets 902.7 870.4 55,627 56,113 
     
Contributed equity 1,183.5 1,154.0 62,693 61,283 
Reserves (0.1) 0.9 (4) 42 
Accumulated losses (280.7) (284.5) (7,062) (5,212) 
     
Total equity 902.7 870.4 55,627 56,113 

 
b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity 

With the exception of guarantees provided in relation to the Aventus Group’s debt facilities ARPF and 
AHL had not provided any guarantees as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 
c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 
With the exception of items disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements ARPF and AHL did not 
have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 
d) Contractual commitments 

ARPF and AHL did not have any contractual commitments as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020. 
 
e) Determining the parent entity financial information 
The financial information for ARPF and AHL have been prepared on the same basis as the 
consolidated financial statements with the exception of the following: 
 
> Investments in subsidiaries and associates are recorded at cost.  Distributions or dividends 

received from subsidiaries and associates are recognised in profit or loss when its right to receive 
the distribution or dividend is established.   
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

95  

In the directors’ opinion:

a) the financial statements and notes of the Aventus Group and AHL Group are in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

i. complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements, and

ii. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Aventus Group and 
AHL Group as at 30 June 2021 and of their performance for the financial year ended on
that date, and

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that ARPF and AHL will be able to pay their debts as 
and when they become due and payable.

The financial statements of the Aventus Group and AHL Group also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(b) to the financial statements.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors of ACL and AHL made 
pursuant to s295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Darren Holland Bruce Carter
Executive Director Chair

Sydney Sydney
18 August 2021 18 August 2021

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

 
Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Stapled Security Holders of Aventus 
Group 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Aventus Group (the Group) which comprises of Aventus Retail 
Property Fund (the Fund) and its subsidiaries, and Aventus Holdings Limited (AHL or the Company) and 
its subsidiaries, and which comprises: 

• the Group consolidated and Company consolidated statements of financial position as at 30 June 
2021;  

• the Group consolidated and Company consolidated statements of comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended; 

• notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies; and  

• the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021 
and of their financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter 
is provided in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial report. 
 
Investment Property Portfolio – Determination of fair value 

 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

The Group’s total assets include investment 
properties either held directly or through 
an interest in an Associate. These assets 
are carried at fair value, which is assessed 
by the directors with reference to external 
independent property valuations and are 
based on market conditions existing at the 
reporting date.  The carrying value of 
investment properties at 30 June 2021 
amounted to $2,225.6 million and 
represents 91% of total assets. 

As disclosed in Note 3 and 18, the valuation 
of investment properties is inherently 
subjective. A small difference in any one of 
the key market input assumptions, when 
aggregated across all the properties, could 
result in a significant change to the 
valuation of investment properties.  

 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

• We discussed the following matters with 
management: 

• movements in the Group’s investment 
property portfolio; 

• Changes in the condition of each 
property, including an understanding 
of key developments and changes to 
development activities; 

• controls in place relevant to the 
valuation process; and 

• the impact that COVID-19 has had, 
and may continue to have, on the 
Group’s investment property portfolio 
including performance, rent 
abatements offered to tenants and 
tenant occupancy. 

• We assessed the effectiveness of relevant 
controls over the leasing process and 
associated tenancy reports which are used as 
source data in the property valuations by 
testing the relevant controls.  

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
Investment Property Portfolio – Determination of fair value (continued) 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Two approaches are generally used: the 
Income Capitalisation approach and the 
Discounted Cash Flow approach to arrive 
at a range of valuation outcomes, from 
which the valuers derive their best 
estimate of the value at a point in time. 

We have considered this a key audit 
matter due to the number of judgments 
required in determining fair value.  

 

• On a sample basis, we performed the following 
procedures for selected properties: 

• Evaluated the key assumptions and agreed 
passing rental income to tenancy schedules. 
These assumptions and inputs included market 
and contractual rent, occupancy rates including 
forecast occupancy levels, forecast rent, lease 
terms, re-leasing costs, operating expenditure 
and future capital expenditure. 

• Tested the mathematical accuracy of valuations. 

• We involved our real estate valuation specialists to 
assist with: 

• the review and assessment of the property 
valuations for a sample of properties based on 
size, geographical location and other property 
valuation specific risk factors,  

• considering the impact of the continuing COVID-
19 pandemic on the valuation methodology and 
assumptions adopted, 

• the assessment of capitalisation rates adopted 
across the portfolio.  

• Where relevant we compared the valuation against 
comparable transactions utilised in the valuation 
process. 

• We evaluated the suitability of the valuation 
methodology used across the portfolio. We considered 
the reports of independent valuers and held discussions 
with them, where appropriate, to gain an understanding 
of the assumptions and estimates used and the valuation 
methodology applied.  

• Assessed the qualifications, competence and objectivity 
of the valuers. 

• We have considered whether there have been any 
indicators of material changes in property valuations 
from 30 June 2021 up to the date of our opinion or any 
matters emerging since 30 June 2021 which provide 
evidence of a material change in valuation at that date. 
We involved our real estate valuation specialists in 
making that assessment. 

• We have considered whether the financial report 
disclosures are appropriate. 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
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Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible assets 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

At 30 June 2021 the Group’s and the 
Company’s consolidated statements of 
financial position includes goodwill and other 
intangible assets amounting to $144.2 million 
and $186.0 million respectively.   
 
The directors have assessed goodwill and other  
intangible assets for impairment at 30 June 
2021. As disclosed within Notes 3 and 19 of 
the financial report, the assessment of the 
impairment of the Group’s goodwill and other 
intangible assets incorporated significant 
judgments and estimates, specifically 
concerning factors such as forecast cashflows, 
discounts rates and terminal growth rates.  
 
These estimates and assumptions incorporate 
future performance, market and economic 
conditions. Minor changes in certain 
assumptions can lead to significant changes in 
the recoverable amount of these assets.   
 
Accordingly, we considered this to be a key 
audit matter due to the judgements required in 
the impairment testing of goodwill. 
 
 
 
 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
• Considered the appropriateness and 

application of valuation methodologies applied; 
• Assessed the cash flow forecasts, assumptions 

and estimates used by the Group, by 
considering the reliability of the Group’s 
historical cash flow forecasts, our knowledge 
of the business and corroborating data with 
external information and other internal data 
sources where possible; 

• Involved our valuation specialists to assess 
whether the methodology applied was in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and to evaluate the key assumptions 
applied in the impairment models. These 
included the discount rates, growth rates, 
terminal value assumptions and considering 
the impact of the continuing COVID-19 
pandemic on the valuation methodology and 
assumptions adopted;  

• Tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
impairment testing models including the 
consistency of relevant data with latest 
approved forecasts;  

• Performed sensitivity analysis on key 
assumptions including discount rates, terminal 
growth rates and EBIT forecasts;  

• Considered the relationship between the 
market capitalisation of the business and the 
net assets of the Group; and 

• Assessed the adequacy of the disclosure in the 
financial report. 

 
 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
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Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s 2021 Annual Report other than the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon. We obtained the Directors’ Report that is to be included in the Annual Report, prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the 
date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report and 
our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s and Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or 
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 



Annual Report 2021

139 PO
RT

FO
LI

O
 

M
ET

RI
C

S
PR

O
PE

RT
Y 

 
C

O
M

PE
N

D
IU

M
SE

C
U

RI
TY

H
O

LD
ER

 
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
IN

D
EP

EN
D

EN
T 

 
A

U
D

IT
O

R’
S 

RE
PO

RT
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

A
U

D
IT

O
R’

S 
 

IN
D

EP
EN

D
EN

C
E 

 
D

EC
LA

RA
TI

O
N

D
IR

EC
TO

R’
S 

 
RE

PO
RT

C
O

RP
O

RA
TE

  
G

O
V

ER
N

A
N

C
E 

 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T

BO
A

RD
 O

F 
 

D
IR

EC
TO

RS

FR
O

M
 T

H
E 

 
C

H
A

IR
M

A
N

 A
N

D
 

C
EO

A
BO

U
T 

 
TH

E 
G

RO
U

P

 
 

 

 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s or the Group’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s or Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company or 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
 
 
 
 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Report on the Audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 12 to 32 of the directors' report for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Aventus Group for the year ended 30 June 2021, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
St Elmo Wilken 
Partner 
Sydney 
18 August 2021  
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The security holder Information 
set out below was applicable as 
at 27 August 2021.

Security holder Information

Range Securities % No. of holders %

 
100,001 and Over

 
500,882,066

 
87.80

 
149

 
2.00

10,001 to 100,000 49,142,579 8.61 2,074 27.84

5,001 to 10,000 13,004,604 2.28 1,685 22.61

1,001 to 5,000 6,907,542 1.21 2,250 30.20

1 to 1,000 555,605 0.10 1,293 17.35

Total 570,492,396 100.00 7,451 100.00

Unmarketable Parcels 0 0.00 0 0.00

Holding distribution - 27 Aug 2021

Details of Restricted 
Stapled Securities 
The following restricted 
stapled securities were issued 
to Darren Holland following 
approval under ASX Listing 
Rule 10.14:

1. Issue of 72,088 stapled 
securities were approved and 
issued in FY19; and

2. Issue of 207,430 stapled 
securities approved and 
issued in FY20.

Distribution of equity 
securities
An analysis of the number  
of security holders by size of 
holding are set out below:
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Equity security holders
The names of the 20 largest security holders as at 27 August 2021  
are listed below:

Rank Name 30 Sep 2020 %IC

1 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 85,319,613 15.29

2 BBFIT INVESTMENTS PTE LIMITED 81,661,175 14.64

3 BB RETAIL CAPITAL PTY LTD 75,942,198 13.61

4 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 55,354,937 9.92

5 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 40,756,551 7.30

6 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 35,189,685 6.31

7 RRI INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 22,901,245 4.10

8 JD MARNABECK PTY LTD 7,895,292 1.42

9 BNP PARIBAS NOMS(NZ) LTD 7,638,967 1.37

10 RAYRA PTY LIMITED 5,881,989 1.05

11 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 4,495,835 0.81

12
MRS ALISON BETTY HANSEN & MR MICHAEL 
KENNETH HANSEN 

3,608,771 0.65

13 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 3,526,797 0.63

14 THE TRUST COMPANY (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 3,463,750 0.62

15 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,312,708 0.59

16 COLOSKYE PTY LIMITED 2,651,216 0.48

17 WEC ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 2,287,929 0.41

18 ECAPITAL NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 2,015,178 0.36

19
MR JOHN CRAIG CHARLTON & MRS JANE AMANDA 
LEWIS 

1,993,514 0.36

20 CECILE BRUNNER PTY LTD 1,920,018 0.34

Total 447,817,368 80.26

Balance of register 110,143,072 19.74

Grand total 557,960,440 100.00
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Substantial holders
Substantial security holders in AVN are set out below:

Name Number held Date of Notice

Brett Blundy 129,047,049 5/7/21

The Vangaurd Group 34,080,884 20/12/2019

Ray Itaoui 31,071,484 29/9/2016
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Securitys subject to 
voluntary escrow
Nil.

Voting rights
Each security confers the right 
to vote at meetings of security 
holders, subject to any voting 
restrictions imposed on a 
security holder under the 
Corporations Act and the  
ASX Listing Rules.

On a poll, each security holder  
has one vote for each dollar 
value of securitys held.

ASX
The Aventus Group is listed 
on the Australian Securities 
Exchange (ASX:AVN).

Website
The Aventus website,  
www.aventusgroup.com.au 
provides information on  
each property in the AVN 
Portfolio, and an overview  
of AVN’s corporate governance 
structures. The site also 
provides security price 
information and access to 
reports, presentations and 
releases made to the ASX.

How do I become  
a security holder?
Investors will need to use  
the services of a stockbroker  
or an online broking facility  
to invest in AVN.

Security holder enquiries
Please contact the Registry if 
you have any questions  
about your securityholding or 
distributions.

Contact details are as follows:

C/- Link Market Services 
Limited 
Locked Bag A14 
Sydney South NSW 1235

Telephone: +61 1300 554 474

Facsimile: +61 2 9287 0303

ASX Code: AVN

Email: registrars@
linkmarketservices.com.au

Website: www.
linkmarketservices.com.au

How do I access my 
holding online
Visit  
www.linkmarketservices.com.au 
and click on “Investor Login”.

Select from one of the 
following access methods: 

•	 Login to view your portfolio

•	 Register to set up a free 
portfolio

•	 Login via a single holding

•	 Access a variety of holding 
information

•	 View all holdings under 
your portfolio

•	 View current and historical 
balances, transactions  
and payment information

•	 Update your details

•	 Update your address 
details, payment  
instructions and tax details

•	 Update your 
communication  
preferences and address

•	 Lodge your proxy vote  
for any current meetings



The Aventus  
Group  
 
 
Aventus Holdings Limited

Aventus Capital Limited 
(responsible entity for the Aventus Retail Property Fund)
AFSL No. 478061
Governor Macquarie Tower
Level 33, 1 Farrer Place

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Directors 
Bruce Carter
Darren Holland 
Kieran Pryke
Robyn Stubbs
Ray Itaoui

Auditors 
Ernst & Young
Level 34, 200 George Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Company  
secretaries 
Mary Weaver AGIA
Lawrence Wong

Custodian 
One Managed Investment 
Groups Limited Level 16,  
Governor Macquarie Tower
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Share registry 
Link Market Services Limited
Level 12, 680 George Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000
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Distribution reinvestment 
plan (DRP)
A DRP has been established.  
A copy of the Plan Rules can 
be obtained from the website.

Electronic payment  
of distributions
Security holders may nominate 
a bank, building society or credit 
union account for the payment 
of distributions by direct credit. 
Payments are electronically 
credited on the distribution 
date and confirmed by mailed 
payment advice.

Publications
The annual report is the main 
source of information for 
security holders. A half year 
presentation is available in 
February each year providing  
a review of the six months  
to December. AVN also sends 
releases to the ASX covering 
matters of relevance  
to security holders.

Annual tax statements
Accompanying the final 
distribution payment each  
year will be an annual tax 
statement which details tax 
advantaged components  
of the year’s distribution.

Distributions
Distributions are  
paid quarterly.

Complaints handling
Complaints made in  
regard to the Group  
should be directed to:

The Fund Manager, 
Governor Macquarie Tower 
Level 33, 1 Farrer Place 
SYDNEY NSW 2000

The procedure for 
lodgement of complaints 
and complaints handling 
is set out in the Dispute 
Resolution Policy. A copy 
can be found under the 
Corporate Governance 
section at  
www.aventusproperty.com.au

Should a complainant be 
dissatisfied with the decision 
made by the responsible 
entity in relation to a 
compliant, the complainant 
is entitled to take the matter 
up with the Australian 
Financial Complaints 
Authority (AFCA) an external 
and independent industry 
complaint handling scheme.

AFCA’s contact  
details are:
Consumers:   
1800 931 678 
info@afca.org.au

Members:       
1300 56 55 62 
membership@afca.org.au

Postal address:  
GPO Box 3, Melbourne  
VIC 3001

AFCA Website:  
www.afca.org.au
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Portfolio Metrics
Centres State Ownership 

Share
Valuation 
Type

Carrying 
Value

Capitalisation 
Rate Occupancy1 WALE 

(years)2
Number of 
Tenancies

GLA  
(‘000 sqm)

Site Area  
(‘000 sqm)

National 
Retailers Zoning Dev. Potential3

 
Bankstown

 
NSW

 
100%

 
Independent

 
78

 
6.00%

 
100%

 
3.9

 
23

 
18

 
40

 
93%

 
LFR

 
NO

Belrose NSW 100% Independent 202 5.75% 100% 3.0 46 37 44 89% LFR/Retail YES

Caringbah NSW 100% Independent 152 5.75% 100% 3.5 27 21 23 85% LFR YES

Castle Hill NSW 100% Independent 354 5.75% 100% 3.9 77 51 60 83% LFR/Retail YES

Highlands NSW 100% Independent 44 6.00% 100% 4.1 14 11 32 86% LFR/Retail YES

Kotara South NSW 100% Independent 137 6.00% 99% 4.1 25 29 53 98% LFR/Retail YES

Marsden Park NSW 100% Independent 108 5.75% 100% 4.5 31 20 40 95% LFR NO

McGraths Hill NSW 25% Independent 50 6.00% 100% 3.1 9 16 38 98% LFR NO

Tuggerah NSW 100% Independent 111 6.50% 98% 4.6 36 39 127 84% LFR/Outlet YES

Warners Bay NSW 100% Independent 55 6.00% 100% 4.6 12 12 35 93% LFR NO

TOTAL NSW   1,291 5.88% 100% 3.8 300 254 493 89%   

Ballarat VIC 100% Independent 47 6.50% 100% 2.4 15 20 52 93% LFR YES

Cranbourne VIC 100% Independent 175 6.00% 100% 4.7 38 57 194 93% LFR/Retail YES

Epping VIC 100% Independent 64 6.25% 94% 2.7 31 22 91 59% Mixed Use YES

Peninsula VIC 100% Independent 115 6.00% 100% 3.3 33 33 85 92% LFR/Retail YES

TOTAL VIC   401 6.10% 99% 3.7 117 132 422 87%   

Jindalee QLD 100% Independent 163 6.00% 100% 2.6 51 27 72 75% Mixed Use YES

Logan QLD 100% Independent 107 6.25% 100% 3.4 29 27 27 90% LFR YES

MacGregor5 QLD 100% External 42 6.00% 90% 6.2 8 12 29 76% LFR NO

Sunshine Coast QLD 100% Independent 121 6.00% 97% 3.3 34 27 69 88% LFR/Retail YES

TOTAL QLD   433 6.06% 98% 3.3 122 93 197 83%   

Mile End SA 100% Independent 128 6.50% 100% 3.5 34 34 71 91% LFR YES

TOTAL SA   128 6.50% 100% 3.5 34 34 71 91%   

Midland WA 100% Independent 67 6.75% 91% 3.4 18 23 43 87% LFR NO

TOTAL WA   67 6.75% 91% 3.4 18 23 43 87%   

TOTAL4 2,320 6.01% 98.8% 3.7 591 537 1,225 88%   

1.	 By GLA
2.	 By gross income
3.	 Further development of certain centres may be 

subject to contractual and regulatory approvals 

including planning approvals from relevant  
local government authorities

4.	 Includes McGraths Hill at 100%
5.	 Settled on 16 Aug 21
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Property Compendium

1.	 MacGregor QLD 42% Site Coverage  
(sold 16 August 2021)

2.	 Ballarat VIC 39% Site Coverage
3.	 Mornington VIC 39% Site Coverage 
4.	 Sunshine Coast QLD 39% Site Coverage
5.	 Cranbourne VIC 29% Site Coverage 
6.	 Jindalee QLD 37% Site Coverage
7.	 Mile End SA 48% Site Coverage
8.	 Epping VIC 24% Site Coverage 
9.	 Logan QLD 100% Site Coverage
10.	 Midland WA 55% Site Coverage

11.	 Bankstown NSW 44% Site Coverage
12.	 Castle Hill NSW 86% Site Coverage
13.	 Marsden Park NSW 50% Site Coverage
14.	 Belrose NSW 83% Site Coverage
15.	 Kotara NSW 54% Site Coverage
16.	 McGraths Hill NSW 44% Site Coverage
17.	 Caringbah NSW 91% Site Coverage 
18.	 Mittagong NSW 36% Site Coverage
19.	 Tuggerah NSW 30% Site Coverage 
20.	 Warners Bay NSW 35% Site Coverage

Bankstown NSW 44% Site Coverage Belrose NSW 83% Site Coverage Caringbah NSW 91% Site Coverage 

Warners Bay NSW 35% Site Coverage

Castle Hill NSW 86% Site Coverage Kotara NSW 54% Site Coverage Mittagong NSW 36% Site Coverage

Marsden Park NSW 50% Site Coverage McGraths Hill NSW 44% Site Coverage Tuggerah NSW 30% Site Coverage

Aventus
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LFR Super Centres in the portfolio
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